
City of Palm Coast Created on 4/26/23

City of Palm Coast
Agenda

PLANNING AND LAND 
DEVELOPMENT 

REGULATION BOARD

Chair Clinton Smith
Vice Chair Sandra Shank

Board Member James Albano
Board Member Charles Lemon

Board Member Hung Hilton
Board Member Suzanne Nicholson

Board Member David Ferguson
Alternate Board Member Sybil 

Dodson-Lucas
Alternate Board Member Larry 

Gross
School Board Rep William Whitson

City Hall
160 Lake Avenue

Palm Coast, FL 32164
www.palmcoastgov.com

Wednesday, February 21, 2024       5:30 PM CITY HALL - COMMUNITY WING

 Public Participation shall be in accordance with Section 286.0114 Florida Statutes.

 Public comment on issues on the agenda or public participation shall be limited to 3 minutes.

 Other matters of concern may be discussed as determined by Committee during the meeting.

 If you wish to obtain more information regarding the agenda, please contact the Community Development Department at 386-
986-3736.

 In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons needing a reasonable
accommodation to participate in any of these proceedings or meeting should contact the City Clerk at 386-986-3713, at least
48 hours prior to the meeting.

 It is proper meeting etiquette to silence all electronic devices, including cell phones while meeting is in session.

 Any person who decides to appeal any decision with respect to any matter considered at this meeting will need a record of the
proceedings, and for such purpose, may need to hire a court reporter to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is
made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.

Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance

Roll Call and Determination of a Quorum

Approval of Meeting Minutes

1 MEETING MINUTES OF THE JANUARY 17, 2024 PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT 
REGULATION BOARD MEETING

Public Hearing

1



City of Palm Coast Created on 4/26/23

2 ORDINANCE 2024-XX RELATING TO SIGNS AND ADVERTISING BY AMENDING SECTION 
3.01.06 USES NOT PERMITTED IN THE CITY, AMENDING CHAPTER 12 SIGNS AND 
ADVERISING AND AMENDING SECTION 14.02 GLOSSARY, OF THE UNIFIED LAND 
DEVELOPMENT CODE.

3 THE PROMENADE AT TOWN CENTER TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 3 – APPLICATION # 
5565

4 OLD KINGS NORTH STORAGE FACILITY, TECHNICAL SITE PLAN - TIER 2, APPLICATION # 
5566

Board Discussion and Staff Issues

Adjournment

2



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

   Agenda Date: February 21, 2024

Department COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Amount  
Division PLANNING Account #  

Subject:  MEETING MINUTES OF THE JANUARY 17, 2024 PLANNING AND LAND 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD MEETING

Presenter:  Irene Schaefer, Recording Secretary

Attachments: 
1. Minutes

Background:  

Recommended Action:  
Approve as presented.

3



City of Palm Coast  Created on 2/15/24 
 

 
 

 

City of Palm Coast 
Minutes 

PLANNING AND LAND 
DEVELOPMENT 

REGULATION BOARD 
 

Chair Clinton Smith 
Vice Chair Sandra Shank 

Board Member James Albano 
Board Member Charles Lemon 

Board Member Hung Hilton 
Board Member Suzanne Nicholson 

Board Member David Ferguson 
Alternate Board Member Sybil 

Dodson-Lucas 
Alternate Board Member Larry 

Gross 
School Board Rep William Whitson 

City Hall 
160 Lake Avenue 

Palm Coast, FL 32164 
www.palmcoastgov.com 

          

Wednesday, January 17, 2024                                                                                                                    5:30 PM  CITY HALL - COMMUNITY WING 
 

• Public Participation shall be in accordance with Section 286.0114 Florida Statutes. 
 

• Public comment on issues on the agenda or public participation shall be limited to 3 minutes. 
 

• Other matters of concern may be discussed as determined by Committee during the meeting. 
 

• If you wish to obtain more information regarding the agenda, please contact the Community Development Department at 386-
986-3736. 
 

• In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons needing a reasonable 
accommodation to participate in any of these proceedings or meeting should contact the City Clerk at 386-986-3713, at least 
48 hours prior to the meeting. 
 

• It is proper meeting etiquette to silence all electronic devices, including cell phones while meeting is in session. 
 

• Any person who decides to appeal any decision with respect to any matter considered at this meeting will need a record of the 
proceedings, and for such purpose, may need to hire a court reporter to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is 
made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 

 
 
 
A Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 

 
Chair Smith called the January 17, 2024 Planning and Land Development 
Regulations Board (PLDRB) meeting to order @ 5:30pm.  

 
B Roll Call and Determination of a Quorum 

 
  

        
Present and responding to roll call were: 
 

4



City of Palm Coast  Created on 2/15/24 
 

 
Chair Smith 
Vice Chair Shank 
Mrs. Lucas 
Mr. Lemon 
Ms. Nicholson 
Mr. Hilton 
Mr. Ferguson 
Mr. Whitson 
 
Excused: 
Larry Gross 
James Albano  
 

 
 
C Approval of Meeting Minutes 

 
1 MEETING MINUTES OF THE NOVEMBER 15 AND DECEMBER 20, 2023 

PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD MEETING AND 
WORKSHOP   

 
 

Pass 
Motion made to approve as presented by Board Member Hilton and 
seconded by Board Member Ferguson 

 
Approved - 7 - Board Member Sybil Dodson-Lucas, Chairman Clinton Smith, 
Board Member Charles Lemon, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, Vice 
Chairman Sandra Shank, Board Member Hung Hilton, Board Member David 
Ferguson 

 
D Public Hearing 

 
2 ORDINANCE 2024-XX AMENDING CHAPTER 4, SECTION 4.01, SUBSECTION 

4.01.05, OF THE UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST   

 
Prior to the start of this item being heard Mrs. Lucas left the meeting @ 
approximately 5:33pm. 
 
Mr. Ray Tyner, Deputy Chief Development Officer, provided  background that 
this item was heard at the December 20, 2023 PLDRB workshop meeting.  Mr. 
Tyner introduced Ms. Barbara Grossman, Code Enforcement Manager who gave 
a presentation which is attached to this record.  Ms. Grossman also introduced 
Ms. Tracey Doak, Zoning Supervisor. Ms. Katie Reischmann, Legal Counsel, 
explained the "red line" changes to the proposed ordinance that have taken 
place since the PLDRB members discussed this proposal at the December 20th  
PLDRB workshop.  
 

5



City of Palm Coast  Created on 2/15/24 
 

Mr. Ferguson asked if this Ordinance is necessary primarily for the installation of 
new platforms or to remediate or make non-conforming situations more 
regulated.  Ms. Grossman stated that state law had changed and if they are non-
conforming, we have noticed the property owner that we will work with them to 
get them into conformance. 
 
Chair Smith summarized the main disagreement that arose during the PLDRB 
workshop was that some think the State Statute excepted the floating vessels 
from a permit and the City's position is that since they are on City property, the 
City has the right to regulate them, via a license agreement.   Ms. Katie 
Reischmann, stated yes only within the salt water canals, since it is our property, 
we have the right to require a license agreement regardless of the state law that 
prohibits a permit.  Chair Smith clarified that most of the intracoastal does not fall 
into this situation.  Ms. Reischmann stated, yes. 
 
Mr. Hilton asked if the license agreement changed at all or just the ordinance 
was created.  Ms. Grossman stated just the ordinance was created, the license 
agreement was not altered. 
 
Chair Smith opened this agenda item to public comment at 5:43pm.  
 
Mr. Steve Gerrish, 9 Crossgate Ct. E, addressed the PLDRB members regarding 
his written correspondence that were provided to the PLDRB members.  Mr. 
Gerrish's correspondence is attached to this record. 
 
Chair Smith closed this agenda item to public comment at 5:46pm. 
 
Ms. Reischmann addressed Mr. Gerrish's question regarding the City's definition 
of navigational area. The state does not define navigational area.  So, the City 
has its own definition within its Code, which is depended on the size of the canal. 
So, within our license agreements we allow a 12% or a 15% protuberance 
depending on the size of the canal.   
 
Ms. Reischmann addressed Mr. Gerrish's question regarding why the City refers 
to a floating vessel platform as a dock. The City refers to a floating vessel 
platform as a dock because they are anchored to the bottom of our property.  
 
Ms. Grossman addressed Mr. Gerrish's question regarding Code Enforcement 
assessment of the existing citizens that have a dock that is not in compliance.  
They do not have an existing license agreement or a saltwater agreement.  
There are 35 homes in this condition.  Ms. Grossman stated that Code 
Enforcement will work with them one on one to bring them into compliance with 
the code.  If necessary, the owner may need to relocate their docks. 
 
Chair Smith asked how does one find out about these regulations.  Ms. 
Grossman stated that our Land Development Code (LDC) and the Code of 
Ordinance are available on the City of Palm Coast's website. (palmcoast.gov).  
Contractors who work in the City in this arena are aware that a permit is 
required.  In addition, the City participants in public speaking opportunities where 
regulations are discussed.  Mr. Tyner mentioned that after this regulation is 
enacted we can work with City departments to increase our outreach. Ms. 
Reischmann also stated that there was some misunderstanding regarding the 

6



City of Palm Coast  Created on 2/15/24 
 

license agreement in that it doesn't run with the land.  A new owner would need 
to apply for a new permit and at that time they can be informed of the floating 
vessel platform ordinance. 
 
Vice Chair Shank asked regarding the 35 existing homes that are out of 
compliance what happens if that property is sold and she asked about the 
existence of a  mechanism for that potential new owner to be informed that the 
property is out of compliance.  Ms. Grossman stated that when a property is 
being sold, the title company does a lien search and through this process the title 
company would be notified of a violation on the property. Vice Chair Shank 
asked if there would be a grace period prior to the violation being attached to the 
property as a lien.  Ms. Grossman stated yes, an action order would be placed 
on the address (flagged) prior to any lien being imposed.   
 
Mr. Ferguson asked the amount of the fee for the permitting process.  Ms. 
Grossman stated that the license agreement is a flat $50.00 fee along with 
additional recording fee based on the number of pages being recorded ($10.00 
for the 1st page and $8.50 per additional page) A license agreement is typically 
9 pages.  

 
Pass 
Motion made to Recommend Approval to City Council to adopt Ordinance 
2024-XX Amending Chapter 4, Conditions for Limited Specific Uses and 
Activities, Section 4.01, Accessory Structures, Subsection 4.01.05, 
Residential Docking Facilities along saltwater and freshwater canals (and 
Intracoastal Waterway, as applicable), of the Unified Land Development 
Code of the City of Palm Coast by Vice Chairman Shank and seconded by 
Board Member Ferguson 

 
Approved - 5 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, 
Vice Chairman Sandra Shank, Board Member Hung Hilton, Board Member 
David Ferguson 
Denied - 1 - Board Member Charles Lemon 

 
3 VARIANCE – 28 LLESTONE PATH – REDUCE THE MINIMUM DISTANCE 

REQUIRMENT BETWEEN COMMUNITY RESIDENTIAL HOMES, APPLICATION # 
5596   

 
Mr. Tyner provided some  background regarding the Florida State Statute 
419.001, which requires a minimum distance between community residential 
homes of 1000 ft.  However, the statute does allow counties and/or cities 
flexibility to allow a variance process up to 3 homes within the 1000 ft. radius.  
 
Mr. Tyner introduced Ms. Estelle Lens, Planner, AICP who gave a presentation 
which is attached to this record. 
 
Ms. Christina Carlough, applicant, addressed that the PLDRB members.  
 
Vice Chair Shank disclosed that she is abstaining from voting since she is the 
other community home owner that falls within 1000 ft. of this property’s location.  

7



City of Palm Coast  Created on 2/15/24 
 

Vice Chair Shank provided the required form 8B- Memorandum of Voting conflict 
form to the Recording Secretary and it is attached to this record. 
 
Chair Smith asked if the 1000 ft. radius is based on something.  Ms. Reischmann 
wasn't aware of any specific reason for 1000 ft. 
 
Ms. Nicholson thanked Ms. Carlough for opening this type of facility to help the 
community. She then questioned the number of residents able to reside in the 
home including staff. 
 
Ms. Carlough and Ms. Lens both responded clarifying that the maximum number 
of residents allowed would be six based on the property being located within a 
residential zoning district. The care staff that would support the six residents do 
not live on site. 
 
Chair Smith opened this agenda item to public comment at 6:18pm.  
 
Ms, Kelly Mullen, Ms. Stacey Woodward, and Mr. Melvin Hooker all residence on 
Llestone Path for over 30 years came forth with questions regarding physical 
changes to the property's appearance. As well as questioning the process for 
increasing the number of residents for the property. Finally, they inquired about 
the process for this type of exception in the future.  
 
Chair Smith closed this agenda item to public comment at 6:21pm. 
 
Chair Smith addressed the question from Ms. Mullen regarding if they wanted to 
increase the number or residents - there is a six person maximum for this 
residential zoning district.  If another home wanted to come in to the same area 
and were less than 1000 ft. from this property or the other one that exists, they 
would have to go through the same variance process to receive approval.  
 
Ms. Carlough addresses the last question regarding changes to property that no 
signage will be placed on property and that only planned additional 
improvements to property will be a white vinyl fence and landscaping to improve 
the appearance.  
 
Ms. Lens and Mr. Tyner addressed the concerns regarding the possibility of a 
future mistake regarding verbal approval being given without verifying the 
distance.  Verbal confirmation is something not being given in the future.  We 
have the capability to produce a map showing the radius of 1000 ft. which would 
graphically show if another community residential home exists in the area.  
Technicians in the future will be able to print a map regarding the validity of the 
request.  Also, fences and signs require permits and any permit request must  
meet all regulations in accordance with the Land Development Code. 
 
Chair Smith asked  how many residential homes are currently operating in the 
City of Palm Coast. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez stated that there are currently 92 homes throughout the City of 
Palm Coast.  

 
Pass 

8



City of Palm Coast  Created on 2/15/24 
 

Motion made to approve as this request is consistent with Land 
Development Code and Comprehensive Plan as well as the Florida 
Administrative Code rules adopted under Florida Statute chapter 419 and 
hereby approves the variance request to allow a Community Residential 
Home within 1,000 feet of another Community Residential Home, 
application number 5596 by Board Member Nicholson and seconded by 
Board Member Hilton 

 
Approved - 5 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Charles Lemon, Board 
Member Suzanne Nicholson, Board Member Hung Hilton, Board Member 
David Ferguson 

 
4 HARGROVE LANE INDUSTRIAL TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 3 – APPLICATION 

# 5530   
 

Mr. Lemon left the meeting at 6:26pm.  
 
Mr. Tyner gave a brief description of this agenda item as well as introducing Mr. 
Bill Hoover, Senior Planner, AICP who gave a presentation which is attached to 
this record. 
 
Mr. Curt Wimpée, representing the applicant, addressed the PLDRB members 
and gave a presentation which is attached to this record. 
 
Vice Chair Shank asked if an eighteen wheeler commercial vehicle will have 
access to the space.   
 
Mr. Wimpée stated that for development purposes we need to get a fire truck 
through that area and this area will accommodate a semi-truck. But a semi-truck 
will not be working in these spaces nor will there be loading docks for those type 
of deliveries.  
 
Vice Chair Shank inquired about the use of the units for "man cave" activities, 
such as football game viewing. 
 
Mr. Wimpée explain yes, they can have that kind of socializing with friends.  No 
public parking is available as it is a gated community.  Guests may park at the 
club house and an owner may greet them and bring them up to the unit. 
 
Chair Shank asked if we will be limiting food preparation at this location. Mr. 
Wimpée stated that units will have water and sanitary sewer connects.  They 
may also have refrigerators but full kitchens are not allowed. 
 
Mr. Ferguson asked about the practically of a project this size   Mr. Wimpée 
stated that the developer has done some market research for the project.  He 
further stated that if phase I takes off then the developer would look to develop 
phase II. Discussion of the new concept of a "car condo" ensued. 
 
Mr. Whitson asked if any school facilities will be within a mile of this location. 
Chair Smith stated that nearest school facility would be on Belle Terre. 
 

9



City of Palm Coast  Created on 2/15/24 
 

Chair Smith opened this agenda item to public comment at 6:48pm.  
 
Seeing no one approach the podium Chair Smith closed this item to public 
comment at 6:49pm.  

 
Pass 
Motion made to Recommend Approval finding the project in compliance 
with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; and 
recommend approval to City Council of the Technical Site Plan - Tier 3 for 
Hargrove Lane Industrial, Application No. 5530, subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
1. A LOMR (Letter of Map Revision) will be required prior to receiving any 
Certificate of Occupancy as a CLOMA (Conditional Letter of Map Revision) 
is only conditional. 
2. All buildings and adjoining areas shall only be utilized for IND-1 uses as 
outlined in Table 3-4 of the Land Development Code by Board Member 
Ferguson and seconded by Vice Chairman Shank 

 
Approved - 5 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, 
Vice Chairman Sandra Shank, Board Member Hung Hilton, Board Member 
David Ferguson 

 
5 SAWMILL CREEK SELF-STORAGE TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 2 – 

APPLICATION # 5447   
 

Mr. Ray Tyner introduced this item along with Mr. Richard Picatagi, Landscape 
Architect, who gave a presentation which is attached to this record. 
 
Mr. Tyner reminded the board that the recommended conditions on this 
application are from the Special Exceptions that the PLDRB approved 
previously. 
 
Mr. Mathew Dowst, Dowst Associates, representing the applicant addressed the 
PLDRB. 
 
Mr. Ferguson asked how close is the next self-storage facility in relationship to 
this one. Mr. Picatagi stated there is one under construction approximaately1.2 
miles to the south and to the west of the Matanzas Woods Parkway roundabout, 
behind the gas stations. Mr. Matt Blazevic, representing the storage facility 
operator, Horizon, stated Mr. Picatagi's statement was correct.  Chair Smith also 
agreed and added after the Matanzas Woods location the next one would be at 
Hargrove Grade which is several miles to the south.  Mr. Ferguson suggested a 
minimum distance between storage facilities should be considered.  Mr. Tyner 
mentioned that several of the Special Exceptions approved for self-storage 
facilities have never been constructed. 
 
Chair Smith opened this agenda item to public comment at 7:08pm. 
 
Seeing no one approach the podium Chair Smith closed this item to public 
comment at 7:09pm. 

10



City of Palm Coast  Created on 2/15/24 
 

 
Vice Chair Shank stated that it is important to reiterate what Mr. Tyner stated 
about the fact that not all of the approved self-storage facilities have come to 
fruition.  

 
Pass 
Motion made to approve finding the project in compliance with the 
Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; and conditionally 
approve the Technical Site Plan Tier 2 for Sawmill Creek Self-Storage, 
Application No. 5512, subject to the following operational conditions: 
 
1. Outdoor vehicle storage services are limited to operable boats, 
automobiles, pickups, vans, trailers, and recreational vehicles. Storage 
services shall not be provided for any heavy-duty trucks, semi-tractor 
trailers, dump trucks, full-size buses, shipping containers, or large 
construction equipment. 
2. Onsite boat and vehicle repair and maintenance is limited to washing, 
cleaning, detailing, tire changing, battery replacement, and other minor 
servicing and repairs.  Recreational vehicles shall not be used for on-site 
residential use. 
3.An onsite business for the sale, leasing or rental of boats, recreational 
vehicles, trucks, trailers, or construction related equipment is prohibited.  
4. All vehicles and boats being stored shall be limited to the designated 
boat/recreational storage spaces and shall not extend into or occur within 
driving lanes or other non-designated storage areas. 
5. A business shall not use storage units for retail display and/or sale of 
merchandise. 
6. No individual business signage shall be visible from the exterior of any 
storage unit except for the storage business itself by Vice Chairman Shank 
and seconded by Board Member Nicholson 

 
Approved - 5 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, 
Vice Chairman Sandra Shank, Board Member Hung Hilton, Board Member 
David Ferguson 

 
E Board Discussion and Staff Issues 

         None 
F Adjournment  

 
Motion made that the meeting be adjourned by Ms. Nicholson  and the motion 
was seconded by Vice Chair Shank. The meeting was adjourned at 6:51pm. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted by: 
Irene Schaefer, Recording Secretary  

 
Pass 
Motion made to approve by Vice Chairman Shank and seconded by Board 
Member Nicholson 

 

11



City of Palm Coast  Created on 2/15/24 
 

Approved - 5 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, 
Vice Chairman Sandra Shank, Board Member Hung Hilton, Board Member 
David Ferguson 

 

12



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

   Agenda Date: February 21, 2024

Department COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Amount  
Division PLANNING Account #  

Subject:  ORDINANCE 2024-XX RELATING TO SIGNS AND ADVERTISING BY 
AMENDING SECTION 3.01.06 USES NOT PERMITTED IN THE CITY, 
AMENDING CHAPTER 12 SIGNS AND ADVERISING AND AMENDING 
SECTION 14.02 GLOSSARY, OF THE UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE.

Presenter:  Estelle Lens, AICP, Planner

Attachments: 
1. Ordinance
2. City Attorney Memo providing cases discussing sign safety rationale as well as studies

discussing safety issues involved with sign placement.
3. Flagler County Association of Realtors (FCAR) letter with recommendations regarding

open house signs
4. Staff response to recommendations in FCAR letter
5. Public Correspondence
6. Map – Arterial and Collector Streets
7. Map – Arterial and Collector Streets showing maintenance
8. Temporary Sign Chart

Background:  
Chapter 12 of the Land Development Code – SIGNS AND ADVERTISING -  was adopted 
along with the balance of the Unified Land Development Code (LDC) in August 2008. It has 
been amended twice, once in 2009 and again in 2012. These amendments were made 
working with stakeholders to provide more flexibility for applicants in the development 
community. The sign code is being amended now to comply with changes in the law, 
address challenges and make the code less restrictive, more business friendly and more 
community friendly.
The Assistant City Attorney has provided the following as a background for the required and 
proposed changes to the City’s sign code:
The U.S. Supreme Court changed the face of sign regulation by local governments in the 
case of Reed v. Gilbert, a unanimous decision. In the opinion of most experts, the decision 
requires amendments to almost all local government codes, including the City of Palm 
Coast’s code.  The Supreme Court held that Gilbert’s sign restrictions were content based 
unconstitutional regulations of speech that did not survive the highest level of scrutiny that 
the Court applies. The Town of Gilbert, Arizona sign code required permits for signs which 
allowed a number of exemptions such as:

 Political signs were permitted up to 32 square feet.
 Temporary directional signs were only permitted up to 6 square feet.
 Ideological signs were allowed up to only 20 square feet.

A local church was cited for violation of the rules for temporary directional signs and then 

13



challenged the sign code for violating their First Amendment rights.  The Town argued (and 
the lower courts agreed) that the challenged regulations were content neutral, and that the 
sign distinctions were based on objective factors and not the expressive content of the sign. 
The distinctions did not favor nor censor a particular viewpoint or philosophy. And the 
justification for the regulation was unrelated to the content of the sign. 
  
Justice Thomas, writing for the Supreme Court, disagreed. He found the distinctions plainly 
content based and therefore subject to strict scrutiny. The various type of sign distinctions 
“depended entirely on the communicative content of the sign”. The Court articulated the 
“need to read” standard, meaning if a code enforcement officer has to read the sign to 
determine if a sign regulation applies to it, then the provision will be stricken as 
unconstitutional.  This was true despite the fact that it was evident to the Court that the Town 
had benign motives in creating these sign categories.  Put another way, the Court struck the 
Gilbert code because a particular sign was treated differently based on the purpose of the 
sign, instead of on its size, shape, location, or other content neutral time, place and manner 
regulation.  

The Town attempted to address the strict scrutiny standard by offering two governmental 
interests to support its distinctions: aesthetic appeal and traffic safety. The Court held that 
even if these distinctions were compelling governmental interests, the regulations were not 
narrowly tailored. Justice Kagan noted in her own opinion (concurring in the judgment only) 
that the Town’s distinctions did “not pass strict scrutiny, or intermediate scrutiny, or even the 
laugh test.”  The Court required the Town of Gilbert to pay Reed’s attorneys’ fees to the tune 
of $800,000.

Because the Court found the sign code to have content based regulations, the regulations 
were required to pass the “strict scrutiny” standard, and they failed. Most codes do, because 
“strict scrutiny” is described as being just like a civil war stomach wound. The Court even 
stated that directional signs could only potentially be considered a lawful sign category if 
sufficiently valid reasons for allowing them could be articulated by the city. Sign codes are 
being constitutionally contested throughout the court based on the “characterization” of signs 
(i.e. church signs; gas station signs; political signs).
The Court attempted to reassure local governments that sign codes could withstand scrutiny 
if cities and counties limit regulation to regulation of size, building materials, lighting, moving 
parts, and portability, if done in an even handed manner. The Court recently found that 
regulation based on location was a valid way to regulate signs, so that banning off-site signs 
is not a content based regulation. 
Based on the Reed analysis, time restrictions on temporary signs must be carefully 
evaluated.  For example, temporary signs cannot be severely limited in number or duration, 
because that regulation would unlawfully impact political and real estate signs.   
Reed shows the degree to which courts will now scrutinize a city’s efforts to regulate signs 
and how those regulations impact free speech.  Any code provisions in the City code that 
might show content bias must be amended to remove those distinctions.  Cities are left, in 
the wake of Reed, with being forced to err on the side of allowing for less restrictive, rather 
than more restrictive, sign regulations, until the courts provide more guidance on these 
matters.
However, Reed did not explicitly overrule prior Supreme Court precedent allowing off site 
and on site signs to be treated differently, or permitting commercial signs to be regulated 
more strictly than non-commercial signs, as demonstrated in the case involving the City of 
Austin recently decided by the U.S. Supreme Court, which upheld Austin’s distinction 

14



between “on-site” and “off-site” signs. Another bright note is that it appears that so far cities 
still have the ability to choose the content of “government” signs on their own property and in 
the rights of way. Plus, lower courts have limited Reed’s application to temporary signs only. 
In conclusion, it behooves the City to amend its sign code or the City will be vulnerable to a 
challenge.  If contested on constitutional grounds and the City loses, the sign code becomes 
void.  
Another case impacting sign codes is Sweet Sage Café, LLC v. Town of North Redington 
Beach a case from the Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division.  In this case, the United 
States District Court ruled that the town’s ordinance infringed on the right of free speech 
protected by the U.S. Constitution. Specifically, the Court ruled that the ordinance was 
facially unconstitutional because it regulated based on content of the speech and could not 
survive the strict scrutiny test. As a result, the town’s sign code was voided by the Court 
utilizing the precedent in the Reed v. Town of Gilbert case. The attorney for Sweet Sage 
Café subsequently filed suit in federal court asking for legal fees.
Considering these factors, Staff and the Assistant City Attorney met with the Flagler County 
Association of Responsible Developers (FCARD) nine times to hammer out these sign code 
amendments several years ago.  Subsequently, in August and September of this year, City 
Staff met two times with other stakeholders to help modify these amendments. The 
stakeholders at the meetings this year included members from the Flagler County 
Association of Realtors (FCAR) and the Palm Coast-Flagler Regional Chamber of 
Commerce, local attorneys, and FCARD. 
The substantive changes to the sign code are primarily as follows:
 Revising Purpose & Intent to reflect new findings on signage.
 Revising Exempt and Prohibited Signs, exempting temporary signs from permitting 
 Correcting glitches.
 Deleting content-based definitions and replacing with new location-based qualifiers.
 Government signs are no longer regulated by the City sign code, in keeping with 
case law.
 Revising Temporary Signs, to genericize the categories. Signs are regulated based 
upon the 

zoning district in which the sign is placed. Simplified categories of temporary signs by 
providing a table. Generally, signs that are currently permitted will remain permitted, 
and signs that are currently prohibited will remain prohibited.

 Revising Glossary for commercial and temporary signage.
 The text of the regulations are outlined in the attached draft Ordinance in cross-out 
and underline 

format. 

The amendments do not modify the amount or type of site or wall signage for commercial 
uses.  Also, the regulation regarding Commercial banners is not modified. 

Summary of Stakeholder, Board and Council Meetings to date:
 August 22, 2023 – First Stakeholder meeting 

- The Flagler County Association of Realtors (FCAR) presented their 
recommendations for Open House Signs. 

- A Flagler County Association of Responsible Developers (FCARD) member 
brought up the issue of signage in a commercial subdivision. Section 
12.05.02.B.2.a. has subsequently been amended to allow an additional sign for 
certain parcels based upon their location in the subdivision.

15



 September 26, 2023 – Second Stakeholder meeting
- The FCAR recommendations were discussed. The City is complying with, or 

exceeding, all their requests except allowing signs in the right of way (ROW)

 October 18, 2023 – Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) 
Workshop
- Only one suggestion was made which was for the Temporary Sign Chart - 

Section 12.06. Table B. in the category for Signs for Parcels with active 
site/building permits. The request, which is now being proposed, is for a 
maximum size of 6 SF (vs. 4 SF) to match the other categories.

 November 14, 2023 – City Council Workshop
- The discussion at this public hearing centered on whether to allow signage in the 

City right of way (ROW). Council asked the City Attorney to research legal cases 
involving signage in the ROW. The City Attorney subsequently prepared a memo 
which is enclosed. 

 January 25, 2024 – Beautification and Environmental Advisory Committee (BEAC) 
meeting
- The Committee was “in agreeance (with prohibiting signs in the ROW) as that 

would pose too many safety concerns and also a lot of logistical issues that 
would be a nightmare.”

- The BEAC approved (unanimously) the ordinance amending the sign code as 
presented, which prohibits any sign located within a right-of-way as regulated in 
Land Development Code Chapter 12. 

The proposed amended ordinance also contains a few changes made after the PLDRB and 
Council Workshops which include: 

- Other minor (redlined) changes to Section 12.06 – The chart for Temporary 
Signs. The changes are for consistency within the categories (ie. Sizes of signs, 
setbacks, etc.) and to correct errors.

- Clarified criteria for exceeding maximum width for wall signs – Section 12.04.07
- Added criteria to exceed maximum size and height for residential subdivision 

entrance signs Sections 12.05.01.A.2.a. and 12.05.01.A.5.
- Corrected a few scrivener’s errors that were identified and are redlined in the 

attached draft ordinance.

Recommended Action: 
Staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) 
recommend to City Council to approve the proposed ordinance amending the sign code as 
presented, which prohibits any sign located within a right-of-way as regulated in Land 
Development Code Chapter 12. 

The Beautification and Environmental Advisory Committee (BEAC) recommends that the 
Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) and City Council approve the 
proposed ordinance amending the sign code as presented, which prohibits any sign located 
within a right-of-way as regulated in Land Development Code Chapter 12. 

16



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 1 of 51

ORDINANCE - ____
UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA, 
AMENDING SECTION 3.01.06, USES NOT PERMITTED IN THE 
CITY, CHAPTER 3, ZONING USES, AND DIMENSIONAL 
STANDARDS, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCESCITY OF PALM 
COAST LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, TO PROHIBIT OUTDOOR ADVERTISING; AMENDING 
CHAPTER 12, SIGNS AND ADVERTISING OF THE CITY OF 
PALM COAST UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, TO 
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH CONSTITUTIONAL AND 
OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS AND TO PROVIDE A 
PURPOSE, INTENT AND SCOPE; AMENDING SECTION 14.02 
GLOSSARY, OF CHAPTER 14 OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST 
UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE TO ADD, DELETE AND 
RESTATE VARIOUS DEFINITIONS; AMENDING CRITERIA 
RELATED TO THE AMENDED  DEFINITIONS; PROVIDING 
THAT EXISTING NON-CONFORMING SIGNS MAY BE 
CONTINUED; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING 
FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that it is appropriate to update 
and revise its Land Development Code relative to signs; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that it is appropriate to delete 
sections, subsections, paragraphs, subparagraphs, divisions, subdivisions, clauses, sentences, 
phrases, words, and provisions of the existing ordinance which are obsolete or superfluous, and/or 
which have not been enforced, and/or which are not enforceable, and/or which would be severable 
by a court of competent jurisdiction; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast has determined the need to update 
and revise the definitions as they relate to signs in its Land Development Code, and to update and 
revise other definitions in its Land Development Code; and

WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to ensure that the definitions in the City's Land 
Development Code as they relate to signs are in compliance with all constitutional and other legal 
requirements; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the updated and revised 
definitions herein are consistent with all applicable policies of the City’s adopted Comprehensive 
Plan; and

17



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 2 of 51

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the updated and revised 
definitions herein are not in conflict with the public interest; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that definitions in the City’s Land 
Development Code need to be deleted, revised or added to in light of the recent decision in Reed 
v. Town of Gilbert, Ariz., 576 U.S. 155 , 135 S. Ct. 2218, 192 L. Ed. 2d 236 (2015); and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that it is appropriate to ensure 
that the Land Development Code as it relates to signs is in compliance with all constitutional and 
other legal requirements; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the purpose, intent and 
scope of its signage standards and regulations should be detailed so as to further describe the 
beneficial aesthetic and other effects of the City’s sign standards and regulations, and to reaffirm 
that the sign standards and regulations are concerned with the secondary effects of speech and are 
not designed to censor speech or regulate the viewpoint of the speaker; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the limitations on the size 
(area), height, number, spacing, and setback of signs, adopted herein, are based upon sign types; 
and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that limitations on signs are 
related to the zoning districts for the parcels and properties on which they are located; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that various signs that serve as 
signage for particular land uses, such as drive-through lanes for businesses, are based upon 
content-neutral criteria in recognition of the functions served by those land uses, but not based 
upon any intent to favor any particular viewpoint or control the subject matter of public discourse; 
and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign standards and 
regulations adopted hereby still allow adequate alternative means of communications; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign standards and 
regulations adopted hereby allow and leave open adequate alternative means of communications, 
such as newspaper advertising and communications, internet advertising and communications, 
advertising and communications in shoppers and pamphlets, advertising and communications in 
telephone books, advertising and communications on cable and satellite television, advertising and 
communications on UHF and/or VHF television, advertising and communications on AM and/or 
FM radio, advertising and communications on satellite and internet radio, advertising and 
communications via direct mail, and other avenues of communication available in the City of Palm 
Coast [see State v. J & J Painting, 167 N.J. Super. 384, 400 A.2d 1204, 1205 (Super. Ct. App. Div. 
1979); Board of Trustees of State University of New York v. Fox, 492 U.S. 469, 477 (1989); Green 
v. City of Raleigh, 523 F.3d 293, 305-306 (4th Cir. 2007); Naser Jewelers v. City of Concord, 513 
F.3d 27 (1st Cir. 2008); Sullivan v. City of Augusta, 511 F.3d 16, 43-44 (1st Cir. 2007); La Tour 
v. City of Fayetteville, 442 F.3d 1094, 1097 (8th Cir. 2006); Reed v. Town of Gilbert, Ariz., 587 

18



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 3 of 51

F.3d 966, 980-981 (9th Cir. 2009), aff’d in part & remanded in part on other grounds, 832 F. 
Supp. 2d 1070, aff’d,  707 F.3d 1057, 1063 (9th Cir. 2013), cert. granted, 134 S. Ct. 2900 (2014), 
rev’d on other grounds & remanded, 135 S. Ct. 2218 (2015).]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the provisions of Chapter 
12 (Unified Land Development Code), City of Palm Coast Code of Ordinances, that replace the 
current Chapter 12 are consistent with all applicable policies of the City’s adopted Comprehensive 
Plan; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that these amendments are not 
in conflict with the public interest; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that these amendments will not 
result in incompatible land uses; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that under established Supreme Court 
precedent, a law that is content-based is subject to strict scrutiny under the First Amendment of 
the U.S. Constitution, and such law must therefore satisfy a compelling governmental interest; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that under established Supreme Court 
precedent, a compelling government interest is a higher burden than a substantial or significant 
governmental interest; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that under established Supreme Court 
precedent, aesthetics is not a compelling governmental interest but is a substantial governmental 
interest; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that until a recent Supreme Court decision 
released in June 2015, there had not been clarity as to what constitutes a content-based law as 
distinguished from a content-neutral law; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that in Reed v. Town of Gilbert, Ariz., -- 
U.S. —, 135 S. Ct. 2218, 192 L. Ed. 2d 236 (2015), the United States Supreme Court, in an opinion 
authored by Justice Thomas, and joined in by Chief Justices Roberts, Scalia, Alito, Kennedy and 
Sotomayer, addressed the constitutionality of a local sign ordinance that had different criteria for 
different types of temporary noncommercial signs; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that in Reed, the Supreme Court held that 
content-based regulation is presumptively unconstitutional and requires a compelling 
governmental interest; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that in Reed, the Supreme Court held that 
government regulation of speech is content based if a law applies to particular speech because of 
the topic discussed or the idea or message expressed; and

19



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 4 of 51

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that in Reed, the Supreme Court held that 
if a sign regulation on its face is content-based, neither its purpose, nor function, nor justification 
matter, and the sign regulation is therefore subject to strict scrutiny and must serve a compelling 
governmental interest; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that in Reed, Justice Alito in a concurring 
opinion joined in by Justices Kennedy and Sotomayer pointed out that municipalities still have the 
power to enact and enforce reasonable sign regulations; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that Justice Alito in the concurring opinion 
joined in by Justices Kennedy and Sotomayer provided a list of rules that would not be content-
based; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that Justice Alito noted that these rules, 
listed below, were not a comprehensive list of such rules; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that Justice Alito included the following 
rules among those that would not be content-based: (1) rules regulating the size of signs, which 
rules may distinguish among signs based upon any content-neutral criteria such as those listed 
below; (2) rules regulating the locations in which signs may be placed, which rules may distinguish 
between freestanding signs and those attached to buildings; (3) rules distinguishing between 
lighted and unlighted signs; (4) rules distinguishing between signs with fixed messages and 
electronic signs with messages that change; (5) rules that distinguish between the placement of 
signs on private and public property; (6) rules distinguishing between the placement of signs on 
commercial and residential property; (7) rules distinguishing between on-premises and off-
premises signs [see discussion in Memorandum dated September 11, 2015 from Lawrence Tribe 
to Nancy Fletcher, President, Outdoor Advertising Association of America, re Applying the First 
Amendment to Regulations Distinguishing Between Off-premises and On-premises Signs After Reed 
v. Town of Gilbert]; (8) rules restricting the total number of signs allowed per mile of roadway; 
and (9) rules imposing time restrictions on signs advertising a one-time event, where rules of this 
nature do not discriminate based on topic or subject and are akin to rules restricting the times 
within which oral speech or music is allowed; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that Justice Alito further noted that in 
addition to regulating signs put up by private actors, government entities may also erect their own 
signs consistent with the principles that allow governmental speech [see Pleasant Grove City, Utah 
v. Summum, 555 U.S. 460, 467-469 (2009)], and that government entities may put up all manner 
of signs to promote safety, as well as directional signs and signs pointing out historic sites and 
scenic spots; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that Justice Alito noted that the Reed 
decision, properly understood, will not prevent cities from regulating signs in a way that fully 
protects public safety and serves legitimate esthetic objectives, including rules that distinguish 
between on-premises and off-premises signs; and 

20



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 5 of 51

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that as a result of the Reed decision, it is 
appropriate and necessary for local governments to review and analyze their sign standards and 
regulations, beginning with their temporary sign standards and regulations, so as to make the 
necessary changes to conform with the holding in Reed; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that under established Supreme Court 
precedent, commercial speech may be subject to greater restrictions than noncommercial speech 
and that doctrine is true for both temporary signs as well as for permanent signs; and

WHEREAS, the U.S. Supreme Court has determined that persons desiring to sell their 
homes have the same right to communication via signage as other commercial interests, and 
residents were entitled to information on sales activity, so real estate signs could not be prohibited,  
in Linmark Associates, Inc. v. Township of Willingboro, 97 S.Ct. 1614 (1977); and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that it should continue to 
prohibit discontinued signs regardless of whether or not there was any intent to abandon the sign; 
and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that a traffic control device sign, 
exempt from regulation under the City’s land development regulations for signage, is any 
government sign located within the right-of-way that functions as a traffic control device and that 
is described and identified in the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) and 
approved by the Federal Highway Administrator as the National Standard, and according to the 
MUTCD traffic control device signs include those signs that are classified and defined by their 
function as regulatory signs (that give notice of traffic laws or regulations), warning signs (that 
give notice of a situation that might not readily be apparent), and guide signs (that show route 
designations, directions, distances, services, points of interest, and other geographical, 
recreational, or cultural information); and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that it is appropriate to continue 
to prohibit certain vehicle signs similar to the prohibition suggested in Article VIII (Signs) of the 
Model Land Development Code for Cities and Counties, prepared in 1989 for the Florida 
Department of Community Affairs by the UF College of Law’s Center for Governmental 
Responsibility and by a professional planner with Henigar and Ray Engineering Associates, Inc., 
and that is nearly identical to Section 7.05.00(x) of the Land Development Regulations of the 
Town of Orange Park, which were upheld against a constitutional challenge in Perkins v. Town of 
Orange Park, 2006 WL 5988235 (Fla. 4th Cir. Ct.); and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that in order to preserve the City 
as a desirable community in which to live, recreate and do business, a pleasing, visually-attractive 
urban environment is of foremost importance; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the regulation of signs 
within the City is a highly contributive means by which to achieve this desired end, and that the 
sign standards and regulations in this proposed Ordinance are prepared with the intent of enhancing 
the urban environment and promoting the continued well-being of the City; and

21



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 6 of 51

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that Article II, Section 7, of the 
Florida Constitution, as adopted in 1968, provides that it shall be the policy of the state to conserve 
and protect its scenic beauty; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the regulation of signage 
for purposes of aesthetics is a substantial governmental interest and directly serves the policy 
articulated in Article II, Section 7, of the Florida Constitution, by conserving and protecting its 
scenic beauty; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the regulation of signage 
for purposes of aesthetics has long been recognized as advancing the public welfare; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that as far back as 1954 the 
United States Supreme Court recognized that “the concept of the public welfare is broad and 
inclusive,” that the values it represents are “spiritual as well as physical, aesthetic as well as 
monetary,” and that it is within the power of the legislature “to determine that the community 
should be beautiful as well as healthy, spacious as well as clean, well balanced as well as carefully 
patrolled” [Justice Douglas in Berman v. Parker, 348 U.S. 26, 33 (1954)]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that aesthetics is a valid basis 
for zoning, and the regulation of the size of signs and the prohibition of certain types of signs can 
be based upon aesthetic grounds alone as promoting the general welfare [see Merritt v. Peters, 65 
So. 2d 861 (Fla. 1953); Dade Town v. Gould, 99 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 1957); E.B. Elliott Advertising 
Co. v. Metropolitan Dade Town, 425 F.2d 1141 (5th Cir. 1970), cert. dismissed, 400 U.S. 805 
(1970)]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the enhancement of the 
visual environment is critical to a community’s image and its continued presence as a master 
planned community; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign control principles 
set forth herein create a sense of character and ambiance that distinguishes the City as one with a 
commitment to maintaining and improving an attractive environment; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the beauty of the City of 
Palm Coast, both with regard to its natural and built and developed environment has provided the 
foundation for the economic base of the City’s development, and that the City’s sign regulations 
not only help create an attractive community for its residents, but also bolster Palm Coast’s image 
as a master planned community; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the goals, objectives and 
policies from planning documents developed over the years, demonstrate a strong, long-term 
commitment to maintaining and improving the City’s attractive and visual environment; and

22



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 7 of 51

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that, from a planning 
perspective, one of the most important community goals is to define and protect aesthetic resources 
and community character; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that, from a planning 
perspective, sign regulations are especially important to cities with a master planned community , 
and sign control can create a sense of character and ambiance that distinguishes one community 
from another; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that preserving and reinforcing 
the uniqueness of a  community like Palm Coast attracts future residents and, more importantly, 
establishes a permanent residential and commercial base to ensure the future viability of the 
community; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the purpose of the regulation 
of signs as set forth in this Ordinance is to promote the public health, safety and general welfare 
through a comprehensive system of reasonable, consistent and nondiscriminatory sign standards 
and requirements; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in this 
Ordinance are intended to enable the identification of places of residence and business; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in this 
Ordinance are intended to allow for the communication of information necessary for the conduct 
of commerce; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in this 
Ordinance are intended to lessen hazardous situations, confusion and visual clutter caused by 
proliferation, improper placement, illumination, animation and excessive height, area and bulk of 
signs which compete for the attention of pedestrian and vehicular traffic; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in this 
Ordinance are intended to enhance the attractiveness and economic well-being of the City as a 
place to live, recreate and conduct business; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in this 
Ordinance are intended to protect the public from the dangers of unsafe signs; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in  this 
Ordinance are intended to permit signs that are compatible with their surroundings and aid 
orientation, and to preclude placement of signs in a manner that conceals or obstructs adjacent land 
uses or signs; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in  this 
Ordinance are intended to encourage signs that are appropriate to the zoning district in which they 
are located and which are consistent with the category of use to which they pertain; and

23



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 8 of 51

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in  this 
Ordinance are intended to curtail the size and number of signs and sign messages to the minimum 
reasonably necessary to identify a residential or business location and the nature of any such 
business; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in  this 
Ordinance are intended to establish sign size in relationship to the scale of the lot and building on 
which the sign is to be placed or to which it pertains; 

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in  this 
Ordinance are intended to preclude signs from conflicting with the principal permitted use of the 
site or adjoining sites; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in  this 
Ordinance are intended to regulate signs in a manner so as to not interfere with, obstruct the vision 
of or distract motorists, bicyclists or pedestrians; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in  this 
Ordinance are intended to require signs to be constructed, installed and maintained in a safe and 
satisfactory manner; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the sign regulations in  this 
Ordinance are intended to preserve and enhance the natural and scenic characteristics of this master 
planned community committed to aesthetics and environmentally sensitive design; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the regulation of signage 
was originally mandated by Florida’s Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land 
Development Regulation Act in 1985 (see Chapter 85-55, §14, Laws of Florida), and this 
requirement continues to apply to the City of Palm Coast through Section 163.3202(2)(f), Florida 
Statutes; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that it has adopted a land 
development code, known as the Unified Land Development Code, in order to implement its 
Comprehensive Plan, and to comply with the minimum requirements in the State of Florida’s 
Growth Management Act, at Section 163.3202, Florida Statutes, including the regulation of 
signage and future land use; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the Unified Land 
Development Code is the manner by which the City has chosen to regulate signage; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the Unified Land 
Development Code and its signage regulations were and are intended to maintain and improve the 
quality of life for all citizens of the City; and

24



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 9 of 51

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that in meeting the purposes and 
goals established in these preambles, it is appropriate to continue to prohibit certain sign types; 
and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that consistent with the 
foregoing preambles, it is appropriate to continue to generally prohibit the sign types listed in Sec. 
12.03.02, Prohibited Signs within this Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that billboards detract from the 
natural and manmade beauty of the City; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast agrees with the American Society of Landscape 
Architects’ determination that billboards tend to deface nearby scenery, whether natural or built 
and the Sierra Club’s opposition to billboard development and proliferation and the American 
Society of Civil Engineers Policy Statement 117 on Aesthetics that aesthetic quality should be an 
element of the planning, design, construction, operations, maintenance, renovation, rehabilitation, 
reconstruction, and security enhancement of the built environment; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that states such as Vermont, Alaska, 
Maine, and Hawaii have prohibited the construction of billboards in their states and are now 
billboard-free in an effort to promote aesthetics and scenic beauty; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the prohibition of the 
construction of billboards and certain other sign types, as well as the establishment and 
continuation of height, size and other standards for on-premise signs, is consistent with the policy 
set forth in the Florida Constitution that it shall be the policy of the state to conserve and protect 
its scenic beauty; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast agrees with the courts that have recognized that 
outdoor advertising signs tend to interrupt what would otherwise be the natural landscape as seen 
from the highway, whether the view is untouched or ravished by man, and that it would be 
unreasonable and illogical to conclude that an area is too unattractive to justify aesthetic 
improvement [see E. B. Elliott Adv. Co. v. Metropolitan Dade Town, 425 F.2d 1141 (5th Cir. 
1970), cert. dismissed, 400 U.S. 805 (1970); John Donnelly & Sons, Inc. v. Outdoor Advertising 
Bd., 339 N.E.2d 709, 720 (Mass. 1975)]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that local governments may separately 
classify off-site and on-site advertising signs in taking steps to minimize visual pollution [see City 
of Lake Wales v. Lamar Advertising Association of Lakeland Florida, 414 So.2d 1030, 1032 (Fla. 
1982)]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that billboards attract the 
attention of drivers passing by the billboards, thereby adversely affecting traffic safety and 
constituting a public nuisance and a noxious use of the land on which the billboards are erected; 
and

25



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 10 of 51

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds, determines and recognizes that billboards are a 
form of advertisement designed to be seen without the exercise of choice or volition on the part of 
the observer, unlike other forms of advertising that are ordinarily seen as a matter of choice on the 
part of the observer [see Packer v. Utah, 285 U.S. 105 (1932); and General Outdoor Advertising 
Co. v. Department of Public Works, 289 Mass. 149, 193 N.E. 799 (1935)]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast acknowledges that the United States Supreme Court 
and many federal courts have accepted legislative judgments and determinations that the 
prohibition of billboards promotes traffic safety and the aesthetics of the surrounding area. [see 
Markham Adver. Co. v. State, 73 Wash.2d 405, 439 P.2d 248 (1969), appeal dismissed for want 
of a substantial federal question, 439 U.S. 808 (1978); Markham Adver. Co., Inc. v. State, Case 
No. 648, October Term, 1968, Appellants’ Jurisdictional Statement, 1968 WL 129277 (October 
14, 1968); Suffolk Outdoor Adver. Co., Inc. v. Hulse, 43 N.Y.2d 483, 372 N.E.2d 263 (1977), 
appeal dismissed for want of a substantial federal question, 439 U.S. 808 (1978); Suffolk Outdoor 
Adver. Co., Inc. v. Hulse, Case No. 77-1670, October Term, 1977, Appellant’s Jurisdictional 
Statement (March 23, 1978); Metromedia, Inc. v. City of San Diego, 453 U.S. 490, 509-510 (1981); 
Members of the City Council of the City of Los Angeles v. Taxpayers for Vincent, 466 U.S. 789, 
806-807 (1984), City of Cincinnati v. Discovery Network, Inc., 507 U.S. 410, 425 and 442 (1993); 
National Advertising Co. v. City and County of Denver, 912 F.2d 4055, 409 (10th Cir. 1990), and 
Outdoor Systems, Inc. v. City of Lenexa, 67 F. Supp. 2d 1231, 1239 (D. Kan. 1999)]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds, determines and recognizes that on-site business 
signs are considered to be part of the business itself, as distinguished from off-site outdoor 
advertising signs, and that it is well-recognized that the unique nature of outdoor advertising and 
the nuisances fostered by billboard signs justify the separate classification of such structures for 
the purposes of governmental regulation and restrictions [see E. B. Elliott Adv. Co. v. Metropolitan 
Dade Town, 425 F.2d 1141, 1153 (5th Cir. 1970), cert. denied, 400 U.S. 805 (1970), quoting 
United Advertising Corp. v. Borough of Raritan, 11 N.J. 144, 93 A.2d 362, 365 (1952)]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that a prohibition on the erection 
of off-site outdoor advertising signs has and will reduce the number of driver distractions and the 
number of aesthetic eyesores along the roadways and highways of the City [see, e.g., E. B. Elliott 
Adv. Co. v. Metropolitan Dade County, 425 F.2d 1141, 1154 (5th Cir. 1970), cert. denied, 400 
U.S. 8058 (1970)]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that billboard signs are public 
nuisances given their adverse impact on both traffic safety and aesthetics; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that billboards are a traffic 
hazard and impair the beauty of the surrounding area, and the prohibition of the construction of 
billboards will reduce these harms [see Outdoor Systems, Inc. v. City of Lenexa, 67 F. Supp. 2d 
1231, 1239 (D. Kan. 1999)]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the presence of billboards 
along the federal interstate and the federal-aid primary highway systems has prevented public 

26



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 11 of 51

property in other jurisdictions from being used for beautification purposes due to view zones 
established by state administrative rule; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that Scenic America, Inc. recommends 
improvements in the scenic character of a community’s landscape and appearance by prohibiting 
the construction of billboards, and by setting height, size and other standards for on-premise signs 
[see Scenic America’s Seven Principles for Scenic Conservation, Principle #5]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that more than three hundred Florida 
communities have adopted ordinances prohibiting the construction of billboards in their 
communities in order to achieve aesthetic, beautification, traffic safety, and/or other related goals; 
and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that in order to preserve, protect 
and promote the safety and general welfare of the residents of the City, it is necessary to regulate 
off-site advertising signs, commonly known as billboard signs or billboards, so as to prohibit the 
construction of billboards in all zoning districts, and to provide that the foregoing provisions shall 
be severable; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the continued prohibition 
of billboards as set forth herein will improve the beauty of the City, foster overall improvement to 
the aesthetic and visual appearance of the City, preserve and open up areas for beautification on 
public property adjoining the public roadways, increase the visibility, readability and/or 
effectiveness of on-site signs by reducing and/or diminishing the visual clutter of off-site signs, 
enhance the City as an attractive place to live and/or work, reduce blighting influences, and 
improve traffic safety by reducing driver distractions; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast wishes to assure that new billboards are effectively 
prohibited as a sign-type within the City; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that anything beside the road 
which tends to distract the driver of a motor vehicle directly affects traffic safety, and signs, which 
divert the attention of the driver and occupants of motor vehicles from the highway to objects away 
from it, may reasonably be found to increase the danger of accidents, and agrees with the courts 
that have reached the same determination [see In re Opinion of the Justices, 103 N.H. 268, 169 
A.2d 762 (1961); Newman Signs, Inc. v. Hjelle, 268 N.W.2d 741 (N.D.1978)]; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast acknowledges that the Seven Justices’ views in 
Metromedia, as expressly recognized in the later Supreme Court decisions in Taxpayers for 
Vincent and Discovery Network,; and in more than a dozen published Circuit Court of Appeal 
decisions following Metromedia, on the permissible distinction between onsite signs and offsite 
signs-when it comes to government’s substantial interest in prohibiting the latter sign type (the 
offsite sign), including: Major Media of the Southeast, Inc. v. City of Raleigh, 792 F.2d 1269, 1272 
(4th Cir. 1986); Georgia Outdoor Advertising, Inc. v. City of Waynesville, 833 F.2d 43, 45-46 (4th 
Cir. 1987); Naegele Outdoor Adver., Inc. v. City of Durham, 844 F.2d 172, 173-174 (4th Cir. 
1988); Nat’l Adver. Co. v. City and County of Denver, 912 F.2d 405, 408-411 (10th Cir. 1990); 

27



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 12 of 51

Nat’l Adver. Co. v. Town of Niagara, 942 F.2d 145, 157-158 (2nd Cir. 1991); Outdoor Systems, 
Inc. v. City of Mesa, 997 F.2d 604, 610-612 (9th Cir. 1993); Outdoor Graphics, Inc. v. City of 
Burlington, Iowa, 103 F.3d 690, 695 (8th Cir. 1996); Ackerley Communications of Northwest v. 
Krochalis, 108 F.3d 1095, 1099 (9th Cir. 1997); Southlake Property Associates, Ltd. v. City of 
Morrow, Ga., 112 F.3d 1114, 1117·1119 (11th Cir. 1997), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 820 (1998); Bad 
Frog Brewery, Inc. v. New York State Liquor Authority, 134 F.3d 87, 99 (2nd Cir. 1998); Lavey v. 
City of Two Rivers, 171 F.3d 1110, 1114-1115 (7th Cir. 1999); Long Island Bd. of Realtors, Inc. 
v. Incorp. Village of Massapequa Park, 277 F.3d 622, 627 (2nd Cir. 2002); Clear Channel 
Outdoor, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles, 340 F.3d 810, 814-816 ( 9th 2003); Riel v. City of Bradford, 
485 F.3d 736, 753 (3rd Cir. 2007); Naser Jewelers, Inc. v. City of Concord, N.H., 513 F.3d 27, 36 
(1st Cir. 2008); and RTM Media, L.L.C. v. City of Houston, 584 F.3d 220, 225 (5th Cir. 2009); and

WHEREAS, the U.S. Supreme Court recently affirmed these cases by ruling that laws 
distinguishing between on-premises and off-premises signs regulate a sign’s location, not its message. 
Those laws are therefore subject to intermediate, not strict, scrutiny, according to City of Austin, Texas v. 
Reagan Nat’l Advert. of Austin, LLC, 142 S.Ct. 1464 (2022); and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast recognizes that the distinction between the location 
of off-premises signs and on-premises signs is a time, place and manner regulation, and recognizes 
that in 1978 in Suffolk Outdoor, over the objection of Justices Blackmun and Powell, the U.S. 
Supreme Court denied review of the underlying decision for the want of a substantial federal 
question and that the denial on this basis was a decision on the merits, wherein the decision was 
framed by the petitioner’s jurisdictional statement which presented its first question as to whether 
a total ban on billboards within an entire municipality was constitutional, claiming that this 
disparate treatment of off-premises billboards from on-premises accessory signs was a violation 
of the First Amendment; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast acknowledges that the significance of  Suffolk 
Outdoor is that it was a merits decision that recognized that it is constitutionally permissible to 
distinguish between on-site signs and off-site signs (Billboards) for regulatory purposes, and to 
ban the latter, and that this merits decision has never been overturned, and that it has been recently 
upheld in City of Austin, Texas v. Reagan Nat’l Advert. of Austin, LLC, 142 S.Ct. 1464 (2022); and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines, consistent with the foregoing 
preambles, that the business of outdoor advertising should be a prohibited use in each of the City’s 
zoning districts; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that by confirming in its 
ordinance that noncommercial messages are allowed wherever commercial messages are 
permitted, the City will continue to overcome any constitutional objection that its ordinance 
impermissibly favors commercial speech over noncommercial speech [see Outdoor Systems, Inc. 
v. City of Lenexa, 67 F. Supp. 2d 1231, 1236-1237 (D. Kan. 1999)]; and

28



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 13 of 51

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that the prohibition on 
billboards, as contained herein, continue in effect regardless of the invalidity or unconstitutionality 
of any, or even all, other provisions of the City’s sign regulations, other ordinance code provisions, 
or other laws, for any reason(s) whatsoever; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that it desires to make clear that 
billboards are not a compatible land use within the City and that there can be no good faith reliance 
by any prospective billboard developer under Florida vested rights law in connection with the 
prospective erection or construction of new or additional billboards within the jurisdictional limits 
of the City; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that it is appropriate to allow 
for the display of allowable temporary signage without any prior restraint or permit requirement; 
and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast finds and determines that it is appropriate to prohibit 
direct illumination of the surface of any temporary sign but such prohibition shall not be construed 
to constrain the general illumination of flags and flagpoles unless otherwise expressly prohibited; 
and

WHEREAS, Chapter 12 does not regulate City signs on property owned by the City, 
Flagler County or the State of Florida, and does not regulate Traffic Control Devices; and 

WHEREAS, the City specifically finds that these sign regulations are narrowly tailored to 
achieve the compelling and substantial governmental interests of traffic safety and aesthetics, and 
that there is no other way for the City to further these interests; and 

WHEREAS, the Florida Legislature has recently adopted subsection 22 of Fla. Stat. 
§553.79, which appears to be a content based sign code in violation of Reed v. Gilbert, --U.S.--, 
135 S. Ct. 2218, 192 L. Ed. 2d 236 (2015); but in the interest of avoiding a claim under Fla. Stat. 
§57.112, the sign code is amended to recognize that to the extent of a documented conflict between 
the City sign code and Fla. Stat. §553.79(22), the statute will prevail.

WHEREAS, words with double underlined type shall constitute additions to the original 
text and strike through shall constitute deletions to the original text, and asterisks (* * *) indicate 
that text shall remain unchanged from the language existing prior to adoption of this Ordinance.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINDINGS.  The above 
recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and administrative findings of the 
City Council.  

SECTION 2.  It is hereby ordained by the City of Palm Coast, Florida: that Section 
3.01.06, Uses not permitted in the City, of Chapter 3, Zoning Uses, and Dimensional Standards, 

29



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 14 of 51

of the Unified Land Development Code, City of Palm Coast, Florida, is hereby amended to add a 
use to the list of prohibited uses as follows: 

3.01.06.  Uses not permitted in the city. The following uses may be permitted by a super 
majority vote of the City Council subsequent to an affirmative or negative recommendation 
by the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board. This is due to their potential 
incompatibility with current development trends in the City, their potential deleterious 
effects upon the public health, safety, and welfare, and the potential likelihood that they 
will create nuisances and significant adverse impacts upon adjacent land uses. The list is 
not all-inclusive and other uses found by the Land Use Administrator to be similar in nature 
and character to the listed uses shall also require approval by the City Council in the 
aforementioned manner. 

Asphalt Manufacturing Plants 

Animal Feed Lots and Livestock Operations 

Bottle Clubs 

Business of Outdoor Advertising*

Deep Well Injection of Waste Products 

Dog Farms 

Hog and Poultry Farms 

Incinerator Plants 

Junkyards, Salvage Yards 

Motor Vehicle Race Tracks 

Paper and Pulp Mills

* * *

*The business of outdoor advertising means the business of erecting, operating, using, 
maintaining, leasing, or selling outdoor advertising structures, outdoor advertising signs, or 
outdoor advertisements that are prohibited in this code.

* * *

SECTION 3.  It is hereby ordained by the City of Palm Coast, Florida:  that Chapter 12 – 
Signs and Advertising of the Unified Land Development Code, City of Palm Coast, Florida, is 
hereby amended to read as follows: 

30



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 15 of 51

Chapter 12 - SIGNS AND ADVERTISING 

Sec. 12.01. - Generally. 

12.01.01. Purpose and intent. The purpose of this chapter is to ensure adequate means of 
communication through signage while maintaining the attractive visual appearance within the 
City. This chapter does not regulate content of signage or restrain the free exercise of protected 
speech. By specifying criteria for all signage as stated herein, this chapter is intended to serve the 
following purposes:  

(1)  It is the purpose of this chapter to promote the public health, safety and general welfare 
through reasonable, consistent and non-discriminatory sign standards. The sign regulations in this 
chapter are also designed and intended to meet the statutory requirement that this municipality 
adopt land development regulations that regulate signage, a requirement set forth in F.S. § 
163.3202(f). The sign regulations in this chapter are not intended to censor speech or to regulate 
viewpoints, but instead are intended to regulate the adverse secondary effects of signs. The sign 
regulations are especially intended to address the secondary effects that may adversely impact 
aesthetics and safety. The sign regulations are designed to serve substantial governmental interests 
and, in some cases, compelling governmental interests such as traffic safety and warning signs of 
threats to bodily injury or death. The City specifically finds that these sign regulations are narrowly 
tailored to achieve the compelling and substantial governmental interests of traffic safety and 
aesthetics, and that there is no other way for the City to further these interests. 

This chapter regulates signs, as defined in this Unified Land Development Code, which are 
placed on private property. This chapter is not intended to extend its regulatory regime to objects 
that are not traditionally considered signs for purpose of government regulation. 

The City boundary is depicted on the official zoning map. In order to preserve and promote 
the City as a desirable community in which to live, recreate and do business, a pleasing, visually 
attractive environment is of foremost importance. The regulation of signs within the City is a 
highly contributive means by which to achieve this desired end.

This chapter is intended to serve the following purposes: 

A. Maintain the established suburban character of the City by regulating all exterior signage 
in a manner which promotes low profile signage of high quality design and enhances the 
City's ability to attract sources of economic development and growth; 

B. Protect and maintain the visual integrity of roadway corridors within the City by 
establishing a maximum amount of signage on any site to avoid visual clutter; 

C. Protect motorists from visual distractions, obstructions, and hazards by regulating the 
location of signs; 

D. Enhance the appearance of the physical environment by requiring that signage be 
designed to complement the architecture of the structure which the signage is intended to 
identify, and sited in a manner which is sensitive to the existing natural environment; 

E. Allow signage that satisfies the visibility, identification, and communication needs of the 
local business community; 

31



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 16 of 51

F. Foster civic pride and community spirit by maximizing the positive impact of 
development;

G. Establish procedures and regulations for the construction and maintenance of signs, 
removal of nonconforming signs, variances, and enforcement of these regulations; 

H. Improve pedestrian and traffic safety;
I. Minimize the possible adverse effect of signs on nearby public and private property;
J. Lessen the visual clutter that may otherwise be caused by the proliferation, improper 

placement, illumination, animation, excessive height, and excessive size (area) of signs 
which compete for the attention of pedestrian and vehicular traffic; 

K. Categorize signs based upon the function that they serve and tailor the regulation of signs 
based upon their function; 

LK. Preclude signs from conflicting with the principal permitted use of the site and adjoining 
sites; 

ML.Except to the extent expressly preempted by state or federal law, ensure that signs are 
constructed, installed, and maintained in a safe and satisfactory manner, and protect the 
public from unsafe signs; 

NM.Protect property values by precluding to the maximum extent possible sign-types that 
create a nuisance to the occupancy or use of other properties as a result of their size, 
height, illumination, brightness, or movement; 

ON.Regulate the appearance and design of signs in a manner that promotes and enhances the 
beautification of the City and that complements the natural surroundings in recognition 
of this City's reliance on its natural surroundings and beautification efforts in retaining 
economic advantage for its master plannedcommunity, as well as for its major 
subdivisions, shopping centers, and industrial parks; and

P. Provide the fair and consistent enforcement of these sign regulations;

O. Allow for traffic control devices and government signs without regulation, consistent 
      with state

and national standards, because they promote highway safety and efficiency by providing 
for the orderly movement of road users on streets and highways, and by notifying road 
users of regulations and providing state and nationally consistent warning and guidance 
needed for the safe, uniform and efficient operation of all elements of the traffic stream 
and modes of travel, while regulating private signs to ensure that their size, location and 
other attributes do not impair the effectiveness of such traffic control devices.

P. Enable the fair and consistent enforcement of these sign regulations;
Q. Promote the use of signs that positively contribute to the aesthetics of the community, are 

appropriate in scale to the surrounding buildings and landscape, and advance the City's 
goals of quality development;

R. Provide standards regarding the non-communicative aspects of signs, which are 
consistent with city, county, state and federal law; 

32



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 17 of 51

S. Ensure that the benefits derived from the expenditure of public funds for the improvement 
and beautification of streets, sidewalks, public parks, public rights-of-way, and other 
public places and spaces, are protected by exercising reasonable controls over the 
physical characteristics and structural design of signs. 

T. Ensure that the constitutional guaranteed right of free speech is protected.  Applications 
will be reviewed only with respect to sign structure or placement, excluding any reference 
to message, category, subject, topic or viewpoint.

U. Reduce the Impact of Sign Clutter.  Excessive signage and sign clutter impair legibility 
and undermine the effectiveness of governmental signs, Traffic Control Devices and 
other required signs (such as building, unit or house number signs, street identification 
signs, and building identity signs) that are essential to identifying locations for the 
delivery of emergency services, mail and package delivery, and other compelling 
governmental purposes  The intent of these sign regulations is to enhance the visual 
environment of the City, ensure that City residents and visitors can safely navigate 
through the City to their intended destinations, and promote the continued well-being of 
the City.  It is therefore the purpose of this Chapter to promote aesthetics and the public 
health, safety and general welfare, and assure the adequate provision of light and air 
within the City through reasonable, consistent and nondiscriminatory standards for the 
posting, displaying, erection, use, and maintenance of signs and sign structures that are 
no more restrictive than necessary to achieve these governmental interests. 

V. Except to the extent expressly preempted by state or federal law, ensure that signs are 
constructed, installed and maintained in a safe and satisfactory manner, and protect the 
public from unsafe signs. 

(2)  Where there is conflict between this chapter and other sections of this Code, the most 
restrictive regulations shall apply.

(3)  This chapter does not regulate government signs on government property. 

12.01.02. Applicability. These regulations apply to signs within residential and 
nonresidential areas. Signs shall be erected, placed, established, painted, created, and 
maintained in the City only in conformance with the regulations, procedures, exemptions, and 
other requirements of this chapter and pursuant to City standards and the Florida Building 
Code.

12.01.03. Effect. The effect of this chapter is to prohibit all signs not expressly allowed in 
this Code, except as approved through the variance process established herein and in Chapter 
2.

12.01.04. Definitions. Words and phrases used in this chapter are defined in Chapter 
14 (Glossary).

Sec. 12.02. - Sign Permits. 

33



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 18 of 51

12.02.01. Permit required.

A. It is prohibited and unlawful for any person to erect, construct, alter, or relocate within the 
corporate City, any sign without first obtaining a sign permit, except as otherwise specified in 
this chapter. Applications shall be filed in accordance with City standards.

B. The owner of each sign shall obtain a separate sign permit and shall be compliant with an 
approved signage program as described in Subsection 12.02.02

B.C. When considering the placement of freestanding signs, the Land Use Administrator shall 
consider the location of public utilities, sidewalks, and future street widening.

C.D. The sign permit application shall be reviewed for a determination of whether the 
proposed sign meets the applicable requirements of this section and any applicable zoning law. 
The review of a completed sign permit application shall be completed within ten calendar days.

Sec. 12.03. - Exempt and Prohibited Signs. 

12.03.01. Exemption from permitting signs. The following signs are shall be exempt from 
sign permit requirements; the requirements of this chapter; however they shall meet all other code 
requirements, including applicable construction regulations, and electrical permits as determined 
by the adopted electrical code: 

A. Temporary Signs. For each parcel in multifamily residential district and in a 
nonresidential district, three flags not greater than 24 square feet in sign area (each) may 
be displayed; 

B. One free expression sign four square feet or less in sign area for each parcel within the 
City with the written permission of the property owner;

BC. Signs required by federal or state law;
CD. A sign (except a window sign which shall be subject to the provisions of this section) 

located entirely inside the premises of a building or enclosed space; 
DE. A motor vehicle sign, other than a prohibited vehicle sign or signs, as set forth in 

Subsection 12.03.02; 
F. Traffic-control devices required or allowed by the Florida Department of Transportation 

Traffic Control Manual; 
EG. The change of copy on permitted manually changeable copy signs;
FH. For 911; and emergency response systems, and public safety purposes street address signs 

and residential mailboxes; For each parcel within the City, one attached wall street-
address sign shall be displayed. For parcels in residential use, the street address shall not 
exceed two square feet in sign copy area. For each parcel in nonresidential use, the street 
address sign shall not exceed four square feet in sign copy area. In addition to the street 
address signs, each residence in the City with a freestanding mailbox shall be allowed a 

34



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 19 of 51

sign with the address of the property affixed to the mailbox if the sign is no larger than 
one side of the mailbox. 

GI. For 911 and emergency response systems, signs which identify the occupant. For each 
residence, business or other occupancy within the City, one attached wall sign may be 
displayed. For residences, the occupant identification signs shall not exceed two square 
feet in sign copy area. For any nonresidential use, the occupant identification sign shall 
not exceed four square feet in sign copy area; 

HJ. Machinery and equipment signs. Machinery and equipment signs shall be allowed in all 
districts; and 

K. Temporary window and door signs;
IL. Where a federal, state or local law requires a property owner to post a sign on the owner’s 

property to warn of a danger or to prohibit access to the property either generally or 
specifically, the owner must comply with the federal, state or local law to exercise that 
authority by posting a sign on the property; Warning signs, such as "No Trespassing" and 
"Keep Out" measuring two square feet or less. 

J. Signs protected by state statutes; and 
K. Signs  regulated by state statute. Sign applicants claiming an element of their proposed 

sign is regulated by F.S. § 553.79(22), as may be amended from time to time, must 
include all supporting documentation with their application and a clear and concise 
statement of regulatory applicability for review.

12.03.02. Prohibited signs.  Except as required by state law or otherwise permitted by this 
Article, any sign installed or placed on public property shall be deemed illegal and shall be 
forfeited to the public and subject to confiscation.  In addition to other remedies, the City shall 
have the right to recover damages from the owner or person placing such sign.  It is prohibited and 
unlawful to erect or maintain any sign not specifically authorized by this chapter, including: 

A. Signs that are in violation of the building code or electrical code adopted by the City.; 
B. Any sign that constitutes a traffic hazard or a detriment to traffic safety, as determined by 

accepted engineering standards, by reason of its size, location, movement, content, 
coloring, or intensity of illumination.; 

C. Specifically prohibited are signs using:
1. Signs using lLights or illuminations that flash, move, rotate, blink, flicker, or vary in 

intensity or color and stock tickers, except when required by the Federal Aviation 
Authority; 

2D. Signs using Bare exposed incandescent or LED bulbs in excess of 11 watts; 
3E. Signs that are of such intensity or brilliance as to cause glare or impair the vision of any 

motorist, cyclist, or pedestrian using or entering a public way or that are a hazard or a 
nuisance to occupants of any property because of glare or other characteristics; 

35



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 20 of 51

4F. Pursuant to state law, signs using words and traffic control symbols which interfere with, 
mislead, or confuse traffic, such as "stop", "look", "caution", "danger", "slow", or which 
violate with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD); 

5G. Signs that resemble any official sign or marker erected by any governmental agency or 
that by reason of position, shape, or color, would conflict with the proper functioning of 
any traffic sign or signal, or be of a size, location, movement, color, or illumination that 
may be reasonably confused with or construed as, or conceal, a traffic control device; and

6H. Signs within ten feet of public rights-of-way or 100 feet of traffic control lights that 
contain red or green lights that might be confused with traffic control lights.; 

DI. Nongovernmental sSigns attached to traffic control devices or utility poles.;
EJ. Signs attached to trees.;
FK. Signs made of combustible materials that are attached to or located within 20 feet of fire 

escapes or firefighting equipment.;
GL. Signs that obstruct a fire escape, window, door, or other opening used as a means of 

ventilation, ingress, or egress.;
HM. Any type of balloon signage.;
IN. Signs that incorporate projected images.;
JO. Signs that involve the use of live animals and/or human beings.;
KP. Signs that emit audible sound, odor, or visible matter such as smoke or steam.;
LQ. Signs that contain any lighting or control mechanism that causes unreasonable 

interference with radio, television, or other communication signals.;
MR. Signs that are painted, pasted, or printed on buildings or any curbstone, flagstone, 

pavement, or any portion of any sidewalk or street, except house numbers and traffic 
control signs required by law.; 

NS. Off-site signs;, unless otherwise specifically allowed in this chapter
OT. Banners or signs placed across any public street, park, or property, unless specifically 

permitted in this chapter.;
PU. Private signs erected within any navigable waterway within the City.;
QV.Portable signs, except as provided in this Chapter.;
RW. Roof, marquee, and pole/pylon signs.;
SX. Abandoned signs.;
T. Signs containing statements, words, or pictures of an obscene nature.
UY.Paper, cardboard, chalk, or white-board signs, except as allowed in this chapter.;
VZ. Exposed neon or LED signs.;
WAA. Animated signs, including, flashing, undulating, swinging, rotating, or otherwise 

moving or scrolling signs or other decorations such as banners, pennants, ribbons, 

36



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 21 of 51

spinners, streamers, or captive balloons, or other inflatable signs, or devices designed to 
attract attention unless permitted as a temporary sign.;

XBB. Electronic display type signs, including time and/or temperature signs, or any sign 
displaying any type of screen using animated or scrolling displays, such as a LED (light-
emitting diode) screen or any other type of video display, even if the message is 
stationary; or signs displaying alternating or intermittent lights or lights of changing 
degrees of intensity or changes. Signs that have multiple views and objects that digitally 
or electronically produce color and/or black and white images similar to a television 
screen are prohibited. In addition, signs may not be multivision signs or display devices 
capable of presenting two or more separate images or ad copy sequentially by rotating 
multi-sided cylinders.;

YCC. Any sign or illumination that causes any direct glare into or upon any building, 
other than the building to which the sign may be related.; 

ZDD. A-frame signs, except as provided in this Chapter.;
AAEE. Any sign located within a right-of-way, except as may be allowed by this chapter.;
BBFF. Signs as a principal use in any zoning district, except as may be allowed by this 

chapter.;
CCGG. Snipe signs.;
DDHH. Signs mounted to fences except as permitted in this chapter.;
EEII. Parasite signs.;
FFJJ. Motor vehicle signs or any signs attached thereto or placed thereon subject to the 

following exceptions: 
1. Any vehicle appropriately parked on private property so long as the vehicle is used 

regularly, is only parked while not in use, and is not intentionally parked on the 
private property for the sole purpose of displaying the sign on the vehicle. 

2. Any vehicle appropriately parked in a non-residential area upon which is placed a 
sign, identifying the firm or its principal if such vehicle is one that is operated during 
the normal course of business; provided, however, that no such vehicle shall be 
routinely parked in a location for the purpose of serving as, or constituting, additional 
signage. 

3. Buses, taxicabs, and similar common carrier vehicles that are licensed or certified by 
the City of Palm Coast, Flagler County, other governmental entities, and/or Florida 
Public Service Commission

KK.  Permanent commercial signs on lots without a principal use. 
LL. Pole signs.

Sec. 12.04. – General Sign Provisions for Permanent Signs. 
12.04.01 Calculating sign area. 

37



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 22 of 51

A. In computing sign area, standard geometry formulas for common shapes shall be used. 
Common shapes shall include squares, rectangles, trapezoids, circles, and triangles. In 
the case of irregular shapes, the total sign area will be the area of the smallest common 
shape that encompasses the various components of the sign (see graphic below).

_________[ABOVE PICTURES ARE NEW TEXT TO THE CODE]________________

38



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 23 of 51

B. All words and components of a sign, including the support base of freestanding signs, 
shall be deemed to be part of a single sign. Individual words or components may be 
considered separate signs only if they are obviously disassociated from other components. 
When signs are enclosed in a border (not to include the cabinet) or highlighted by 
background graphics, the perimeter of such border (not to include the cabinet) or 
background will be used to compute sign area. Double face signs that meet the definition 
contained in this chapter shall be considered one sign. 

C. The aggregate sign area of freestanding signs shall not be more than double of the 
proposed sign area, exclusive of the sign area, only to include architectural features. See 
graphics below. 

39



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 24 of 51

D. The allowable size of some freestanding signs is determined based on lot frontage (i.e., 
the width of a site along a public street). The allowable size of some wall signs is 
calculated based on the building frontage (i.e., width of the building façade where the 
public entrance is located). 

12.04.02. Measuring sign height/clearance. 
A. Freestanding sign height shall be measured from the ground elevation at the base of the 

sign to the highest point of the sign structure. The maximum height of permanent 
freestanding signs shall be 7 feet, unless otherwise specified in this code.  Decorative 
column caps may extend up to 12 inches above the maximum height permitted.  

B. The clearance of a projecting sign shall be measured from the bottom of the area to the 
ground below. 

C. The height of a wall sign shall be measured from the grade level of the base of the building 
below the sign to the top of the sign. The top of the area shall be no higher than the roof 
eave line. 

12.04.03. Construction and maintenance requirements. 
A. Except for banners, flags, temporary signs and window signs conforming in all respects 

with the requirements of this Code, all signs shall be constructed of durable materials and 
shall be permanently attached to the ground, a building, or another structure by direct 
attachment to a rigid wall, frame, or structure. 

B. All signs and their supports, braces, guys, and anchors; electrical parts and lighting 
fixtures; and all painted and display areas shall be maintained in good structural condition, 
in compliance with all building and electrical codes and in conformance with this Code 
at all times. Damaged faces or structural members shall be promptly removed or replaced. 

C. Vegetation around, in front of, behind, and at the base of any sign shall be installed and 
maintained and neatly trimmed to conform to City landscape maintenance standards. 

D. All signs shall maintain a minimum clearance from electric power lines of ten feet 
horizontally and 15 feet vertically or as otherwise directed by the utility provider. 

E. No sign structure or framework may be exposed to public view due to by removal of sign 
faces or advertising copy for a period in excess of 15 days. 

12.04.04. Existing signs. 
A. Modifications to signs. Modifications to signs shall not result in a sign that violates the 

requirements of this Code. The modification of sign height or size requires sign permit 
approval. 

B. Permits not required for change of sign copy. No permit or permit fee shall be required 
for changing the copy of a sign, as long as no changes are made to the sign's height, size, 
location, or structure. This exemption shall also apply to any change of copy on a 
changeable copy sign. However, a change in sign color requires approval from the Land 
Use Administrator.  However, a color change to the base of a sign must be aesthetically 
compatible with the associated primary structure. 

40



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 25 of 51

C. Nonconforming signs. Signs lawfully existing prior to the effective date of this Code may 
be continued although their size, location, or other physical attributes do not conform to 
this chapter. 

D. Loss of legal nonconforming status of a sign. A sign loses its legal nonconforming status 
and shall be considered in violation of this Code if one or more of the following occurs: 
1. The sign is structurally altered in any way, including increasing its height, weight, 

width, depth, or enlarging it in any manner, except for normal maintenance or repair, 
which tends to or makes the sign less in compliance with the requirements of this 
chapter than it was before the alteration. 

2. The sign is destroyed to such an extent that more than 60 percent of the upright 
supports of a sign structure are physically damaged such that normal repair practices 
of the industry would call for, in the case of wooden sign structures, replacement of 
the broken supports and, in the case of a metal sign structure, replacement of at least 
25 percent of the length above ground of each broken, bent, or twisted support. A 
sign will not be considered "destroyed" within the meaning of this section where the 
destruction is caused by vandalism or other criminal or tortious act. 

3. Signs determined to be abandoned under the provisions of Subsection 12.04.04.E of 
this section. 

E. Abandonment. All nonconforming signs and sign messages shall be removed by the 
owner or lessee of the premises upon which an on-site sign is located when the business 
it advertises is no longer conducted. Conforming signs shall have the copy area face 
removed and replaced with a blank face. Said signs on vacant or unoccupied property 
must be removed after 30 days. Any sign face which advertises a service no longer 
conducted or product no longer sold upon the property must be removed after 30 days. If 
the owner or lessee fails to remove the sign or sign message, the sign or sign message 
shall be deemed in violation of this Code. 

F. Signs subject to immediate removal. Any sign erected without a required building permit 
is unlawful and must be removed by the owner thereof. 

G. Off-site signs. Existing off-site signs may not be converted to electronic display type 
signs. 

12.04.05. Sign design. Freestanding signs shall be aesthetically compatible with the principal 
structure, shopping center or subdivision. 

12.04.06. Lighting of signs. 
A. Any lighting used to illuminate signs shall be shielded such that the light source cannot 

be seen from abutting roads or properties. 
B. No unshielded light source may be visible from the edge of the public right-of-way at a 

height of three feet. 
C. Sign lighting shall not be designed or located to cause confusion with traffic lights.

41



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 26 of 51

D. Illumination by floodlights or spotlights is permissible if none of the light emitted shines 
directly onto an adjoining property or into the eyes of the motorist using or entering public 
streets. 

E. Illuminated signs shall have luminance no greater than 300 foot candles.
F. Illuminated signs shall not have lighting mechanisms that project more than 18 inches 

perpendicularly from any surface of the sign over public space. 
G. Backlit awnings are prohibited.

12.04.07. Sign location criteria. The following location standards shall apply to all signs, 
unless stated otherwise in this chapter. 

A. Freestanding signs. 
1. Freestanding signs shall only be allowed on sites with a frontage of 50 feet or more.

  2. Unless specifically noted in this chapter, signs shall be located wholly within the 
premises, and shall maintain a minimum setback of ten feet from all property lines. 
However, no sign shall be allowed within an easement not designated to include 
signs, or within a sight triangle. Signs may be allowed within an easement unless it 
is in conflict with the purpose of the easement.

3. No freestanding sign shall be located closer than 15 feet from any other freestanding 
sign, on or off the premises. On corner lots, the freestanding signs on each frontage 
shall be at least 100 feet apart, measured along the rights-of-way. This requirement 
does not apply to temporary signs. 

4. Freestanding signs shall include landscaping around the base of the sign as required 
in Chapter 11. The plant material shall be selected to complement and enhance the 
sign. 

5. Signs in nonresidential districts shall not be located closer than 50 feet from a 
residential zoning district except signs on property where the principal use is allowed 
outright or by special exception in that residential district. advertising uses allowed 
outright or by special exception in that residential district and conforming to the 
section of this chapter relating to that use. 

B. Other signs. 
1. Wall signs shall not exceed 75 percent of the width of the wall where they are placed, 

except if business is occupying more than one unit and no other wall signs will be 
placed on the adjoining unit(s); or if there are architectural elements separating 
facades where signs would be located – on single use or multitenant buildings. 

2. Wall signs shall not cover windows and shall preserve the architectural integrity of 
the building. 

42



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 27 of 51

3. No wall sign shall extend above the roofline except where an exterior parapet wall 
projects above the roofline, in which case, such sign may not extend above the top 
edge of the parapet

4. Wall signs on multistory buildings are allowed above the first floor.
5. Wall signs shall not be allowed within 50 feet of a residential district, if facing a 

residential zoning district, unless it is a mixed use district.  
6. A projecting sign shall be erected only on a wall of a building, and shall not project 

out more than four feet. Projecting signs over a parking space, travel lane, or a 
driveway shall have a minimum clearance from finished grade of 14 feet to the 
bottom of the sign. 

7. Projecting signs that extend over a sidewalk or walkway shall provide a clearance of 
eight feet between the finished grade and the bottom of the sign. 

8. Awning lettering shall be placed on the awning valance and not on the vertical arc or 
diagonal portion of the awning. The awning material may include a design pattern.

9.   Directory signs, for emergency and traffic circulation purposes, may be attached to a
      wall or be freestanding, but shall not be located within 50 10 feet of any public right-
      of-way line. 

12.04.08. Flagpoles. Flagpoles are allowed subject to the following conditions: 
A. Two One flagpoles are is allowed on each parcel parcel/lot having less than 100’ of road 

frontage. Three flagpoles are permitted on lots having 100’ or greater of road frontage in 
the City.

B. Maximum pole height shall be 30 feet in nonresidential districts, and 25 feet in residential 
districts. 

C. All poles shall be ground mounted.

D. All flagpoles shall have a minimum five-foot setback from the property lines.

Sec. 12.05. - Permitted Permanent Signs. 

This section establishes the type, location, and size of signs allowed within residential and 
nonresidential zoned districts. 

12.05.01. Residential zoning districts. 

A. Monument Entrance signs at entrances. Residential subdivisions and residential 
multitenant multifamily developments may erect a development entrance signs 
meeting the following requirements at the entrance to the subdivision or multi-tenant 
development: 

43



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 28 of 51

1. Number of signs. One double-sided freestanding sign or two identical single-
sided signs, one on each side of the entrance, are allowed at each entrance to the 
development (excluding emergency access entrances). 

2. Maximum sign area. The total sign area for each entrance sign shall not exceed 
    32 square feet.  

a. Signs that are combined with a minimum of two architectural 
embellishments, such as decorative walls, artificial rock formations, 
waterfalls, lake/pond mounted signs, signs located on grandiose entrance 
roads or other similar aesthetic features may qualify for an increase of 
signage square footage up to 64 square feet, and increase in height up to 
14 feet, as approved by the land use administrator.

3. Sign location. Entrance signs for subdivisions Signs shall be located on a tract
    or parcel or easement designated for signage purposes. Such tract or parcel 
    shall be owned and maintained by a common property association and shall be 
    located at the entrance of the subdivision. or multitenant complex.

4. Maximum height. Maximum sign height shall be seven feet. See 12.05.01.A.2,a 
    for possible increase in height.

5. Entry features associated with monument signs at entrances to subdivisions.
 a. Accessory structures associated with subdivision entrance signs shall not 

exceed 28 feet in height from the grade of the road.
b.  Fences and walls associated with subdivision entrance features shall compy 
with section 4.01.02.C.

B. Signs for nonresidential uses. Except for those signs and sign-types allowed in 
residential and residentially zoned districts in accordance with Subsection 
12.05.01.A, no additional permanent signs or sign-types shall be allowed for 
permitted nonresidential uses in residential or residentially zoned districts, except for 
the following sign-types: 
1. Freestanding sign. One double-sided freestanding sign meeting the following: 

a. The total sign area shall not exceed 24 square feet.
b. Signs shall not exceed six seven feet in height.

2. Wall sign. Nonresidential uses permitted in residential districts pursuant to Table 
3-2 of the LDC are allowed one wall sign per business. Such sign shall be 
included in the sign area calculation noted in Subsection 12.05.01.B.1. No other 
signs are permitted on the building, except signs to identify the number and 
address of the property, for 911 and emergency response systems and public 
safety purposes. 

44



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 29 of 51

C. Directional signs. Directional signs are allowed in residential districts subject to the 
following requirements: 

1. Directional signs to assist onsite vehicular traffic flow shall be Signs to assist 
onsite traffic must be low-profile signs not to exceed three feet in height above 
grade and four-square feet of surface area, with the legend to be affixed thereon 
to include arrows and the words "enter" or "exit" as appropriate so that public 
safety personnel can easily identify addresses and  to ensure proper traffic flow. 

2. All such directional signs shall be of consistent size, font, and color.

12.05.02. Nonresidential zoning districts. The following regulations shall apply to signs 
within nonresidential zoning districts, however electronic game promotion all signs shall 
also comply with Chapter 16, Article IX, in the City of Palm Coast Code of Ordinances 
and F.S. ch. 166. 

A. Subdivision entrance signs. Monument signs at entrances. 

1. Number of signs. One double-sided freestanding sign or two identical single-
sided freestanding signs, one on each side of the entrance, are allowed at each 
entrance to the development (excluding emergency access entrances). 

2. Maximum sign area. The sign shall only display the name of the subdivision and 
shall not exceed a sign area of 32 square feet per sign. 

3.    Sign location. Entrance signs for subdivisions Signs shall be located on a tract
       or parcel or easement designated for signage purposes. Such tract or parcel
       shall be owned and maintained by a  common property association and shall be 
       located at the entrance of the subdivision. or multitenant complex.

4. Maximum height. Maximum sign height shall be seven feet. A maximum of 12 
inches cap on a column is allowed in addition to the maximum sign height. 

B. Freestanding sign. Freestanding signs are allowed provided they are monument signs 
that meet the following requirements: 
1. Single use developments. 

a. Number of signs. One freestanding sign is allowed per lot frontage facing a 
street. 

b. Maximum sign area. Thirty-two square feet for the first 100 feet of lot 
frontage, plus one square foot for each four lineal feet thereafter, to a 
maximum size of 96 square feet for each sign. 

c. Maximum height. Maximum sign height is seven feet. 
2. Multitenant development. Multitenant developments such as shopping centers, 

mixed use developments, small retail centers, and office parks shall comply with 
the following standards: 

45



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 30 of 51

a. Number of signs. The main development/center and each outparcel may 
have one freestanding sign per frontage on a public street. The main 
development/center sign shall identify the center. Center name may be 
placed in the aggregate sign area of the sign and not counted towards the 
sign area. One additional freestanding sign may be allowed on parcels 
within a shopping center development containing a Mid-Scale Retailer or a 
Large-Scale Retailer and an approved Signage program.

b. Maximum sign area. The maximum sign area permitted for freestanding 
signs for the main development shall be calculated based on the street 
frontage for the entire development site (including outparcels), using the 
formula noted above for single use signs. The total size allowed may be 
divided among the center and the various outparcels fronting the street 
located within the master development site with a development order. The 
development order shall specify how the sign area will be divided amongst 
those qualifying and proposing to use a freestanding sign. Developments 
that do not have outparcels or outparcels that are not part of the development 
order sign criteria shall calculate the maximum sign area using the formula 
noted above as a single use sign. 

c. Maximum height. Maximum sign height shall be seven feet. 
d. Sign plan. 

1. At master site plan application, developments shall include a 
conceptual wall sign plan showing consistency between architectural 
elements, designs, and themes for freestanding, wall, and where 
applicable, directory and directional signs throughout the planned 
development. The conceptual sign plan shall contain sufficient detail to 
address sign pattern, style, color, illumination, and locations(s). To 
encourage flexibility in the overall design of the master site plan 
project, up to 20 percent of total wall sign allowance on the street front 
facade can be transferred to the freestanding sign provided the request 
is depicted in a sign plan, the total size of the freestanding sign does 
not exceed 115 square feet, and is included in the development order. 
All other signs shall be in compliance with Chapter 12 of the LDC. 

2. At site plan application, multitenant developments shall include a sign 
plan for all freestanding, wall, and where applicable, directory and 
directional signs throughout the development that identifies sign style 
and locations consistent with the architectural theme and architectural 
integrity of the proposed building(s). The sign plan shall be compatible 
with other sites within a master site plan development. The sign plan 
shall be part of the site plan development order with approved elevation 
plans and site plan showing the sign locations to include visual details 
of sign patterns, style, illuminations, and landscaping. Signs shall be in 
compliance with Chapter 12 of the LDC. 

46



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 31 of 51

a. Wall signs. Wall signs with similar style sign casings and/or 
framings or architectural designated locations and illuminations 
are encouraged. Wall signs may have minor adjustments in 
location and size due to unit resizing or unit combining, but the 
overall architectural integrity of the building(s) and theme of the 
sign plan shall be maintained. 

b. Freestanding signs. Freestanding signs are to be compatible with 
the proposed architectural design and landscaping. 

C. Wall signs. Wall signs are allowed provided they meet the requirements of 
Subsection 12.04.07 (Sign Location Criteria) and the following requirements: 

1. Maximum sign area. Each individual business having a separate building entrance 
shall be permitted one wall sign per street frontage including awning and 
projecting signs. If the business has a customer entrance on a separate building 
elevation not facing a street, an additional wall sign meeting the maximum sign 
area requirements may be permitted for that elevation. Signs shall be subject to 
the following maximum square footages: 

Table 12-1: Permitted Maximum Wall Sign Area in a Nonresidential District 

Business Frontage (Linear 
Feet) 

Area (Square 
Feet) 

25 or less 32

26—50 50

51—100 75

101—150 90

151—200 110

201 or more 150

 

2. Buildings with shared space and one entrance.  A building with a common 
entrance for multiple tenants may share wall signage with all tenants if the owner 
submits a master signage plan that complies with Table 12-1. The owner may 
share the allocation allotted under Table 12-1 among three separate signs so long 
as the total square footage does not exceed Table 12-1 and meets the 
requirements of 12.04.07.  If the allocation is used for multiple signs, all signs 

47



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 32 of 51

must be consistent with the approved signage plan. Signs must be of same style, 
size, font and color.  

3. Large-scale retailers. Large-scale retailers, as defined in Chapter 14, may have 
one major wall sign and three four minor wall signs. The major wall sign shall 
not exceed the maximum square footage depicted in Table 12-1. The minor wall 
signs shall not exceed 32 24 square feet each. 

4. Mid-Scale Retailers.  Mid-Scale Retailers that are part of a shopping center will 
be allowed a major wall sign and 2 minor wall signs. The major wall sign shall 
not exceed the maximum square footage depicted in Table 12-1.  The minor wall 
signs shall not exceed 24 square feet each. 

3.5. Canopies. No additional sign area is permitted for canopies over fuel operations. 
However, permitted wall sign area for the principal structure or building may be 
transferred to the canopy, as long as the canopy signage is only situated on the 
sides of the canopy facing a right-of-way. This does not apply to required 
signage pertaining to safety or hazardous situations. 

4.6. Window signage. Window signage, including temporary window signs, shall not 
exceed 35 percent of the total glass surface area of any one building elevation. 

D. Directory Signage: Directory signage Permanent directory signs designed to assist 
911 and emergency response systems, pedestrian circulation and traffic circulation 
shall comply with the following requirements: 
1. Sign area for each sign cannot exceed a maximum size of 24 square feet and not 

more than two signs per building. 
2. Maximum sign area of 24 square feet applies to both freestanding and wall signs.
3. If freestanding signs are used, the sign height shall be limited to six feet.
3.4. All directory signs shall be consistent with building aesthetics.

E. Under-canopy sign. Each tenant within a multitenant development shall be allowed 
one under-canopy sign. The under-canopy sign area shall not be counted toward the 
maximum wall sign area allowed. The sign shall display the name of the business 
only. 
1. The sign shall be no larger than six square feet.
2. The sign shall be rigidly supported by a decorative chain or bracket and the 

bottom of the sign shall have minimum clearance of eight feet above the 
sidewalk. 

3. The sign shall be designed aesthetically compatible with the principal structure.
F. Directional signage for Emergency Services Purposes. In addition to the other types 

of signs allowed on a site, directional signs designed to assist 911 and emergency 
response systems and traffic circulation are allowed subject to the following 
requirements: 

48



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 33 of 51

1. Directional signs to assist onsite vehicular traffic flow shall be low-profile signs 
not to exceed three feet in height above grade and four square feet of surface 
area, with the legend to be affixed thereon to include arrows and the words 
"enter" or "exit" as appropriate. 

2. All directional signs shall be of consistent size, font, and color.
G. Flagpoles. Refer to Subsection 12.04.08. 
H. Signs facing drive-through lanes. Drive-through menu board and speakers. Drive-

through restaurants are allowed to display menu boards drive-through lane signs 
subject to the following provisions: 
1. Each restaurant may display up to two freestanding menu compatible signs per 

drive-through, which shall be adjacent to and oriented toward the drive-through 
area. 

2. The sign area  Menu boards may be a maximum of 30 square feet in total, with 
a maximum height of six feet. 

3. If two signs are located side by side, the total sign area may be shared and 
increased to 45 square feet if the Land Use Administrator determines it to be 
preferable from a safety perspective.

4. Supporting ancillary equipment is allowed, such as speakers and order 
confirmation devices.  These devices, when combined with a cabinet, must not 
exceed  the maximum height requirements of the signs. 

I. Wayfinding sign. May only be installed by the City.

  I. Signage program. 
1. At master site plan application, developments shall include a 

conceptual signage program showing consistency between 
architectural elements, designs, and themes for freestanding, wall, and 
all other signs throughout the planned development. The conceptual 
signage program shall contain sufficient detail to address sign pattern, 
style, color, and locations(s). To encourage flexibility in the overall 
design of the master site plan project, up to 20 percent of total wall sign 
allowance on the street front facade can be transferred to the 
freestanding sign provided the request is depicted in a signage program, 
the total size of the freestanding sign does not exceed 115 square feet, 
and is included in the development order. All other signs shall be in 
compliance with Chapter 12 of the LDC. 

2. At site plan application, multitenant developments shall include a 
signage program for all freestanding, wall, and other signs throughout 
the development that identifies sign style and locations consistent with 
the architectural theme and architectural integrity of the proposed 
building(s). The signage program shall be compatible with other sites 
within a master site plan development. The signage program shall be 

49



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 34 of 51

part of the site plan development order with approved elevation plans 
and site plan showing the sign locations to include visual details of sign 
patterns, style, and landscaping. Signs shall be in compliance with 
Chapter 12 of the LDC. 
a. Wall signs. Wall signs with similar style sign casings and/or 

framings or architectural designated locations and illuminations 
are encouraged. Wall signs may have minor adjustments in 
location and size due to unit resizing or unit combining, but the 
overall architectural integrity of the building(s) and theme of the 
sign plan shall be maintained. 

b. Freestanding signs. Freestanding signs are to be compatible with 
the proposed architectural design and landscaping. 

Sec. 12.06. - Temporary Signs. 1 

12.06.01 Temporary Sign Standards.

A.  NON RESIDENTIALLY ZONED PROPERTIES’ TEMPORARY SIGN STANDARDS 
Sign type Number of 

signs
Maximum sign area 
and height 
(The sign areas 
provided are 
cumulative for the 
number of signs 
allowed)

Time Additional 
standards

Commercial 
signs 

One banner 
sign per 
business 
property.

Area: Lots less than 1 
acre – 16 sf
1.1 acres to 10 acres – 32 
sf
More than 10 acres – 48 
sf   
Limited to height of 
building.

Remove after 30 
consecutive days 

1. No more than 
three times per 
year. 
2No permit is 
required.

Non-commercial 
signs

Four per 
business

Area: Lots less than 1 
acre – 16 sf
1.1 acres to 10 acres – 32 
sf
More than 10 acres – 48 
sf   
Limit 7’ in height

If associated with an 
event, remove 15 
calendar days after 
the event.

Setback:
1. 2 ft. from public 
right-of-way.
2. 15 ft. from side 
property lines. 

Signs for parcels 
with active 

Two visible 
from rights-

Area: Lots less than 1 
acre – 16 sf

Remove within 3 
calendar days after 

Setback:

50



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 35 of 51

Site/building 
permits 

of-way 
adjacent to 
lot.

1.1 acres to 10 acres – 32 
sf

More than 10 acres – 48 
sf   

Height: 7 ft max height                    

issuance of a final 
inspection or 
certificate of 
occupancy.

1. 2 ft. from public 
right-of-way.
2. 15 ft. from side 
property lines.
3. Maximum 1 sign 
facing each public 
right of way.
43. Can divide sign 
allowance between 
2 different signs.
 

Signs on property 
being actively 
marketed for 
sale, rent or lease

Two visible 
from rights-
of-way 
adjacent to 
lot.

 Area: Lots less than 1 
acre – 16sf

1.1 acres to 10 acres – 32 
sf

More than 10 acres – 48 
sf   

Height:  7 ft.

Remove within 3 
calendar days after 
sale or lease.

Setback:
1. 2 ft. from public 
right-of-way.
2. 15 ft. from side 
property lines.  

B.  RESIDENTIALLY ZONED PROPERTIES’ TEMPORARY SIGN STANDARDS 
                                                      
Sign Type Number of Signs Maximum Sign 

Area and 
Height
(The sign areas 
provided are 
cumulative for 
the number of 
signs allowed) 

Time Permit 
Requirement
s and 
Additional 
standards

Non-commercial 
signs

Six Area: 6 sf 
Height: 6 ft

If associated with 
an event, remove 
15 calendar days 
after the event.

Signs for parcels 
with active 
site/building 
permits

One per lot Area: Lots less 
than 1 acre – 4 6 
sf
1.1 acres to 10 
acres – 12 sf
More than 10 
acres – 32 sf   

Remove within 3 
calendar days 
after issuance of a 
final inspection or 
certificate of 
completion.

Setback: 
1. 2 ft. from 
public right-
of-way.
2. 15 ft. from 
side property 
lines. 

51



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 36 of 51

Height: 7 ft max                   

Signs on property 
being actively 
marketed for sale, 
rent or lease, 
single family 
zoning.

Area: 6 sf per 
street frontage
Height: 6 ft. 

Signs  on property 
being actively 
marketed for sale, 
rent or lease, 
multi-family 
zoning

 Two visible from rights-of-
way adjacent to lot; one 
additional sign (per property) 
only when the premises are 
available for inspection by the 
prospective buyer or tenant; 
said additional sign shall not 
be larger than 9  sf and may 
only be posted on private 
property with the permission 
of the property owner

Area: 24 sf
Height: 7 ft

Remove within 3 
calendar days of 
sale or lease.

Setback:
1. 2 ft. from 
public right-
of-way.
2. 15 ft. from 
side property 
lines.

Signs on 
properties  with a 
sale on the 
property 

(not defined 
above)

One per street frontage Area: 6 sf
Height: 6 ft 

Max. 2 times per 
year.

Remove within 3 
calendar days 
after the event.

Setback: 
1. 2 ft. from 
public right-
of-way.
2. 15 ft. from 
side property 
lines. 

Footnote 1: However, see  ULDR Sections 4.01.01 and 12.04.07.A.2 prohibiting signs in City 
easements.

12.06.01. Construction site signs. Construction site signs, which may include temporary 
subdivision signs, are permitted for each project as follows: 

A. Number. One general sign per site. 

B. Sign area. The maximum sign square footage for single-family and duplex residential lots 
shall not exceed six square feet. The maximum sign area allowed for other uses is based on 
parcel size as follows: 

Table 12-2: Permitted Construction Sign Area 

Parcel Size Maximum Area 

Less than 1 acre 12 sq. ft.

1.1 acres to 10 acres 32 sq. ft.

More than 10 acres 48 sq. ft

52



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 37 of 51

C. Sign height. Seven feet maximum. 

D. Setback. 

1. A minimum of five feet from property line abutting any street.

2. A minimum of 25 feet from side property lines or equidistant between side property lines. 

E. Duration. Construction site signs shall not be erected prior to the issuance of a building 
permit and shall be removed within three calendar days after issuance of a certificate of 
occupancy. Such signs shall be removed immediately if construction has not begun after 60 
calendar days from issuance of a building permit or if construction is halted thereafter for a 
period of more than 60 calendar days. 

12.06.02. Garage sale signs. Residentially zoned properties may display up to one garage sale 
sign per street frontage. The sign(s) shall not exceed four square feet each and shall be displayed 
on the premises of which the sale is to be held. The sign shall not be located within the rights-of-
way. 

12.06.03. Political signs. Political campaign signs or posters are permitted in all zoning districts 
and shall comply with the following: 

A. Posting of political signs. 

1. Placement of political signs on private property may occur only with the expressed 
consent of the property owner. 

2. It is prohibited and unlawful to place a political sign on or within public rights-of-way or 
public property. 

3. Setback shall be two feet from public rights-of-way and 15 feet from side property lines 
and shall not be located within any sight triangle. 

4. Political signs placed in residential districts shall not exceed six square feet in size and 
shall not exceed five feet in height. 

5. Political signs placed in nonresidential districts shall not exceed 16 square feet in size and 
shall not exceed ten feet in height. 

B. Removal of political signs. 

1. Signs shall be removed within 15 calendar days after the election or referendum to which 
it pertains. 

53



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 38 of 51

2. The removal of all political signs shall be the joint and severally responsibility of the 
owner of the property upon which the sign is placed and the candidate for whom such sign was 
placed. 

12.06.04. Real estate signs. 

A. Number of signs. A maximum of one sign shall be allowed per site frontage, except that 
large parcels with a site frontage of 500 feet or more are allowed a maximum of two signs per 
frontage, at least 250 feet apart. Properties represented by more than one real estate office must 
utilize the same sign. The total sign area, height, and location shall not exceed that permitted 
under Table 12-3. 

B. Sign area. An on-site sale or rental sign that is not illuminated is allowed for each street 
frontage. The sale or rental sign shall comply with the following: 

Table 12-3: Permitted Maximum Real Estate Sign Area 

Type of Zoning District Maximum Sign Area Per Sign 

Single family and duplex residential areas Six sq. ft. per street frontage

Residential areas for buildings with three or more units 16 sq. ft. per street frontage

Nonresidential areas 24 sq. ft. per street frontage

 

C. Sign height. A maximum height of five feet in residential districts and seven feet in 
nonresidential districts is allowed. 

D. Setback. Two feet from public rights-of-way and 15 feet from side property lines. 

12.06.0512.06.02. Model home and sales offices. 

A. A model home is permitted to have one on-site, ground mounted, nonilluminated, 
freestanding sign in accordance with the following dimensional limitations: 

A1. Maximum sign area of 24 square feet.

B2. Maximum height of four feet.

C3. Setback a minimum of two feet from the right-of-way and located outside of the 
sight triangle as defined in Chapter 5. 

54



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 39 of 51

DB. Model homes that front a second right-of-way are permitted to display are allowed to 
have one commercial or non-commercial "open" flag, with a maximum sign area of 24 square 
feet, set back of minimum of two feet from the right-of-way and located outside the sight triangle 
as defined in Chapter 5. that must be located within two feet of the freestanding sign, provided, 
however, that the sign may only be displayed during the model home's hours of operation. 

EC. Model homes are not permitted to have additional permanent or temporary outdoor 
signage. Signage not permitted includes, but is not limited to, temporary signs advertising an 
open house or model home, banners, pennants, streamers, and "A-frame" signs. During hours of 
operation, one “A-Frame” sign may be located on the model home site if in compliance with 
Section 12.06.03. 

12.06.06. Banners/miscellaneous temporary signs. Banners or other miscellaneous temporary 
signs are allowed under the following conditions: 

A. Number of signs. No more than one banner/sign that is not illuminated shall be allowed 
per business frontage and no more than three signs per multitenant center at one time. 

B. Duration. 

1. In conjunction with a grand opening for a new business or use in a nonresidential zoning 
district, the banner/sign may be allowed to remain for a period not to exceed 30 consecutive days 
and must be utilized within the first three months of the new business or use. 

2. In conjunction with seasonal promotions, the sign may be displayed for the duration of 
the sale, as authorized in Subsection 4.19.04. 

3. In conjunction with a special event, the sign may be displayed for the duration of the 
event as authorized by Subsection 4.19.05. The temporary sign or banner may be installed up to 
30 calendar days prior to the event and shall be removed no later than 48 hours following the 
closing of the event. 

4. No more than three permits may be issued for each site per calendar year.

C. Sign area. The maximum sign area shall be 32 square feet per sign, unless as otherwise 
specified in this Code. 

D. Banners. Temporary banners may be allowed upon issuance of a banner permit based on 
guidelines provided by resolution or other action by the City Council. 

E. Temporary municipal and government signs. Temporary signs relating to municipal 
public purposes on City-owned property when installed to assist the public in locating City-
sponsored programs or events shall be allowed. 

55



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 40 of 51

12.06.073. A-frame signs. 
A. Permissible zoning districts. 

1. A-frame signs are permitted in the following all nonresidential zoning districts:
Neighborhood Commercial (COM-1) 

General Commercial (COM-2) 

High Intensity Commercial (COM-3) 

Limited Office (OFC-1) 

General Office (OFC-2) 

2. A-frame signs may be proposed as part of a nonresidential component of a Master 
Planned Development (MPD) District. 

B. Criteria for A-frame signs. 
1. Maximum number allowed. A business with its own separate building entrance is 

allowed no more than one A-frame sign. 
2. Location. 

a. No sign may block a business entrance and/or pedestrian or vehicular traffic. 
Sign placement shall not interfere with the American with Disabilities Act 
(ADA) requirements. 

b. The sign(s) shall not be placed in landscaped areas.
c. The sign(s) shall be located within ten feet of the business entrance which it 

serves but in no event shall the sign be located beyond the width of the business 
frontage. 

d. No A-frame sign shall be secured, tethered, or installed on traffic devices, utility 
equipment, trees, furniture, poles, or any other fixture. 

e. Sign(s) shall be located on the ground/sidewalk.
f. Sign(s) shall not be located within sight triangles or in a manner that obstructs 

visibility to vehicular traffic. 
g. Sign(s) shall be displayed outside only during business hours.

3. Construction and maintenance. 
a. When the adjacent sidewalk is less than six feet in width, the overall dimensions 

shall not exceed two feet wide by three feet in height; when the adjacent 
sidewalk is six feet or greater in width, the overall dimensions shall not exceed 
three feet wide by four feet in height. 

b. No sign shall have moving parts, illumination, or attachments.

56



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 41 of 51

c. The sign shall have no more than two sides and shall be constructed of finished 
all-weather materials. 

d. Sign(s) must be properly anchored (temporarily) or weighted against the wind 
to prevent safety hazards. 

Sec. 12.07. - Variances. 

12.07.01. Review criteria. The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board may grant 
variances from the regulations contained in this Code, in accordance with Chapter 2, and based 
only upon the following criteria: 

A. To permit a setback for a sign that is less than the required setback, or
B. To permit the area or height of a sign to be increased by up to 25 percent of the maximum 

height or area allowed. 
12.07.02. Review findings. The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board may grant 

one of the above two types of variances authorized by this section only if it finds there are special 
physical conditions that: 

A. Are due to the exceptional narrowness, shallowness, shape, or topography of the premises 
on which an activity is located, and 

B. Prevent the activity from earning a reasonable return as compared with other activities in 
the area. 

12.07.03. Scheduling of public hearing. An application for said variance shall be scheduled 
for public hearing within 30 working days of the date the application is deemed complete by the 
City. 
Sec. 12.08. - Appeals to Planning and Land Development Regulation Board. 

12.08.01. Procedure. 
A. Whenever it is alleged that there has been an error in an order, action, decision, 

determination, or requirement by the Land Use Administrator in the enforcement and 
application of any provision contained within this section or any other provision of this 
Code pertaining to sign permits (including any allegation that the Land Use Administrator 
has failed to act within applicable time frames), the aggrieved party may file a written 
appeal with the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board. 

B. The written appeal shall be filed with the Planning and Development Regulation Board 
within 30 calendar days of the date of the alleged error. The written appeal shall describe 
the alleged error and the applicable provisions of the Code pertaining to the Land Use 
Administrator's order, action, decision, determination, requirement, or failure to act. 

C. The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board shall hold a hearing within 45 
calendar days following receipt of the written appeal, not counting the day of the receipt 
and not counting any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday which falls upon the first or the 
45th day after the date of receipt. 

57



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 42 of 51

D. The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board shall render a written decision 
within ten working days following the hearing. 

E. If the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board does not render a decision 
within ten working days following the hearing, the sign permit shall be deemed denied. 

F. Failure to appeal the decision regarding a sign application by the Land Use Administrator 
to the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board shall not be deemed a failure 
to exhaust administrative remedies. The applicant may choose to proceed directly to a 
judicial action once the sign application has been denied by the Land Use Administrator. 

G. If an administrative appeal is filed by the applicant, and the Planning and Land 
Development Regulation Board fails to meet within the prescribed time, the appeal will 
be deemed denied, and the decision of the Land Use Administrator regarding the sign 
application will be deemed a final decision subject to immediate appeal to a court of 
competent jurisdiction. 

H. Once a decision is appealed to the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board, 
the Land Use Administrator shall take no further action on the matter pending the Board's 
decision, except for unsafe signs that present an immediate and serious danger to the 
public, in which case the City may pursue any proper legal remedy available to it. 

I. The Planning and Land Development Regulation Board shall comply with all applicable 
rules of conduct and procedures that pertain to zoning and that are not inconsistent with 
the provisions in this chapter. 

12.08.02. Appellate decisions deemed final, subject to review. The appellate decisions, 
pursuant to Subsection 12.08.01 above, shall be deemed final, subject to judicial review by the 
Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit in and for Flagler County, Florida, filed in accordance 
with the requirements of law, seeking such appropriate remedy as may be available. 
Sec. 12.09. - Substitution of Noncommercial Speech for Commercial Speech. 

Notwithstanding anything contained in this chapter or Code to the contrary, any sign erected 
pursuant to the provisions of this chapter or Code may, at the option of the owner, contain a 
noncommercial message in lieu of a commercial message and the noncommercial copy may be 
substituted at any time in place of the commercial copy. The noncommercial message (copy) may 
occupy the entire sign face or any portion thereof. The sign face may be changed from commercial 
to noncommercial messages, or from one noncommercial message to another noncommercial 
message, as frequently as desired by the owner of the sign, provided that the size, height, setback, 
and other dimensional criteria contained in this chapter and Code have been satisfied. 
Sec. 12.10. - Content Neutrality as to Sign Message (Viewpoint). 

Notwithstanding anything in this chapter or Code to the contrary, no sign or sign structure 
shall be subject to any limitation based upon the content (viewpoint) of the message contained on 
such sign or displayed on such sign structure. 
Sec. 12.11. - Severability. 

58



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 43 of 51

12.11.01. Generally. If any part, section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, sentence, 
phrase, clause, term, or word of this chapter is declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or 
decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, the declaration of such unconstitutionality shall not 
affect any other part, section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, sentence, phrase, clause, term, 
or word of this chapter and Code. 

12.11.02. Severability where less speech results. Without diminishing or limiting in any way 
the declaration of severability set forth above in Section 12.11, or elsewhere in this chapter, this 
Code, or any adopting ordinance, if any part, section subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, 
sentence, phrase, clause, term, or word of this chapter is declared unconstitutional by the valid 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, the declaration of such 
unconstitutionality shall not affect any other part, section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, 
sentence, phrase, clause, term, or word of this chapter or Code, even if such severability would 
result in a situation where there would be less speech, whether by subjecting previously exempt 
signs to permitting or otherwise. 

12.11.03. Severability of provisions pertaining to prohibited signs. Without diminishing or 
limiting in any way the declaration of severability set forth above in Subsection 12.11.01, or 
elsewhere in this chapter, this Code, or any adopting ordinance, if any part, section, subsection, 
paragraph, subparagraph, sentence, phrase, clause, term, or word of this chapter or any other law 
is declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, 
the declaration of such unconstitutionality shall not affect any other part, section, subsection, 
paragraph, subparagraph, sentence, phrase, clause, term, or word of this chapter that pertains to 
prohibited signs, including specifically those signs and sign-types prohibited and not allowed 
under Subsection 12.03.02 of this chapter. Furthermore, if any part, section, subsection, paragraph, 
subparagraph, sentence, phrase, clause, term, or word of this chapter is declared unconstitutional 
by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, the declaration of such 
unconstitutionality shall not affect any other part, section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, 
sentence, phrase, clause, term, or word of this chapter and Code. 

12.11.04. Severability of prohibition on off-site signs. If any part, section, subsection, 
paragraph, subparagraph, sentence, phrase, clause, term, or word of this chapter and/or any other 
Code provisions and/or laws as declared invalid or unconstitutional by the valid judgment or 
decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, the declaration of such unconstitutionality shall not 
affect the prohibition on off-site signs as contained in this chapter and Code. 

SECTION 4.   It is hereby ordained by the City of Palm Coast, Florida: that Section 14.02. 
– Glossary, Chapter 14 – Glossary, of the Unified Land Development Code, City of Palm Coast, 
Florida, is hereby amended to read as follows:    

Sec. 14.02. - Glossary. 

* * *
Commercial message: Any wording, logo, emblem, character, pictograph, trademark, or 
symbol used to represent a firm, organization, entity, product, or service, or other 
representation that, directly or indirectly, names, advertises, or calls attention to a product 

Commented [CR1]:  If we want to add the entire code in, then 
we should add all the definitions relating to signs also, don't you 
think?

Commented [EL2]:  Our working copy did not have Section 
12.07-Variances, and 12.08 Appeals to PLDRB. Not sure why her 
revised copy has these sections. They are not changing...right?
Just went to changes in the Glossary.

59



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 44 of 51

or service. For purposes of Chapter 12, terms such as sale, special, clearance, or other 
words which relate to commercial activity shall be deemed to be commercial messages. 

* * *
Flag means a temporary sign consisting of a piece of cloth, fabric or other non-rigid 
material containing non-commercial speech.

* * *
Mid-Scale Retailers: A large store, such as a department store or supermarket, that is 
prominently located in a commercial shopping center to attract customers who are then 
expected to patronize the other shops in the center. The anchor or large store unit shall 
contain a minimum of 30,000 square feet up to 60,000 square feet. 

* * *
Sign:  Any letters, numbers, symbols, graphics, pictures, or figures, or combination 
thereof that are erected, constructed, placed, or attached on a structure, ground, or body 
which identify, advertise, or direct attention to a product, business, institution, place, 
person, or event, or any other communication and that can be seen from the public right-
of-way or public waterway. When not modified by the terms "structure" or "face", the 
term "sign" shall include all parts of the sign and its supporting structure. Any device, 
fixture, placard or structure, including its component parts, which draws attention to an 
object, product, place, activity, opinion, person, institution, organization, or place of 
business, or which identifies or promotes the interests of any person, and which is to be 
viewed from any public street, road, highway, right-of-way or parking area (collectively 
referred to as a "public area"). For the purposes of these regulations, the term "sign" 
includes all structural members. A sign shall be construed to also include a display surface 
or device containing organized and related elements composed to form a single unit. In 
cases where matter is displayed in a random or unconnected manner without an organized 
relationship between the components, each such component shall be considered to be a 
single sign. The term "sign" for regulatory purposes shall not include signs not visible 
from any street, property, or water body. The definition of sign does not include: 

(1) Signs required or installed by a government agency on private property; 
(2) Notices required to be posted by law or ordinance on private property. 

Sign, A-Frame: A temporary sign that is supported by its own frame forming the cross 
sectional shape of an A.  A type of sign composed of two boards set up in a triangle 
shape hinged along the top. 

Sign, abandoned:

(1) Any sign face which advertises a business no longer conducted or product no 
longer sold. In making the determination that a sign advertises a business no 
longer being conducted, the Land Use Administrator shall consider the existence 

60



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 45 of 51

or absence of a current occupational license, utility service deposit or account, 
use of the premises, and relocation of the business.

(2) Any sign structure that not used for business purposes for over six months and 
that is nonconforming according to existing codes regarding height, setback, or 
sign area.

Signage program: A graphic representation showing a comprehensive detailed 
presentation of all signage proposed for a particular development to include style, color, 
location, size, and material.

Sign, animated: Any sign of which all or any part thereof revolves or moves in any 
fashion whatsoever; and any sign which contains or uses for illumination any light, 
lights or lighting device or devices which change color, flash or alternate, show 
movement or motion, or change the appearance of said sign or any part thereof 
automatically. Animated signs also include electronic, LCD and LED signs if they are 
using movement and change of light to depict action or to create special effects or 
scenes. Also, known as Automatic Electric Changing Signs (ACS). Does not include 
manually changeable copy sign.

Sign area: The area of a sign face (which is also the sign area of a wall or other sign 
with only one face) shall be computed by means of the smallest square, circular, 
rectangle, triangle, or combination thereof that will encompass the extreme limits of the 
writing, representation, emblem, or other display. This includes any material or color 
forming an integral part of the background of the display or used to differentiate the 
sign from the backdrop or structure against which it is placed. The sign area does not 
include any supporting framework, bracing, or decorative fence or wall when such 
fence or wall otherwise meets the LDC and is clearly incidental to the display itself.

Sign area, aggregate: The architectural area around the copy of the sign. The maximum 
aggregated sign area is determined by calculating sign area times two and is exclusive 
of the sign area.

Sign, awning: Any sign consisting of information painted on, sewn on, imprinted on, or 
attached to the surface of an awning or canopy.

Sign, banner: A sign either enclosed or not enclosed in a ridged frame and secured or 

61



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 46 of 51

mounted to allow movement caused by atmosphere. Banners are temporary signs. Flags 
are not banners.

Sign, Changeable copy: A sign or portion thereof designed to accommodate frequent 
message changes composed of characters, letters, or illustrations and that can be changed 
or rearranged manually without altering the face or surface of such sign.

Sign, directional: Any non-commercial sign intended to provide direction for emergency 
services and, including signs that direct traffic onto or within a site, identify restrooms, 
parking areas or spaces, freight entrances, or other facilities for the convenience safety of 
the public and traffic circulation. Includes an informational, wayfinding, or directional 
sign similar to: 
(a)A noncommercial sign located on and relating to an activity on the premises upon 
which the sign is located, that is providing information to or is related or reasonably 
necessary to the movement of pedestrian and vehicular traffic on the premises, and not 
displaying a commercial message, e.g., "entrance," "exit," "caution" and "no 
trespassing", "no parking", "one-way only", and the like;
(b)A noncommercial sign within a development, or at the entrances thereto, showing the 
name(s) and directions to the businesses or tenants within the development or the 
locations of the subdivisions comprising the development, etc.

Sign, directory: A non-commercial sign that provides a listing of the occupants of a 
multitenant center and their suite/building numbers for emergency services purposes and 
to give direction to customers already within the site for the safety of the public, and for 
pedestrian and traffic circulation. Directory signs are not intended to be visible from the 
public right-of-way.

Sign, double faced: A sign with two faces that are no more than three feet apart at their 
closest point, or placed at an angle of 30 degrees or less. Double-faced signs shall be 
considered one sign. 

Sign, Drive-through lane sign: Drive-through lane sign shall mean a sign oriented to 
vehicles utilizing a drive-through lane at an establishment.

Sign, electronic display type: A sign for presentation of information for visual reception, 
acquired, stored, or transmitted in various forms, where the input information is supplied 
as an electric signal, and uses a light source, LED (light emitting diodes), bare electric 
bulbs, luminous tubes, fiber optic, or other combination of light source to create the 
message. In addition, signs that appear protected, or are intermittently or intensely 
illuminated, or of a traveling, scrolling, or sequential light type, or contain, or are 
illuminated, or flashing light.

62



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 47 of 51

Sign, free expression: A sign, not in excess of four square feet in size (area) where the top 
of the sign is not more than three feet off the ground, if freestanding, and communicating 
information or views of concern to the owner of the sign, or containing any other 
noncommercial message that is otherwise lawful. 

Sign, freestanding: A monument sign supported by a sign structure in the ground and that 
is wholly independent of any building, fence, vehicle, or object other than the sign 
structure for support. 

Sign, Government. Government sign shall mean any temporary or permanent non-
commercial sign erected by or on the order of a public official or quasi-public entity at the 
federal, state or local government level.

Sign height: The vertical distance as measured from the finished grade to the highest 
point of the sign structure. Finished grade is the newly established grade at the base of 
the sign after construction of the sign, exclusive of any filling, berming, madding, or 
excavating solely for the purpose of locating the sign.
Sign, identification: A sign that indicates the name and type of business or service, 
residents, or the name of the development located on the site where the sign is located 
including street address, phone number, and graphic of business logo. 

Sign, illuminated: A sign that uses artificial light, either internal or external to the sign 
faces, to draw attention to the sign or otherwise increase its visibility.

Sign, Ingress and egress: Ingress and egress sign shall mean a non-commercial sign at the 
entrance to or exit from a parcel or a building necessary to provide directions for vehicular 
and pedestrian traffic and provide a warning for pedestrian and vehicular traffic safety.

63



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 48 of 51

Sign, machinery and equipment: Graphics and trademarks on vending machines, gas 
pumps, and machinery customarily used outside of buildings. Also, includes signs on 
public works and/or construction equipment (bulldozers and such) that have the 
brand/make of the machinery or equipment.

Sign, marquee: A sign attached to or hung from a marquee that is a permanent 
projecting structure protruding from the entrance of a building wall to provide shelter 
and display advertising.

Sign, manually changeable copy sign: The message on the sign is changed manually 
(without the use of an electric signal) using individual letters, numbers, phrases, or 
symbols. Examples include reader boards with manually changeable letters or 
changeable pictorial panels.

Sign, monument: See Sign, freestanding.Sign, off-site advertising or “outdoor 
advertising”: A nonaccessory (third party) sign identifying, advertising or directing the 
public to a business, merchandise, service, institution, residential area, entertainment or 
activity which is located, sold, rented, based, produced, manufactured, or taking place at 
a location other than on the site on which the sign is located. 

Sign, On-site:  Any commercial sign which directs attention to a commercial or industrial 
occupancy, establishment, commodity, good, product, service or other commercial or 
industrial activity conducted, sold or offered upon the site where the sign is maintained. 
The on-site/off-site distinction applies only to commercial message signs. For purposes of 
Chapter 12, all signs with noncommercial speech messages shall be deemed to be "on-
site," regardless of location.

Sign, parasite: Any sign not exempted by this Code, for which no permit has been 
issued, and which is attached to another sign.

Sign, Permanent: Any sign which is intended to be and is so constructed as to be of lasting and 
enduring condition, remaining unchanged in character, condition (beyond normal wear and 
tear) and position and in a permanent manner affixed to the ground, wall or building.Sign, 

64



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 49 of 51

pole: A freestanding sign, greater than 3 feet in height, supported by a pole, a column, 
or other fabricated support member without any type of secondary support. Pole/pylon 
signs typically provide clear view between the sign and the ground.

Sign, political: Any sign used solely to present information suggesting a candidate's 
suitability for elected public office or presenting an issue to be voted upon in the upcoming 
legally recognized election at the Federal, State, County, or City level or for special 
districts. 

Sign, portable: A sign that has no permanent attachment to a building or to the ground 
by means of a footing including, but not limited to, an A-frame or sandwich board sign; 
a sign with wheels designed to be pulled or towed on a trailer or similar device, pull 
attachments, hot air or gas filled balloons; umbrellas used for advertising; signs 
mounted for advertising purposes on a vehicle that is parked and visible from the public 
right-of-way, sidewalk, or curb.

Sign, projecting: A sign that is wholly or partly dependent upon a building for support 
and that projects horizontally more than 12 inches from such building.

Sign, roof: A sign painted on or affixed to the roof of a building and primarily 
supported by that roof structure, except fascia signs.

Sign, snipe: A sign made of any material which is tacked, nailed, posted, pasted, glued or 
otherwise attached to or placed on public property such as but not limited to a public utility 
pole, a public street sign, a public utility box, a public fire hydrant, a public right-of way, 
public street furniture, or other public property; except for A-frame and T-frame signs that 
are temporarily placed on public property under such limitations and constraints as may 
be set forth in the Land Development Code. Any sign or any material when such sign is 
attached in any way to trees, utility poles, motor vehicles, trailers, waterborne craft, or 
other objects

Sign, temporary: A sign intended for a use not permanent in nature. Unless otherwise 
provided for in this Code, a sign with an intended use for a period of time related to an 
event shall be deemed a temporary sign. A banner and flag shall be deemed temporary 
signs.  A sign erected for two weeks or less to advertise or identify transitory events unless 
specifically permitted for a longer period by this LDC.

* * *

Sign, Temporary Window. Any temporary sign attached to, printed on or made of paper, 
cloth, fabric or similar material and located behind the window.

65



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 50 of 51

Sign, wall: A sign attached to a wall of a building or structure so that the wall forms the 
supporting structure or becomes the background of the sign. For the purpose of Chapter 
12, wall signs include awning and projecting signs.

Sign, wayfinding: A directional sign placed in the public-right-of-way to advertise the 
location of one or more business or facilities in the immediate area.

Sign, window: A sign posted, painted, placed, or affixed in or on the interior or exterior 
of a window/glass door, or placed within three feet of a window/glass door pane, or 
displayed to be visible from the exterior of the building.

* * *
SECTION 5.  NON-CONFORMING SIGNS.  Signs lawfully existing prior to the Effective 

Date of this Ordinance may be continued although their size, location, or other physical attributes do not 
conform to this Ordinance.  These signs will be subject to the City’s non-conforming structure provisions.

SECTION 6. SEVERABILITY.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council 
that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are severable, and if any 
phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall be declared unconstitutional by the 
valid judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality shall not affect 
any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 7. CODIFICATION.  It is the intention of the City Council of the City of Palm Coast, 
Florida, and it is hereby ordained that the provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part 
of the Unified Land Development Code of the City of Palm Coast, Florida; that the Sections of this 
Ordinance may be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention; that the word, “Ordinance” 
may be changed to Section,” “Article,” or other appropriate word.

SECTION 8. CONFLICTS.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this 
Ordinance are hereby repealed.

SECTION 9. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon 
its passage and adoption.

Approved on first reading this _____ day of __________ 2023.

Adopted on second reading after due public notice and hearing this _____ day of __________, 
2023.

66



Draft 12-08-2023

Ordinance 2023-___
Page 51 of 51

CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA 

________________________________
David Alfin, Mayor 

ATTEST:

__________________________________
Kaley Cook, City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

__________________________________
Neysa Borkert.
City Attorney 

67



1

MEMORANDUM

TO: City Council

COPY TO: Denise Bevan, City Manager
Ray Tyner, Deputy Chief Development Officer

FROM: Catherine D. Reischmann, Assistant City Attorney

RE: Sign Code Revisions

DATE: November 30, 2023
______________________________________________________________________________

The Council asked for research on potential liability for allowing unlimited signs in the rights of 
way along the City’s major streets.  First I will provide some cases discussing sign safety rationale, 
and then provide some studies discussing the safety issues involved in sign placement.

1. Lewis v. Searles, 2002 WL 31947782 (D. Ct. Vt. 2002). 

The State of Vermont bans signs within the public row for safety and aesthetics; this ban was 
upheld by the Court.  The Court acknowledged that the only way to deal with visual clutter along 
roads is to ban signs in the ROW. Plaintiff may accomplish the goals of expressing his political 
views and promoting his candidacy by posting signs on the land of willing private property owners, 
placing them on public land that has not been restricted, or by mailings, picketing, distribution of 
bumper stickers, door-to-door canvassing, car signs and handing out leaflets. The right-of-way 
statute does nothing to jeopardize this fair and equal access by discriminating, or providing room 
for discrimination, against any particular party or candidate. It only serves to balance the state’s 
economic and public safety interests with its political ones. The Court has found no reason under 
the Constitution to affect that balance.

2. Constr. & Gen. Laborers' Union No. 330 v. Town of Grand Chute, 915 F.3d 1120 (7th 
Cir. 2019)

Town’s concern about safety and aesthetics, given the town’s sporadic and arbitrary enforcement 
of its prohibition against signs in public rights-of-way, rings hollow. 

3. Selah All. for Equal. v. City of Selah, 1:20-CV-3228-RMP (E.D. Wash. Sep. 8, 2022).

The town prohibits freestanding signs from public property, but historically had allowed what 
Selah considers “true political signs” in public rights-of-way pursuant to an admittedly 
unconstitutional provision of the Code which has yet to be repealed.

Selah’s previous allowance of some freestanding signs in public rights-of-way, but not others, 
conflicts with its stated interest in “eliminating visual blight” and traffic safety: “Once political 
signs are allowed on a temporary basis, ‘it is difficult to imagine how prohibiting political signs at 

68



2

other times significantly promotes highway safety.’ ” (quoting Van v. Travel Info. Council, 52 Or. 
App. 399, 412, 628 P.2d 1217 (Or. Ct. App. 1981)).  Allowing signs some of the time makes it 
difficult to understand how prohibiting them at other times promotes road safety. On public 
property, the Town may go a long way toward entirely forbidding the posting of signs, so long as 
it does so in an evenhanded, content-neutral manner.

The reason the Court accepted for prohibiting signs in the ROW include blight, litter, interference 
with mowing, water and other maintenance, interfering with traffic, and potentially frustrating the 
success of businesses, particularly those located adjacent to parking strips covered in these 
temporary signs.

4. Stauber v. City of Elwood, 3 Kan. App. 2d 341 (1979).

Permitting private parties to erect advertising signs on public property for private profit was not a 
proper exercise of police power by city, where fact that signs gave directions to city’s business 
district and might aid public in locating businesses did not overcome their primary purpose, which 
was to benefit private advertisers and not public who used roadway in vicinity of signs.

Streets are public ways for use by public, and streets are to be free of obstructions or unreasonable 
encroachments to permit safe travel, subject, of course, to reasonable police regulations.

Primary use of right-of-way must be to benefit public and any private use must be incidental to 
public purpose.

As to signs in particular, the City generally may not allow private individuals to post 
advertisements on city streets.

5. McClanahan v. City of Tumwater, 2012 WL 4113383 (W.D. Wa. 2012).

Although the City’s ban on signs in the ROW as a safety hazard may not have allowed 
McClanahan’s political signs “optimum exposure,” the limitation is not substantially broader than 
necessary to reduce the safety hazard that signs in the right-of-way pose. The City has met its 
burden of establishing that the code banning signs in the ROW is narrowly tailored to advance a 
significant government interest, and McClanahan has failed to undermine that conclusion. 

6. Frumer v. Cheltenham Township, 545 F. Supp. 1292 (E.D. Pa. 1982). 

The Town’s prohibition of signs in the ROW is designed to promote traffic safety and community 
aesthetics. Specifically, the Town contends that sign-lined streets detract from the appearance of 
the community, divert the attentions of drivers, and obstruct the driver’s view of traffic and 
pedestrians at intersections. Because common sense dictates that the government interests are 
causally related to the prohibitions of the ordinance, the Court rejected plaintiffs’ challenge. Traffic 
safety and community aesthetics have been held to be significant government interests which can 
justify reasonable time, place, and manner regulations of speech protected by the First 
Amendment. The Court stated:

It is suggested, however, that drivers can avoid visual distractions by merely turning 
away… It cannot be disputed that signs are distracting. Their whole purpose is to call 

69



3

attention to themselves and to the extent that they are successful, a motorist’s powers of 
observation are diverted from those things which he may injure or which may bring injury 
to him. A sign that is large enough to be seen at one glance may also be large enough to 
conceal a hazard. A small sign may get more than a glance just because it needs more 
attention to be understood. Usually, temporary signs rely on the impact of multiple 
exposures to convey their message, proliferating without seeming limit in the process. To 
suggest that one may simply turn away from the impact of temporary signs is to suggest 
that one may do that which the sign-placer has resolved one shall not do. Neither 
pedestrians nor drivers can turn away if there are three or four signs on every pole on both 
sides of the street. To argue that one need not look is to contend one should walk or drive 
carelessly. Furthermore, it cannot be disputed that temporary signs posted on traffic signs 
which either detract attention from them, or worse, conceal them, are hazardous both to 
drivers and pedestrians. Therefore, I find the ordinance promotes significant government 
interests which are causally related to achievement of stated goals.

(The Town) also asserts that temporary signs usually remain posted long after the 
expiration of their usefulness. The temporary signs decay while posted, eventually fall to 
the ground creating a litter problem and, therefore, further detract from the appearance of 
the community. 

The dicta.. that empirical data is necessary to show the relationship between the restriction 
and state interest, is distinguishable from this case. Donnelly involved a restriction on 
posting billboards within six hundred sixty feet of interstate highways. The court concluded 
that the prohibition would have little effect on highway safety. This case is different 
because we are concerned with traffic safety on local streets. There are many more off and 
on street distractions to a driver on local streets than on a highway.

7. Cincinnati Insurance Company v. Keneco Distributors, Inc., 1997 WL 71060 (Oh.10th 
Cir. 1997).

The DOT was sued, along with Keneco, for a sign Keneco placed in the ROW creating a view 
obstruction as the proximate cause of an accident. 

8. Johnson v. City and County of Philadelphia, 665 F.3d 486 (3d Cir. 2011).

The Court held the ban on signs in the ROW promoted public safety and reduced blight.

9. Sandhills Ass’n of Realtors, Inc., v. Village of Pinehurst, 1999 WL 1129624 (M.D.N.C. 
1999).

Real estate signs were banned from public rights-of-way.  The burden was on the Village to show 
that its ordinance serves a substantial interest and that it does so in a reasonable manner. As for 
the interest asserted by the Village, the purpose statement of the “Signs” section of defendant’s 
ordinance explains that the ordinance is aimed at “protecting property values, promoting tourism, 
protecting the public health and safety, and preserving the character and integrity of the community 
and yet not be garish, distasteful or offensive and be compatible with the architectural 
characteristics of the Village.” The Village also argues that the ordinance restricting real estate 

70



4

signs has a public safety purpose in prohibiting signs from the right-of-way. However, it may not 
be ignored that defendant does not ban all signs from the right-of-way as was found permissible 
in  Members of City Council of City of Los Angeles v. Taxpayers for Vincent, 466 U.S. 789, 104 
S.Ct. 2118, 80 L.Ed.2d 772 (1984). The differential treatment given signs in the right-of-way 
makes it difficult to give credence to the stated goal. Without any reason being given, real estate 
signs on the right-of-way are disallowed, but other signs are permitted. Thus, the Court finds that 
public safety is a stated but unfounded goal and does not support the differential treatment given 
real estate signs. 

Sign regulations which address such a small part of a problem or contain exceptions become 
invalid.  Discovery Network at 418, 113 S.Ct. at 1511 (ordinance that addresses too little of a 
problem cannot be justified); Revere National Corporation, Inc. v. Prince George’s County, 819 
F.Supp. 1336, 1343 (D.Md.1993) (too many exceptions). As mentioned earlier, if any further 
evidence of a lack of careful calculation were needed, one has only to look at the public right-of-
way provisions of the ordinance. Some signs, such as real estate signs, are explicitly prohibited 
from being placed on public rights-of-way. The justification given is public safety. Yet, other 
signs, such as 16 square foot, multicolored nonresidential construction signs, and 32 square foot, 
multicolored church banners, are not explicitly restricted from these areas.

10. Chang v. City of New York, 142 A.D.3d 401, (NY: App. Div., 1st Dept. 2016).

It is axiomatic that “[a] municipality has the nondelegable duty of maintaining its roads and 
highways in a reasonably safe condition” …and that liability will flow for injuries that result from 
a breach of that duty. This duty extends to an obligation to “trim growth within the highway’s 
right-of-way to assure visibility of stop signs and other traffic”. Inadequate sight distance caused 
by obstructing foliage will result in municipal liability for negligent roadway maintenance. This 
municipal duty is not excused because the dangerous condition is attributable to the acts and/or 
omissions of the municipality’s contractors. 

Here are some safety studies/articles that discuss the basis of sign placement:

1. FHWA study: https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/research/safety/15027/008.cfm

Under this study, there is an increase in “search time” (the amount of time spent looking at a sign 
to determine what information it contains) as the number of signs along the roadside increases. 
This study measured the difference between one, two, and three signs in this context. The study 
indicates that although it is not clear that the increase in search time represents a distraction, the 
increase in search times should raise concerns regarding driver safety. Federal Highway 
Administration Research and Technology, Information as a Source of Distraction, 
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/research/safety/15027/008.cfm (last visited Nov. 27, 
2023).

The variables of sign location/frequency adequacy (1.128), facility safety management (1.234), 
and integrated installation of road facilities (1.116) were observed to be statistically significant. 
These variables share a common feature—the excessive installation of signs (including traffic 

71



5

safety signs) and sporadic construction of other road facilities (traffic lights, street lights, CCTV, 
etc.) degrade the legibility of guide information and road esthetics and even threaten the safety of 
facilities during abnormal weather conditions, such as typhoons. Addressing such problems is 
challenging because road facilities are managed by different institutions. Nevertheless, different 
types of facilities should be linked and integrated based on policy proposals from higher-level 
institutions and close consultation between management institutions.

2. The Impact of Driver Inattention on Near-Crash/Crash Risk: An Analysis Using the 100-
Car Naturalistic Driving Study Data

April 2006, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation, 
was a major study of driver inattention, primarily involving distractions inside the car, but finding 
that any distraction of over two seconds is a potential cause of crashes and near-crashes. The study 
concludes that total eyes-off-road durations of greater than 2 seconds significantly increase a 
driver’s crash or near crash risk. Eyeglance durations of less than 2 seconds did not significantly 
increase risk relative to normal, baseline driving. Presumably, this means that where it takes longer 
than 2 seconds to read a sign, reading the sign increases the driver’s probability of crashing their 
vehicle or having a near-crash experience.

3. The NHTSA conducted a nationwide survey of crashes involving light passenger vehicles 
from 2005 to 2007 and found that in 4% of crashes the crash was caused by an external distraction 
such as looking at a street sign. Kelly Leone, Taking on Distracted Driving, 
https://highways.dot.gov/public-roads/septemberoctober-2010/taking-distracted-driving (last 
visited Nov. 27, 2023).

4.  In https://nap.nationalacademies.org/read/26550/chapter/12, a professor of civil 
engineering in Australia who proposes that “things such as advertising billboards along highways 
draw the driver’s attention to whatever is being promoted in the ad. But at the same time, they are 
a source of distraction and may instead draw the driver’s attention away from things that are critical 
for safe driving – such as being focused on the road ahead.” The professor also states that “If you 
take your eyes off the road for two seconds, it’s been shown that you double your risk of a collision. 
Any longer than two seconds, and the risk of a crash increases exponentially,” Cecilia Duong, 
Human-centered Design is Key to Reducing Distraction on Roads, 
https://newsroom.unsw.edu.au/news/science-tech/human-centred-design-key-reducing-
distraction-roads (last visited Nov. 27, 2023).

5. In 
https://www.dot.state.oh.us/Divisions/Planning/LocalPrograms/LTAP/Documents/Heights%20a
nd%20Lateral%20Locations%20of%20Traffic%20Signs.pdf?Mobile=1&Source=%2FDivisions
%2FPlanning%2FLocalPrograms%2FLTAP%2F_layouts%2Fmobile%2Fview.aspx%3FList%3
Df40020e4-44bd-4b04-b3ca-5cf4c4511c29%26View%3D95eb6d87-770d-4d22-af4e-
d3317390cde8%26CurrentPage%3D1, it provides that in Ohio, signs should be set at least 6ft from 
the edge of a road shoulder. Ohio Local Technical Assistance Program, Heights and Lateral 
Locations of Traffic Signs, chrome-
extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.dot.state.oh.us/Divisions/Planning/L

72



6

ocalPrograms/LTAP/Documents/Heights%20and%20Lateral%20Locations%20of%20Traffic%2
0Signs.pdf?Mobile=1&Source=%2FDivisions%2FPlanning%2FLocalPrograms%2FLTAP%2F_
layouts%2Fmobile%2Fview.aspx%3FList%3Df40020e4-44bd-4b04-b3ca-
5cf4c4511c29%26View%3D95eb6d87-770d-4d22-af4e-d3317390cde8%26CurrentPage%3D1 
(last visited Nov. 27, 2023).

6. In 
https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=2ef32940558f8b0803e5ae738
053256464d8f550 it provides that “the MUTCD states that traffic signs placed along a roadway 
should have a minimum lateral clearance of 6 feet from the edge of the shoulder.” Manual on 
Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) (FHWA). However in urban areas where lateral offset 
is often limited, offsets are as small as 1 to 2 feet (FHWA 2009).

73



74



fo) '1
lffi JUL 2 8 2023

(}

xh '
Open House Sign ordinance for City of Palm Coast 

Recommended by the Flagler County Association of REALTORS
FCAR recommendations in Black Ink
City’s proposed code amendment/responses in Red Ink (Provided at the September 26, 2023 Stakeholder Mtg.)
Summary of request and response - Highlighted

 
1. One (1) free standing "Open House" sign per street frontage shall be allowed per property. Sign area 

shall not exceed three (3) square feet and shall be placed only upon the property to be sold or leased. 
Sign shall be displayed only when the premises are available for inspection by the prospective buyer or 
tenant.
Amendment proposes for Property being actively marketed for sale or lease: 
(Land Development Code (LDC) Subsection (SS) 12.06.01 Temporary Sign Standards)
-  2 (real estate) signs visible from ROW adjacent to lot 

(Non-Res = 16 SF to 48 SF pending lot size – 7ft high)
(SFR = 6 SF area – 6 ft high) 
(MFR = 24 SF – 7 ft high)

- 1 additional (open house sign) – per property - only when premises are available for inspection by 
buyers/tenants - 9 SF max - posted on private property w. permission of property owner 

  -     Location: Setback: (for all above)
- 2 ft. from public right-of-way.
- 15 ft. from side property lines.  

Request is for one (1) sign per frontage with a 3 SF sign area. 
Proposed amendment allows two (2) per street frontage on the subject property and 1 additional - per 
property - on other lots with owner’s permission.
Proposed amendment also allows larger sign areas.

2. Directional Open House signs, which are exhibited by real estate licensees, shall conform to the 
quantity, size, shape and color restrictions set forth in this Ordinance. Open house signs used by real 
estate licensees must exhibit the name of the brokerage (FREC guidelines). All open house signs must 
be done in a professional manner.
- City does not regulate the content of the sign.
- LDC SS 12.03.02 Prohibits certain materials (Ie. Paper, cardboard, etc.)
Proposed amendment does not regulate the content of the signs, just size and location of the sign(s) as 
provided in number 1 above.

Off-Premises directional signs may be permitted subject to the regulations below:

A. Directional sign size shall not exceed eighteen (18) inches x twenty-four (24) inches.
(Proposing to allow a greater size for the additional sign – 9 SF)
Request is to limit to 18” (1.5’) X 24” (2’) = 3 SF. Proposed amendment allows the additional sign(s) to be 9 sf.

B. The signs shall be made of plastic, steel, or aluminum. The signs' support posts shall also be made of 
aluminum or steel. No wooden posts will be permitted.
- Proposed amendment does not regulate the construction material of the signs. The code currently 

prohibits certain materials as stated above. Ie. Paper, carboard, etc. (LDC SS 12.03.02). This is not 
proposed to change.

Proposed amendment does not regulate this.

BY:

75



·:_/ -

C.  Signs shall not be placed more than two (2) feet in height above the abutting road elevation.
- See no 1 above. (Proposing to allow taller – 6 or 7 ft.
Request is to allow maximum height of two (2) feet. Proposed amendment allows 6 ft (SFR zoning), 7 ft (Non -
Residential or MFR zoning) 

D. The Sign shall exhibit the name of the brokerage; the words "OPEN HOUSE" are permitted. Signs must 
exhibit the Disclosure Notification Sticker/Rider* along with QR Code. Signs will abide by FREC 
guidelines in regard to contact information.
City does not regulate the content of signs.
This is not regulated by the City

E. No more than one (1) directional sign per real estate office shall be placed in each permitted right-a- 
way (FOOT and State locations not permitted). Signs shall not be placed in any median.
- See no 1 above for location criteria.
- Signs are Prohibited in Right of Way LDC SS 12.03.02. EE. (Prohibited Signs) 
- Per the attorney’s presentation at the stakeholder meeting on August 22, 2023, municipalities 

cannot distinguish between types/purpose (content) of signs and are challenged with this issue. 
Therefor all signs are prohibited in the right of way.

Signs are not permitted in the right-of-way. (See attorney’s legal perspective above, and as provided in 
the Agenda Item Executive Summary. City is working on an educational tool to educate Realtors (and 
City staff) on the location of the right-of-way.

F. Signs shall not be attached to any existing signs, trees, utility poles or any other structures.
- Yes – Covered in LDC Subsection 12.03.02. 

City agrees with this. This is not proposed to change.

G. Signs placed in any right-a-way abutting an existing structure(s) shall require the permission of the 
property owner.
- Signs are prohibited in any right of way. (See E above.)
Signs are not permitted in the right-of-way. City is working on an educational tool to assist in 
determining the location of the right of way.

H. The brokerage of the aforementioned sign of the directional signs shall be held responsible for the 
removal of such signs no later than 8:00pm on the evening of the Open House. Any signs in violation 
will be subjected to removal along with the sign being removed and discarded.
- Amendment proposes “...only when the premises are available for inspection by the 

prospective buyer or tenant”.
The amendment allows the signs to be posted only when the premises are available for 
inspection by the buyer or tenant.  

I. Real estate licensees who violate this ordinance shall be levied a fine by FCAR with the proceeds 
benefiting the Flagler Realtors Foundation.
- City staff are obligated to follow the Land Development Code and State Statutes.
City is obligated to follow city codes and state statutes.

*Disclosure Notification Sticker/Rider must be placed on each sign along with QR Code with a required verbiage to be 
determined by FCAR. The verbiage will notify the community of the allotted times whereas the sign can be posted, and a
direct link to FCAR to report this in violation of sign ordinance or past allotted timeframe. :: ., .

P.O. Box 1216 • Bunnell, FL 32110 • Phone: (386) 437-0095 • Fax: (386) 437-6070 :  ..'.•" .,.,,,.,.
www.FlaglerCountyRealtors.com • Email: GAD@FlaglerCountyRealtor.s.co1!';:;, ,. .,,,,.,,,.,...,,,.,,.

76



A
ve

Royal Palms Pkwy

White View Pkwy

C
olbert Ln

Belle Terre\Blvd

S
em

inole W
oods B

lvd

Bunnell

Flagler\County\Airport

Flagler
Beach

Beverly
Beach

Marineland

F
lorida E

ast C
oast R

ailw
ay

Belle Terre P
kw

y

O
ld K

ings R
d

Forest G
rove Dr

P
alm

 H
arb

or Pkwy

Palm Coast Pkwy

Belle Terr e P
kw

yP
i n

e 
La

ke
s 

P
kw

y

Matanzas Woods Pkwy

Club-\house\Dr

F
lorida P

ark D
r

B
elle Terre P

kw
y

O
ld K

ings R
d

O
ld B

rick R
d

Atlantic
Ocean

456713

45671421

£¤1

£¤1

§̈¦95

§̈¦95

FDOT

Sign Code Amendment Map

¯0 1 20.5 Miles
Legend

Palm Coast City Limits Arterial, Minor Arterial,
Major Collector,
Collectors Roads

Default Folder: H:\7.0 GIS\3.0 Projects\Estelle\Drodriguez_2.9 Road map\tickets\2023\sr54191_SignCodeAmendmentMap_Estelle

The City of Palm Coast prepares and uses this map/map data for its own purposes.
This map/map data displays general boundaries and may not be appropriate for site
 specific uses. The City uses data believed to be accurate; however, a degree of error
 is inherent in all maps. This map/map data is distributed AS-IS without warranties of
 any kind, either expressed or implied including, but not limited to, warranties of
suitability to a particular purpose or use. This map/map data is intended for use only
 at the published scale. Detailed on-the-ground surveys and historical analyses of sites
 may differ substantially from this map/map data.

77



A
ve

Royal Palms Pkwy

White View Pkwy

C
olbert Ln

Belle Terre\Blvd

S
em

inole W
oods B

lvd

Bunnell

Flagler\County\Airport

Flagler
Beach

Beverly
Beach

Marineland

F
lorida E

ast C
oast R

ailw
ay

Belle Terre P
kw

y

O
ld K

ings R
d

Forest G
rove Dr

P
alm

 H
arb

or Pkwy

Palm Coast Pkwy

Belle Terr e P
kw

yP
i n

e 
La

ke
s 

P
kw

y

Matanzas Woods Pkwy

Club-\house\Dr

F
lorida P

ark D
r

B
elle Terre P

kw
y

O
ld K

ings R
d

O
ld B

rick R
d

Atlantic
Ocean

456713

45671421

£¤1

£¤1

§̈¦95

§̈¦95

FDOT

Sign Code Amendment ROW Map

¯0 1 20.5 Miles
Legend

Palm Coast City Limits Privately Maintained
ROW

City Maintained ROW

Default Folder: H:\7.0 GIS\3.0 Projects\Estelle\Drodriguez_2.9 Road map\tickets\2023\sr54191_SignCodeAmendmentMap_Estelle

The City of Palm Coast prepares and uses this map/map data for its own purposes.
This map/map data displays general boundaries and may not be appropriate for site
 specific uses. The City uses data believed to be accurate; however, a degree of error
 is inherent in all maps. This map/map data is distributed AS-IS without warranties of
 any kind, either expressed or implied including, but not limited to, warranties of
suitability to a particular purpose or use. This map/map data is intended for use only
 at the published scale. Detailed on-the-ground surveys and historical analyses of sites
 may differ substantially from this map/map data.

78



Proposed Temporary Sign Chart with prior categories in Red Text          Draft Ordinance 12.08.2023

Sec. 12.06. - Temporary Signs. 1 

12.06.01 Temporary Sign Standards.

A.  NON RESIDENTIALLY ZONED PROPERTIES’ TEMPORARY SIGN STANDARDS 

Sign type Number of 
signs

Maximum sign area and 
height 

Time Additional standards

Commercial signs 

(Banners- Grand 
Opening/Going 
out of business)

One banner 
sign per 
property.

Area: 
Lots less than 1 acre – 16 sf

 1.1 acres to 10 acres – 32 sf
More than 10 acres – 48 sf
   
Limited to height of building.

Remove after 30 
consecutive days 

1. No more than 
three times per year. 

Non-commercial 
signs

(Politica – Non-
Commercial 
Special Events)

Four per 
business

Area: 
Lots less than 1 acre – 16 sf

 1.1 acres to 10 acres – 32 sf
More than 10 acres – 48 sf
   
Limit 7’ in height

If associated with an 
event, remove 15 
calendar days after 
the event.

Setback:
1. 2 ft. from public 
right-of-way.
2. 15 ft. from side 
property lines. 

Signs for parcels 
with active 
Site/building 
permits 

(Constructions 
Signs)

Two visible 
from rights-of-
way adjacent 
to lot.

Area: 
Lots less than 1 acre – 16 sf
1.1 acres to 10 acres – 32 sf
More than 10 acres – 48 sf   

Height: 7 ft max height                    

Remove within 3 
calendar days after 
issuance of a final 
inspection or 
certificate of 
occupancy.

Setback:
1. 2 ft. from public 
right-of-way.
2. 15 ft. from side 
property lines.
3. Can divide sign 
allowance between 2 
different signs.
 

Signs on property 
being actively 
marketed for sale, 
rent or lease

(Real Estate)

Two visible 
from rights-of-
way adjacent 
to lot.

Area: 
Lots less than 1 acre – 16 sf
1.1 acres to 10 acres – 32 sf
More than 10 acres – 48 sf   

Height:  7 ft.

Remove within 3 
calendar days after 
sale or lease.

Setback:
1. 2 ft. from public 
right-of-way.
2. 15 ft. from side 
property lines.  

79



Proposed Temporary Sign Chart with prior categories in Red Text          Draft Ordinance 12.08.2023

B.  RESIDENTIALLY ZONED PROPERTIES’ TEMPORARY SIGN STANDARDS 

                                                 
Sign Type

Number of Signs Maximum Sign Area 
and Height 

Time Permit 
Requirements and 
Additional 
standards

Non-commercial 
signs
(Political)

Six Area: 6 sf 
Height: 6 ft

If associated 
with an event, 
remove 15 
calendar days 
after the event.

Signs for parcels 
with active 
site/building 
permits

(Constructions 
Signs)

One per lot Area: Lots less than 1 
acre – 6 sf
1.1 acres to 10 acres – 
12 sf
More than 10 acres – 
32 sf   

Height: 7 ft max                     

Remove within 3 
calendar days 
after issuance of 
a final inspection 
or certificate of 
completion.

Setback: 
1. 2 ft. from public 
right-of-way.
2. 15 ft. from side 
property lines. 

Signs on property 
being actively 
marketed for sale, 
rent or lease, 
single family 
zoning.

(Real Estate Signs 
including Open 
House Signs and 
Model Homes)

Area: 6 sf per street 
frontage
Height: 6 ft. 

Signs  on property 
being actively 
marketed for sale, 
rent or lease, 
multi-family 
zoning

(Real Estate Signs)

 Two visible from rights-
of-way adjacent to lot; 
one additional sign only 
when the premises are 
available for inspection by 
the prospective buyer or 
tenant; said additional 
sign shall not be larger 
than 9  sf and may only be 
posted on private 
property with the 
permission of the 
property owner

Area: 24 sf
Height: 7 ft

Remove within 3 
calendar days of 
sale or lease.

Setback:
1. 2 ft. from public 
right-of-way.
2. 15 ft. from side 
property lines.

Signs on 
properties  with a 
sale on the 
property 
(not defined 
above)
(Garage Sales)

One per street frontage Area: 6 sf
Height: 6 ft 

Max. 2 times per 
year.

Remove within 3 
calendar days 
after the event.

Setback: 
1. 2 ft. from 
public right-of-
way.
2. 15 ft. from side 
property lines. 

80



 
 

THE CITY OF PALM COAST 
160 LAKE AVENUE 

PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

BUSINESS IMPACT ESTIMATE 
PURSUANT TO F.S. 166.041(4) 

 
Meeting Date:  April 2, 2024 
Ordinance Number: 2024-XX  
Posted To Webpage:  January 31, 2024 
 
This Business Impact Estimate is given as it relates to the proposed ordinance titled:  

 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA, 
AMENDING SECTION 3.01.06, USES NOT PERMITTED IN THE 
CITY, CHAPTER 3, ZONING USES, AND DIMENSIONAL 
STANDARDS, OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST LAND 
DEVELOPMENT CODE, TO PROHIBIT OUTDOOR 
ADVERTISING; AMENDING CHAPTER 12, SIGNS AND 
ADVERTISING OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST UNIFIED LAND 
DEVELOPMENT CODE, TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH 
CONSTITUTIONAL AND OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 
AND TO PROVIDE A PURPOSE, INTENT AND SCOPE; 
AMENDING SECTION 14.02 GLOSSARY, OF CHAPTER 14 OF 
THE CITY OF PALM COAST UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT 
CODE TO ADD, DELETE AND RESTATE VARIOUS 
DEFINITIONS; AMENDING CRITERIA RELATED TO THE 
AMENDED  DEFINITIONS; PROVIDING THAT EXISTING NON-
CONFORMING SIGNS MAY BE CONTINUED; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 

The sections below are not required to be completed if the ordinance involves any one of the following types of 
regulations. Please check if applicable:  

__ 1. Ordinances required for compliance with federal or state law or regulation; 

 __ 2. Ordinances relating to the issuance or refinancing of debt;  

81



__ 3. Ordinances relating to the adoption of budgets or budget amendments, including revenue sources necessary to 
fund the budget;  

__ 4. Ordinances required to implement a contract or an agreement, including, but not limited to, any federal, state, 
local, or private grant, or other financial assistance accepted by a municipal government;  

__ 5. Emergency ordinances;  

__ 6. Ordinances relating to procurement; or 

X  7. Ordinances enacted to implement the following:  

X  a. Part II of chapter 163, relating to growth policy, county and municipal planning, and land 
development regulation, including zoning, development orders, development agreements, and development 
permits;  

__ b. Sections 190.005 and 190.046;  

__ c. Section 553.73, relating to the Florida Building Code; or  

__ d. Section 633.202, relating to the Florida Fire Prevention Code.  

Part I. Summary of the proposed ordinance and statement of public purpose:  

(Address the public purpose to be served by the proposed ordinance, such as serving the public health, 
safety, morals, and welfare of the City of Palm Coast.) N/A 

Part II. Estimate of the direct economic impact of the proposed ordinance on private, for-profit businesses in 
the City of Palm Coast:  

(fill out subsections a-c as applicable, if not applicable write “not applicable”)  

(a) Estimate of direct compliance costs that businesses may reasonably incur if the proposed 
ordinance is enacted: N/A 
(b) Identification of any new charges or fee on businesses subject to the proposed ordinance, or for 
which businesses will be financially responsible: N/A 
(c) An estimate of the City of Palm Coast’s regulatory costs, including an estimate of revenues from 
any new charges or fees that will be imposed on businesses to cover such costs. N/A 

Part III. Good faith estimates of the number of businesses likely to be impacted by the ordinance. N/A 

Part IV. Additional Information (if any): N/A 

82



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

   Agenda Date: February 21, 2024

Department COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Amount  
Division PLANNING Account #  

Subject:  THE PROMENADE AT TOWN CENTER TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 3 – 
APPLICATION # 5565

Presenter:  Phong Nguyen, Senior Planner

Attachments: 
1. Staff Report
2. Resolution
3. Distant Map
4. Close-up Map
5. Overall Site Plan
6. Elevations

Background:  
The applicant has submitted a Technical Site Plan application for a mixed-use building 
having a total of 293,043 s.f. of building area and 204 multi-family units. The Promenade at 
Town Center comprises 17.35 +/- acres and is located at the SW corner of Bulldog Drive 
and Central Avenue. The development will be a key component of Town Center as it has 
about 1100 feet of frontage along Central Avenue and about 350 feet of frontage along 
Bulldog Drive. 
The first floor of this building will be utilized for commercial uses and are separated by 
frequent pedestrian or vehicular access points that allow pedestrians to go from the rear 
parking area to retail uses along Central Avenue and Bulldog Drive. Floors two through four 
are for multi-family uses and are connected by enclosed walkways. Since the building area 
is over 100,000 s.f. and/or there are over 100 units it is classified as a Tier 3 Technical Site 
Plan that requires review and recommendation by the Planning and Land Development 
Regulation Board (PLDRB) followed by review and determination by the City Council.  
The subject site is designated “DRI – Urban Core” and “Conservation” on the Future Land 
Use Map and as Town Center PUD on the Zoning Map. The Town Center PUD Land Use 
Map shows the subject property to be Tract 2 of this PUD and designated as “Urban Core”. 
The Urban Core area along Central Avenue is shown as “Main Street” on this PUD Land 
Use Map as it is intended to be developed in a manner that is very walkable and pedestrian 
friendly. Within Policy 1.1.1.1 of the Comprehensive Plan it also states, “With the exception 
of the DRI (Urban Core), which has higher densities and intensities associated with a 
traditional downtown area….”. The intersection of Central Avenue and Bulldog Drive was 
also envisioned to be the epicenter or “four corners” of Main Street. The Promenade at Town 
Center with 67,795 s.f. of commercial uses on the first floor and multi-family units on floors 
two, three and four is what was envisioned at this intersection. 
Public Participation:  This mixed use project does not meet the criteria for the applicant 
having a neighborhood meeting. Additionally, Technical Site Plans, including Tiers 2 and 3, 
do not require newspaper notification or the posting of the orange signs along the project’s 

83



frontage.
Summary of Findings: Planning staff has reviewed this Technical Site Plan in detail and 
determined this infill project will meet all standards of the Comprehensive Plan, the Town 
Center PUD, and the Land Development Code in order to issue a Development Order.

Recommended Action:  
Planning staff recommends the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board find the 
project in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan, the Town Center PUD, and Land 
Development Code; and recommend approval to City Council of the Technical Site Plan Tier 
3 for The Promenade at Town Center, Application No. 5565.

84



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
TECHNICAL SITE PLAN - TIER 3

STAFF REPORT FOR FEBRUARY 21, 2024
PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD

OVERVIEW          
              
Project Name: The Promenade at Town Center
Application Number: AR # 5565
Property Owner: PC Town Center Development II, LLC, Flagler Beach, FL
Applicant/Agent: Randy Hudak, PE, Zev Cohen & Assoc., Inc. Ormond Beach, FL
Size of subject property:       17.35 +/- acres 
Location: Southwest Corner of Bulldog Drive and Central Avenue
Address: 469 Bulldog Drive and 890 Central Avenue                                                                                                                        
Current FLUM designation:  DRI-Urban Core and Conservation
Current Zoning designation: Town Center PUD
Current Use:                        Vacant with existing master drainage stormwater ponds
Parcel ID #:                  06-12-31-5825-00000-001B and 06-12-31-5825-00000-001A           

REQUESTED ACTION

The applicant has submitted a Technical Site Plan application for a mixed-use building having a 
total of 293,043 s.f. of building area and 204 multi-family units. The Promenade at Town Center 
comprises 17.35 +/- acres and is located at the SW corner of Bulldog Drive and Central Avenue. 
The development will be a key component of Town Center as it has about 1100 feet of frontage 
along Central Avenue and about 350 feet of frontage along Bulldog Drive.

The first floor of this building is for commercial uses and sections of it are separated by frequent 
pedestrian or vehicular access points that allow pedestrians to go from the rear parking area to 
retail uses along Central Avenue and Bulldog Drive. Floors two through four are for multi-family 
uses and are connected by enclosed walkways. Since the building area is over 100,000 s.f. 
and/or there are over 100 units it is classified as a Tier 3 Technical Site Plan that requires 
review and recommendation by the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board 
(PLDRB) followed by review and determination by the City Council.  

BACKGROUND/SITE HISTORY

The applicant (PC Town Center Development II, LLC purchased the two tracts on December 14, 
2022.  The eastern tract of 10.06 acres is located at the SW corner of Bulldog Drive and Central 
Avenue and the southern area of the tract has a conservation area and two shared stormwater 
ponds. The western tract is 7.29 acres and is located on the south side of Central Avenue with 
the SW 75% of the site or so as a conservation area with a shared stormwater pond.

LAND USE AND ZONING INFORMATION

85



                                    Application #5565

2

The subject site is designated “DRI – Urban Core” and “Conservation” on the Future Land Use 
Map and as Town Center PUD on the Zoning Map. The Town Center PUD Land Use Map 
shows the subject property to be Tract 2 of this PUD and designated as “Urban Core”. The 
Urban Core area along Central Avenue is shown as “Main Street” on this PUD Land Use Map 
as it is intended to be developed in a manner that is very walkable and pedestrian friendly. 
Within Policy 1.1.1.1 of the Comprehensive Plan it also states, “With the exception of the DRI 
(Urban Core), which has higher densities and intensities associated with a traditional downtown 
area….”. The intersection of Central Avenue and Bulldog Drive was also envisioned to be the 
epicenter or “four corners” of Main Street. The Promenade with 67,795 s.f. of commercial uses 
on the first floor and multi-family units on floors two, three and four is what was envisioned at 
this intersection. 

The following table summarizes the general land use and zoning information:
SURROUNDING ZONING AND FLUM CATEGORIES

Direction FLUM Category Zoning District

North 
DRI – Urban Core with a little 
Conservation to the NW Town Center PUD

East DRI - Urban Core Town Center PUD

South Institutional Public/Semi-Public (PSP)

West Conservation Town Center PUD

SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Site development for the property must be in accordance with the requirements of the Town 
Center PUD, the City of Palm Coast Land Development Code, and the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan.  The following table summarizes the basic development standards and how the proposed 
development project complies with these standards.

SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Criteria (per Urban Core Area of 
Town Center PUD and LDC)

Required Provided

Minimum Development Site Area 1,920 sq. ft. (.044 acres) 17.35 +/- acres
Maximum Impervious Surface Ratio 0.95 0.42
Maximum Floor Area Ratio NA NA
Maximum Building Height 80 feet 50 feet       
Minimum Building Setbacks Front (North):            12 feet

Street Side (East):    12 feet
Interior Side (West):   0 feet
Rear (South):             0 feet

  12 feet
  12 feet
100+ feet
100+ feet

Proposed Parking: Required are 514 spaces 
including 11 ADA spaces

Proposed are 521 
spaces including 
  15 ADA spaces

TECHNICAL SITE PLAN PROCESS

86



                                    Application #5565

3

The Technical Site Plan review application process is specified in Chapter 2, Section 2.11 of the 
Unified Land Development Code (LDC). This review process is intended to ensure that site 
development takes place in an orderly and efficient manner through a process that provides 
adequate review based on the size and complexity of the proposed development. The purpose 
of detailed site plan review is to ensure compliance with all development regulations; therefore, 
the level of detail shall be that of construction plans and technical specifications. The review is 
based not only on conformance to Code, but also conformance with any applicable approved 
master plan or Special Exception. Approval of the construction plans, and technical 
specifications represents the final development order. Therefore, approval of a Technical Site 
Plan Development Order authorizes an applicant to apply for a Site Development Permit to 
commence site work.

The application incorporates a review/approval process coordinated by and through City staff, 
the Planning and Land Development Review Board (PLDRB) and City Council based upon the 
scale of development.  As provided in Table 2-1 of Sec. 2.04 of the LDC, non-residential 
projects with 40,001 to 100,000 square feet of gross floor area require review and approval from 
the PLDRB while projects over 100,000 square feet are heard and recommended by the PLDRB 
and then go to the City Council for final review and determination.

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE CHAPTER 2, SECTION 2.05.05 

Prior to approval of a Development Order for a Technical Site Plan, the proposed project must 
be evaluated for conformance with the requirements of LDC Chapter 2, Section 2.05.05, which 
provides criteria that must be met to issue approval. The proposed project has been evaluated 
against the review criteria as directed by the LDC, which states: When reviewing a development 
order application, the approval authority shall determine whether sufficient factual data was 
presented in order to render a decision. The decision to issue a development order shall be 
based upon the following, including but not limited to:

A. The proposed development must not be in conflict with or contrary to the public 
interest;

Planning Staff Finding: The proposed development is not in conflict with or contrary to the 
public interest, as the site’s specified land uses are consistent with the DRI – Urban Core and 
Conservation designations on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) and with the Town Center PUD 
which will ensure it is not harmful to the public interest. 

B. The proposed development must be consistent with the provisions of the Land 
Development Code and the Comprehensive Plan;

Planning Staff Finding: The request will be consistent with all applicable portions of the LDC 
and the Comprehensive Plan. The following are a selection of goals, policies and objectives 
from the Comprehensive Plan that the project supports:

 Chapter 1, Future Land Use Element: Goal 1.1 – Preserve the character of 
residential communities, prevent urban sprawl and protect open spaces and 
environmental resources, while providing a mix of land uses, housing types, 
services, and job opportunities in mixed use centers and corridors.

 Chapter 1, Future Land Use Element: Objective 1.1.4 Discourage Urban 
Sprawl - Promote compact and contiguous development, a mixture of land uses, 
and discourage urban sprawl.

87



                                    Application #5565

4

 Chapter 1, Future Land Use Element: Policy 1.1.4.1 – The Mixed Use land use 
designation is intended to provide opportunities for residents to work, shop, engage 
in recreational activities, and attend school and religious services in reasonably 
close proximity to residential dwellings.

 Chapter 1, Future Land Use Element: Policy 1.1.4.2 – The Master Planned 
Development (MPD) zoning district shall allow residential housing types to be mixed 
with retail, service, office, commercial and other land uses. Potential areas for 
MPD’s are strategically located throughout the City to promote infill development 
and to maximize vehicular and pedestrian accessibility.

 Chapter 1, Future Land Use Element: Policy 1.1.4.5 - Land use patterns will be 
required to be efficient and not disproportionately increase the cost of providing and 
maintaining public facilities, as well as providing housing and transportation 
strategies that will foster energy conservation.

 Chapter 1, Future Land Use Element: Goal 1.2 – Maintain the community’s 
quality of life through preservation and enhancement of environmental and 
community resources.

 Chapter 1, Future Land Use Element: Objective 1.4.2 – Create Employment 
Centers and Jobs – Encourage the development of employment centers within 
close proximity to housing and transportation corridors to maximize accessibility, 
convenience for residents, and to improve the economic climate.

C. The proposed development must not impose a significant financial liability or 
hardship for the City; 

Planning Staff Findings: The public infrastructure needed to support the project is already in 
place so the City will not incur any expenses or hardships. This project would be considered 
infill development which minimizes the City’s costs on providing infrastructure.

D. The proposed development must not create an unreasonable hazard, or nuisance, or 
constitute a threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s inhabitants;

Planning Staff Finding:  The project will not create any issues that would arise to the level of 
being a hazard or nuisance or a threat to the City’s residents.

E. The proposed development must comply with all other applicable local, state and 
federal laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, or codes;

Planning Staff Finding: The applicant has submitted plans and permit applications as required 
to the various agencies having jurisdiction, and has met all requirements of other applicable 
local, state and federal laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations and codes. Below are summaries 
from fields closely related to planning.

Environmental:  The project has wetlands within the substantial area of the site designated as 
Conservation, but this development has no impacts on those wetlands.

Traffic:  The traffic study was prepared based on 204 multi-family units and 67,795 s.f. of retail. 
Based on the ITE Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition it was expected to generate 5,961 daily 

88



                                    Application #5565

5

trips, 201 AM peak hour trips and 242 PM peak hour trips. All roadway segments and 
intersections within the project’s study area are shown to operate at an accepted LOS with the 
project’s traffic included.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

This project does not meet the criteria for the applicant having a neighborhood meeting. 
Additionally, Technical Site Plans, including Tiers 2 and 3, do not require newspaper notification 
or the posting of the orange signs along the project’s frontage.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Planning staff has reviewed this Technical Site Plan in detail and determined this infill project 
will meet all standards of the Comprehensive Plan, the Town Center PUD and Land 
Development Code in order to issue a Development Order. 

RECOMMENDATION

Planning staff recommends the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board find the 
project in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan, the Town Center PUD, and Land 
Development Code; and recommend approval to City Council of the Technical Site Plan Tier 3 
for The Promenade at Town Center, Application No. 5565.

89



Resolution 2024-____
Page 1 of 2

RESOLUTION 2024-____ 
THE PROMENADE AT TOWN CENTER TECHNICAL SITE PLAN – TIER 3

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA, APPROVING APPLICATION #5565 
HARGROVE LANE INDUSTRIAL TECHNICAL SITE PLAN – TIER 
3; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR IMPLEMENTING ACTIONS AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, on October 12, 2023, Application No. 5565, (hereinafter “the 

application”) was submitted by PC Town Center Development II, LLC to the City of Palm 

Coast Community Development Department for approval of a Technical Site Plan - Tier 3 

for 293,043 sq. ft. of mixed use building area on 17.35 +/- acres of land located at the SW 

corner of Bulldog Drive and Central Avenue; and

WHEREAS, the City staff has reviewed the development proposal and has 

determined that it is in accordance with the codes, ordinances and land development 

regulations of the City; and

WHEREAS, the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board held a public 

hearing on the application at a meeting on February 21, 2024, and determined it is in 

compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code and recommended 

approval to the City Council by a _______ vote; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City of Palm Coast, Flagler 

County, Florida:

SECTION 1.  APPROVAL APPLICATION/FINDINGS.  

 (a). The City Council hereby approves the application for The Promenade at Town 

Center Technical Site Plan – Tier 3 for 293,043 sq. ft. of mixed use building area on 17.35 

+/- acres located at the SW corner of Bulldog Drive and Central Avenue, and hereby 

authorizes the Mayor of the City of Palm Coast to execute the Development Order.

(b). The development approval sought under and pursuant to the application is 

consistent with the City of Palm Coast Comprehensive Plan and development of the property 

will be subject to and consistent with and in compliance with applicable land development 

90



Resolution 2024-____
Page 2 of 2

regulations and all other applicable regulations and ordinances as set forth in the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Palm Coast.

SECTION 2. SEVERABILITY.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City 

Council that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Resolution are 

severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Resolution shall 

be declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, 

sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Resolution.

SECTION 3. CONFLICTS.  All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with 

this Resolution are hereby repealed.

SECTION 4. IMPLEMENTING ACTIONS.  The City Manager, or designee, is 

hereby authorized to take any actions necessary to implement the action taken in this 

Resolution. 

SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective 

immediately upon its passage and adoption.

DULY PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Palm Coast, 

Florida, on this _______th day of _______________, 2024.

CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

ATTEST: DAVID ALFIN, MAYOR

KALEY COOK, CITY CLERK

Approved as to form and legality

JENNIFER NIX, ESQ
CITY ATTORNEY

91



92



93



94



Architectural Elevations 

95



Architectural Elevations 

96



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

   Agenda Date: February 21, 2024

Department COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Amount  
Division PLANNING Account #  

Subject:  OLD KINGS NORTH STORAGE FACILITY, TECHNICAL SITE PLAN - TIER 2, 
APPLICATION # 5566

Presenter:  Estelle Lens, AICP, Planner

Attachments: 
1. Staff Report
2. Development Order
3. Distant Aerial Map
4. Close in Aerial Map
5. Future Land Use Map (FLUM)
6. Zoning Map
7. Site Plan
8. Architectural Elevations
9. Landscape Plan
10. Traffic Statement
11. Environmental Report

Background:  
The applicant has submitted a Technical Site Plan application for a 91,143 square foot (SF), 
three story building, which will provide 619 indoor self-storage units, as well as 146 outdoor 
RV & boat storage spaces. The project is proposed on a vacant 11.87 +/- acre site located at 
57 Old Kings Road (Subject Property), which is located on the west side of Old Kings Road 
approximately 1.3 miles north of Palm Coast Parkway. The project is considered a 
“Moderate” (Tier 2) development, based on the project’s total gross floor area, which 
requires review and approval by the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board 
(PLDRB).  

The site is zoned General Commercial (COM-2). The PLDRB conditionally approved a 
Special Exception for the Subject Property to allow Mini-warehouses, office warehouses and 
self-storage uses, on October 18, 2023.

The PLDRB placed eleven conditions on the approval of the Special Exception. Three were 
satisfied through the Technical Site Plan review process; six are informational and apply to 
the day-to-day operations of the facility and have been included in the notes on the site plan. 
Two items remain as recommended conditions for approval. 

Recommended Action: 
Staff recommends the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board find the project in 
compliance with the Special Exception conditions, the Land Development Code, and the 
Comprehensive Plan; and approve the Technical Site Plan – Tier 2 for Old Kings North 

97



Storage Facility, Application No. 5566, subject to the following conditions:
1. The application for the lot reconfiguration must be completed and approved prior to 

issuance of a site development permit. 

2. The applicant is required to pay into the sidewalk fund $41,650 prior to obtaining a site 
development permit.

98



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
TECHNICAL SITE PLAN - TIER 2

STAFF REPORT FOR FEBRUARY 21, 2024
PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD

OVERVIEW          
              
Project Name: Old Kings North Storage Facility
Application Number: AR # 5566
Property Owner: First African Methodist Episcopal Church of Palm Coast, Inc.
Applicant: Mills, Short & Associates, Wesley Mills
Size of subject property:       11.87 +/- acres 
Location: West side of Old Kings Road approximately 1.3 miles north of 

Palm Coast Parkway
Address: 57 Old Kings Road North                                                                                                                        
Current FLUM designation:  Mixed Use
Current Zoning designation: General Commercial (COM-2) 
Current Use:                        Vacant
Parcel ID #:                  01-11-30-4921-00000-0010 (Portion of)

REQUESTED ACTION

Approval of a Technical Site Plan. The applicant has submitted a Technical Site Plan application 
for a 91,143 square foot (SF), three story building, which will provide 619 indoor self-storage 
units, as well as 146 outdoor RV & boat storage spaces. The project is proposed on a vacant 
11.87 +/- acre site located at 57 Old Kings Road (Subject Property), which is located on the 
west side of Old Kings Road approximately 1.3 miles north of Palm Coast Parkway. 

The project is considered a “Moderate” (Tier 2) development, based on the project’s total gross 
floor area, which requires review and approval by the Planning and Land Development 
Regulation Board (PLDRB).  

BACKGROUND/SITE HISTORY

The subject property was acquired by First African Methodist Episcopal Church of Palm Coast, 
Inc. on June 19, 1997. The project is proposed to be constructed on a portion of parcel number 
01-11-30-4921-00000-0010. (The applicant has applied for a non-statutory lot reconfiguration 
which must be approved prior to issuance of a site development permit.) The project proposes a 
three-story indoor self-storage building (91,143 SF) with 619 storage units and will also provide 
146 outdoor covered RV and Boat storage spaces. The site plan shows the preservation of 1.17 
acres of wetlands. The site will be well buffered from Old Kings Road with the preserved 
wetlands, a large retention pond and drainage area along the northerly half of the property and 
a wide (approximately 70’) forested area along the southerly frontage of Old Kings Road N. 
These features will screen the improvements and storage areas from the residential homes in 
the neighborhood and from motorists driving along Old Kings Road. The applicant is providing 
additional screening of the outdoor storage spaces by providing an eight-foot finished block wall. 

99



Application number 5566

2

Miniwarehouses, Office Warehouses and Self-Storage facilities require approval of a special 
exception in the COM-2 zoning district. The applicant received special exception approval from 
the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board to allow this use at this location on 
October 18, 2023.
 
LAND USE AND ZONING INFORMATION
The Subject Property is designated “Mixed Use” on the Future Land Use Map and is zoned 
General Commercial (COM-2). The following table provides the land use and zoning information 
of the adjacent lands:

SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES

LOCATION FLUM ZONING
North Mixed Use General Commercial (COM-2)
South Mixed Use General Commercial (COM-2) 
East (Across Old Kings 
Road)

Residential Public/Semi Public (PSP) then
Single Family Residential (SFR-3)

West Interstate 95 (N/A) Interstate 95 (N/A)

SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Site development for the property must be in accordance with the requirements of the City of 
Palm Coast Land Development Code (including the COM-2 zoning district), conditions of the 
Special Exception, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  The following table summarizes the 
basic development standards and how the proposed development project complies with these 
standards.

SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Criteria (per COM-2 unless noted) Required Provided
Minimum Development Site Area 20,000 sq. ft. 517,057 sq. ft.
Maximum Impervious Surface Ratio 70% 41%
Maximum Floor Area Ratio 40% 17.6%
Maximum Building Height 100 feet 40 feet         
Minimum Building Setbacks Front (East):              25 feet

Interior Side (North): 10 feet
Interior Side (South): 10 feet
Rear Street (West):   25 feet

All minimum setbacks are 
being met/exceeded

Minimum Parking (per Chapter 5 of 
the LDC ):
2 spaces per 100 storage units 

765 units / 100 = 7.65 x 2 = 
16 total for indoor and 
outdoor storage spaces

16 spaces including 
  6 ADA space
(1 standard and 5 RV 
ADA/handicap spaces) 

100



Application number 5566

3

Minimum Landscape Buffers per 
Chapter 11 of the LDC: 

East along arterial:    25 feet
North:                        10 feet
South:                        10 feet
West along I-95:        25 feet

All are met or exceeded on 
the plans

TECHNICAL SITE PLAN PROCESS
The Technical Site Plan review application process is specified in Chapter 2, Section 2.11 of the 
Unified Land Development Code (LDC). This review process is intended to ensure that site 
development takes place in an orderly and efficient manner through a process that provides 
adequate review based on the size and complexity of the proposed development. The purpose 
of detailed site plan review is to ensure compliance with all development regulations; therefore, 
the level of detail shall be that of construction plans and technical specifications. The review is 
based not only on conformance to Code, but also conformance with any applicable approved 
master plan or Special Exception. Approval of the construction plans and technical 
specifications represents the final development order. Therefore, approval of a Technical Site 
Plan Development Order authorizes an applicant to apply for a site development permit.

The application incorporates a review/approval process coordinated by and through City staff, 
the Planning and Land Development Review Board (PLDRB) and City Council based upon the 
scale of development.  As provided in Table 2-1 of Sec. 2.04 of the LDC, warehouse projects 
with 40,001 to 100,000 square feet of gross floor area are classified as Moderate or Tier 2 
projects, thus the scale of this development requires review and approval from the PLDRB. 

REVIEW OF CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR SPECIAL EXCEPTION

Following are the conditions of approval for the Special Exception – Application number 5439:
1) Provide an application for a lot reconfiguration. This must be completed and approved 

prior to technical site plan approval.
- The applicant has applied for the lot split/reconfiguration and staff recommends 

modifying this condition to allow approval of the technical site plan but prohibit 
issuance of a site development permit until the lot split has been completed. 

Conditions 2-4 were reviewed and found acceptable by the Floodplain Manager:
2) Applicant to provide a revised survey with the Technical Site Plan. (The survey provided 

does not have enough shots to see the extent of the 18' contour associated with the 
Base Flood Elevation.)  

3) Type D FDOT curb will be required along all paved areas that boarder the floodplain to 
protect it from contamination.

4) Applicant is to relocate the 1,060-gallon tank to another location on the property due to 
the proximity to the floodplain. 

Conditions 5 – 10 are informational and are noted on the site plan:
5) Outdoor vehicle storage services are limited to operable boats, automobiles, pickups, 

vans, trailers, and recreational vehicles. Storage services shall not be provided for any 
heavy-duty trucks, semi- tractor trailers, dump trucks, full-size buses, shipping 
containers, or large construction equipment.

101



Application number 5566

4

6) Onsite boat and vehicle repair and maintenance is limited to washing, cleaning, 
detailing, tire changing, battery replacement, and other minor servicing and repairs. 
Recreational vehicles shall not be used for on-site residential use.

7) An onsite business for the sale, leasing or rental of boats, recreational vehicles, trucks, 
trailers, or construction related equipment is prohibited.

8) All vehicles and boats being stored shall be limited to the designated boat/recreational 
storage spaces and shall not extend into or occur within driving lanes or other non-
designated storage areas.

9) A business shall not use storage units for retail display and/or sale of merchandise.
10)No individual business signage shall be visible from the exterior of any storage unit 

except for the storage business itself.

Condition 11 will be satisfied with approval of this request:
11) Approval of a Technical Site Plan, Site Development Permit and all other developmental  

permits required by the Land Development Code.

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE CHAPTER 2, SECTION 2.05.05 

Prior to approval of a Development Order for a Technical Site Plan, the proposed project must 
be evaluated for conformance with the requirements of LDC Chapter 2, Section 2.05.05, which 
provides criteria that must be met to issue approval. The proposed project has been evaluated 
against the review criteria as directed by the LDC, which states: When reviewing a development 
order application, the approval authority shall determine whether sufficient factual data was 
presented in order to render a decision. The decision to issue a development order shall be 
based upon the following, including but not limited to:

A. The proposed development must not be in conflict with or contrary to the public 
interest;
Staff Finding: The proposed self-storage facility is not in conflict with the surrounding 
commercial and institutional uses along the Old Kings Road mixed use corridor. The COM-2 
Zoning District is intended to provide sufficient areas for general commercial and office uses to 
meet community-wide demand for retail, services, businesses, and employment opportunities. 
The site is well situated to serve the surrounding residential communities and storage needs of 
the local businesses, while providing extensive buffering/screening for motorists on Old Kings 
Road and the residential developments to the east. 

B. The proposed development must be consistent with the provisions of the Land 
Development Code and the Comprehensive Plan;

Planning Staff Finding: The request will be consistent with all applicable portions of the LDC 
and the Comprehensive Plan. The following are a selection of goals, policies and objectives 
from the Comprehensive Plan that the project supports:

Chapter 1 Future Land Use Element: 
-Objective 1.1.4 - Promote compact and contiguous development, a mixture of land 
uses, and discourage urban sprawl

102



Application number 5566

5

-Policy 1.1.4.5 – Land use patterns will be required to be efficient and not 
disproportionately increase the cost of providing and maintaining public facilities, as well 
as providing housing and transportation strategies that will foster energy conservation.

Staff Findings: The proposed use is consistent with the range of commercial 
development along the west side of Old Kings Road and will offer nearby residents and 
businesses an opportunity to have storage in close proximity. Public facilities are already 
available at this site and will not need to be extended.
   
-Goal 1.4 – Economic Development – Pursue an economic development program to 
expand (the City’s) economic base and to provide adequate, diverse employment and 
business opportunities.

-Policy 1.4.2.1 The City shall provide an appropriate balance of commercial, retail, office, 
and industrial land uses on the FLUM to balance jobs and housing.

Staff Findings: The site is located on property with a Mixed Use FLUM designation that 
represents existing and future mixed-use corridors and employment centers throughout 
the City.  This designation is intended to provide general retail, professional services and 
offices.  The mixed-use designation also offers opportunities for residents to work, shop, 
and perform a range of daily activities near to home or work within reasonably close 
proximity to residential dwellings.

C. The proposed development must not impose a significant financial liability or 
hardship for the City; 

Planning Staff Findings: The project will not impose a financial liability or hardship for the City. 
The public infrastructure needed to support the project is already in place or close to the site 
and any extensions of utilities will be provided by the developer at the developer’s expense.  

LDC Subsection 5.03.02 requires sidewalks meeting ADA and City standards to be installed 
when the development fronts an arterial or collector street. Due to the future widening of Old 
Kings Road, the applicant is not required to construct a sidewalk along the roadway at this time. 
The applicant is required, however, to pay into the sidewalk fund $41,650 prior to obtaining a 
site development permit. The funds will be used for the sidewalk construction at the time of the 
future road improvements.

D. The proposed development must not create an unreasonable hazard, or nuisance, or 
constitute a threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s inhabitants;

Planning Staff Finding:  The proposed development poses no unreasonable hazard, or 
nuisance, nor does it constitute a threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s 
inhabitants. A self – storage facility is a low intensity use. The Traffic Statement provides that 
this project will generate 34.29 PM Peak Hour Trips, which requires only a Minor Traffic Review, 
as compared to projects that generate 50 or more PM Peak Hour trips which are subject to a 
Major Traffic Review. The applicant has provided, as required, a wider radius and a 75-foot 
taper at the entrances. All improvements will be newly constructed and/or developed in 
compliance with the relevant Land Development Code, Building Code and other review agency 
requirements. 

103



Application number 5566

6

E. The proposed development must comply with all other applicable local, state and 
federal laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, or codes;

Planning Staff Finding: The applicant has submitted plans and permit applications as required 
to the various agencies having jurisdiction and is required to meet all requirements of other 
applicable local, state and federal laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations and codes. There 
were no threatened or endangered species identified on site and the applicant is preserving a 
large wetland area.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

After review and evaluation of the proposed project for compliance with the conditions of the 
Special Exception, the Land Development Code and Comprehensive plan, staff finds that the 
proposed development complies with all such requirements, as conditioned in the 
recommendation.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board find the project in 
compliance with the special exception conditions, the Land Development Code, and the 
Comprehensive Plan; and approve the Technical Site Plan – Tier 2 for Old Kings North Storage 
Facility, Application No. 5566, subject to the following conditions:

1. The application for the lot reconfiguration must be completed and approved prior to 
issuance of a site development permit. 

2. The applicant is required to pay into the sidewalk fund $41,650 prior to obtaining a site 
development permit.

104



Prepared By: Reserved for Recording Information:  
Community Development Department
City of Palm Coast
160 Lake Avenue, Suite 135
Palm Coast, FL 32164           

Return To:
City Clerk
City of Palm Coast
160 Lake Avenue, Suite 225
Palm Coast, FL 32164

CITY OF PALM COAST
TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 2

DEVELOPMENT ORDER APPROVAL
OLD KINGS NORTH STORAGE FACILITY 

On February 21, 2024, the City of Palm Coast issued this Development Order relating to 

and touching and concerning the following described property:

A Parcel of Land Lying in Section 12, Township 11 South. Range 30 East, Flagler County, Florida 

said parcel being a portion of Lots 1-17 of the Vacated Plat of Old Kings Road Professional; Park 

North at Palm Coast as Recorded in Map Book 28, Pg 67 of the Public Records of Flagler County, 

Florida

(The afore described property description has been provided to the City of Palm Coast by the 

owner of the afore described property.)

FINDINGS OF FACT

Property Owner: FIRST AFRICAN METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF PALM COAST
91 OLD KINGS RD N
PALM COAST, FL 32137

Project Name: OLD KINGS NORTH STORAGE FACILITY 
Project No.: 2023050050
Application Type: TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 2
Application No. 5566

105



Requested Development Approval: Site Plan Approval for Mini-Warehouse / Self Storage 
Facilities (in accordance with stamped approved plans) 

Zoning Classification: Commercial 2 (COM-2)
FLUM: Mixed Use
Parcel #'s: (Portion of) 01-11-30-4921-00000-0010
Address #: 57 Old Kings Rd N
Parcel Acreage: 11.87 +/-
Site S.F.: 517,057 +/-

SITE DEVELOPMENT DATA

Building Use:  Mini-Warehouse / Self Storage Facilities
Bldg Height: 40'
Total Bldg Floor Area: 91,143
Number of Bldgs: 1
Number of Floors: 3
Total Units: 619
Parking Provided: Standard Spaces: 15;Accessible Spaces: 1 / RV Spaces: 146; RV 
Accessible: Spaces: 5
RV Parking Square Footage: 80,333
Bicycle Parking Spaces: 2
Impervious Surface Ratio (ISR):41.2%
Floor Area Ratio (FAR): 17.6%
Pervious/Open Space: 58.8%

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
The Development Approval sought is consistent with the City of Palm Coast 

Comprehensive Plan and will be developed consistent with and in compliance to applicable land 

development regulations and all other applicable regulations and ordinances as set forth in the 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Palm Coast.

The Owners have expressly agreed to be bound by and subject to the development 

conditions and commitments stated below and have covenanted and agreed to have such 

conditions and commitments run with, follow, and perpetually burden the afore described property.

106



ORDER

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED AND AGREED THAT:

(1) The afore mentioned application for Development Approval is GRANTED.

(2) All development of the property shall fully comply with all of the codes and 

ordinances in effect in the City of Palm Coast at the time of issuance of a development order 

and/or development permit, including but not limited to, all impact fee ordinances.

(3) Issuance of a Development Permit or Development Order by a municipality does not 

create any right on the part of an applicant to obtain a permit from a state or federal agency and 

does not create any liability on the part of the municipality for issuance of the permit if the 

applicant fails to obtain requisite approvals or fulfill the obligations imposed by a state or federal 

agency or undertakes actions that result in a violation of state or federal law. 

(4) The conditions upon this development approval and the commitment made as to this 

development approval, which have been accepted by and agreed to by the Owner of the property 

is as follows:

Reviewing Department Comments
1. The application for the lot reconfiguration must be completed and approved prior to 

issuance of a site development permit. 

2. The applicant is required to pay into the sidewalk fund $41,650 prior to obtaining a site 
development permit.

(5) This Development Order touches and concerns the afore described property and the 

conditions, commitments and provisions of this Development Order shall perpetually burden, run 

with and follow the said property and be a servitude upon and binding upon said property unless 

released in whole or in part  by action of the City of Palm Coast by virtue of a document of equal 

dignity herewith.  The Owners have expressly covenanted and agreed to this provision and all 

other terms and provisions of this Development Order.

(6) The terms and provisions of this Order are not severable and in the event any 

portion of this Development Order shall be found to be invalid or illegal then the entire 

Development Order shall be null and void.

(7) The Development Order shall remain valid for a period of twelve (12) months from 

107



the date of issuance. If construction has not commenced or is not continuing in good faith to 

conclusion during this valid period, this Development Order will expire. The Development Order 

may be extended, upon request, during the period of three (3) months before the expiration of the 

valid period. Staff may approve an extension not to exceed twelve (12) months. A maximum of 

three (3) extensions may be granted provided the development has a valid Certificate of 

Concurrency.

(8)  No construction of any TYPE shall commence until a mandatory 
pre-construction meeting has been conducted with City Staff. 

(9) Utility fees and applicable agreements shall be executed prior to issuance of a 
Site Development permit.

(10) All required federal, state, county, and/or local permits shall be acquired prior to 

construction.

(11) All projects located in Special Flood Hazard Area “A” or “AE” zone(s) shall meet 

Chapter 10.02, Unified Land Development Code and Chapter 15, Code of Ordinances regarding 

Flood Damage Protection regulations.  These building(s) and associated utilities will require 

elevation certificates at all three stages (construction drawing, building under construction and final 

construction) at building permit.  

(12) This Development Order satisfies the concurrency requirements for transportation, 

parks & recreation and fire. This Development Order is limited to the land uses and associated 

development as listed below:

Description: Mini Warehouse; Unit Amount: 91,143 SF

Description: Self Storage for RV: Unit Amount: 80,333 SF

Concurrency shall remain valid with the life of this Development Order. 

Done and Ordered on the date first written above.

As approved and authorized for execution by the 
Planning and Land Development Regulation Board of the City of Palm Coast, at their 
regularly scheduled meeting of February 21, 2024.

108



Attest: City of Palm Coast, Florida

_________________________________ _________________________________

Irene Schaefer, Recording Secretary Clint Smith, Chairperson

_____Sign and Return

_____Sign and Record

109



Development Order Affidavit
OWNER'S CONSENT AND COVENANT:

Project Name: OLD KINGS NORTH STORAGE FACILITY 
Application Type: TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 2
Application No.: 5566

COMES NOW, FIRST AFRICAN METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF PALM COAST, the 

Owner on behalf of itself and its successors, assigns and transferees of any nature, whatsoever, and 

consents to and agrees with the covenants to perform and fully abide by the provisions, terms, and 

conditions, and commitments set forth in this Development Order. Affiant states that he/she accepts the 

findings, as outlined in this Development Order, and further states that he/she has neither paid nor 

promised any person, firm or corporation any discount, rebate, commission, or refund for the purpose of 

securing the said Development Order for OLD KINGS NORTH STORAGE FACILITY :

FIRST AFRICAN METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF PALM COAST
91 OLD KINGS RD N
PALM COAST, FL 32137

_________________________________

Authorized Signer

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF ___________________
COUNTY OF _________________

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me, by means of _ physical presence or  

_ online notarization, this _____ day of _________________, 2024 by ___________________________ of 

FIRST AFRICAN METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF PALM COAST who is personally known to me 

or has produced  ______________ (type of identification) as identification and did/did not take an oath.

WITNESS my hand and official seal in the County and State last aforesaid this _____ day of 

________________________, 2024.

_______________________________

Notary Public

110



111



112



113



114



S 25°37'42" E  1060.20'

S 
64

°2
2'

18
" W

  4
79

.8
5'

N 29°43'07" W  1579.02'

N
 6

4°
22

'1
5"

 E
   

   
58

4.
56

'

10' DRAINAGE & UTILITY EASEMENT
(ORB 686 PG. 272 & ORB 2098, PG. 516)

FLOOD LINE PER FEMA MAP

EX.36" CMP (INVERT EL. = 16.03)

EX. FIRE HYDRANT
(No. 1)

EX.36" CMP (INVERT EL. = 15.67)

EX. FIRE HYDRANT(No. 3)

PROPOSED 3-STORY
STORAGE FACILITY
91,143 S.F. GROSS

30,381 S.F. PER FLOOR
F.F.E. = 23.50

RETENTION AREA
±77,609 S.F.

PROP. COVERED
RV PARKING

PROP. COVERED
RV PARKING

PROP. COVERED
RV PARKING

ZONE X

ZONE AE

ZONE AE

EDGE OF PAVEMENT

CENTERLINE IN FIELD

ZONE X

PR
O

P.
 C

O
VE

R
ED

R
V 

PA
R

KI
N

G

PR
O

P.
 C

O
VE

R
ED

R
V 

PA
R

KI
N

G

PROP. COVERED
RV PARKING

9.55.0

35.0

13
.9

13.9

13.9

35.0

25' B.S.

10
' B

.S
. /

 L
.B

.

25' B.S.

10
' B

.S
.

10.0'
U&D ESMT

WETLAND DELINEATION LINE

PROP. LIMITS OF FILL

WETLAND DELINEATION LINE

PROP. LIMITS OF FILL

A

B
A

B

C

D

E E

F

F

G

H

I

I

I

Q

I

I
I

I

J

K

L

L

L

L

I

I

REQ'D 25' WETLAND BUFFER
REQ'D =15,403 S.F.

PROVIDED = 15,403 S.F.

PROP. LIMITS OF FILL

2 20

18

18

15

3

23

16

77

PROP. LIMITS OF FILL

8.
0

ZO
N

IN
G

: C
O

M
-2

FL
U

: M
IX

ED

ZO
N

IN
G

: C
O

M
-2

FL
U

: M
IX

ED

ZONING: PSP

G

5.0

ROOF MOUNTED MECH.
UNITS

R50.0'

92.4

52.013.4

H

81.0

38.5

30.0

20.0

9.5

20.0

12.0

30
.0

30.0

28.0

30.0

35.0

30.0

52.0

35.0

35.0
35.0

46.2

40
.4

40.4

13.9

35.0

35.0

35.0

46.2

13.935.0
12.0

5.0

68.2

30.0

R50.0'R50.0'

R50.0'

25.0' TYPE "G"
LANDSCAPE BUFFER

10
.0

' T
YP

E 
"C

" L
AN

D
SC

AP
E 

BU
FF

ER

25.0
TYPE "G"

LANDSCAPE BUFFER

10
.0

' T
YP

E 
"C

" L
AN

D
SC

AP
E 

BU
FF

ER

R25'

R10'R25'

R25'

14
1.

6

44.7

15

16

2

13
1'

-4
"

231'-4"

M

N

N

L

41.0

10.4

5.
0

5.0

46.2

12.0 12.0

5.
0

5.
0

5.
0

J

O

14
.0

14
.0

O

P

P

P

P

P

P

Q

D
R

O
P 

C
U

R
B 

L=
12

9.
8'

DROP CURB L=94.2' DROP CURB L=94.2'

D
R

O
P 

C
U

R
B 

L=
12

9.
8'

14.914.9

30.0

TO REMAIN NATURAL

R

R

J

C-1A

SI
TE

 P
LA

N

1"
=4

0'
JW

M
JW

M

GENERAL NOTES
1. PARKING STALL WIDTHS SHALL BE DIMENTIONED FROM CENTERLINE TO

CENTERLINE OF WHITE STRIPES. THIS APPLIES TO HANDICAP PARKING STALLS
ALSO.

2. ALL PARKING SPACES WITH EXCEPTION OF THE HANDICAPPED PARKING SPACES
SHALL BE STRIPED IN WHITE, RETRO-REFLECTIVE TRAFFIC PAINT AND BE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (FDOT)
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR ROAD & BRIDGE CONSTRUCTION, CURRENT
EDITION, SECTION 710.

3. ALL HANDICAP PARKING SPACES SHALL BE PROPERLY SIGNED AND STRIPED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE FDOT STANDARD INDEX 711-001, CURRENT EDITION.

4. ALL NUISANCE EXOTIC VEGETATION EXISTING ONSITE MUST BE REMOVED IN
CONJUNCTION WITH SITE DEVELOPMENT.

5. ALL SOLID, NON-BREAKAWAY OBJECTS (GATE POSTS, BOLLARDS, STREET POLES,
ETC.) ALONGSIDE INTERIOR STREETS AND DRIVING AISLES WITH A DESIGN SPEED
OF 25MPH OR LESS, THE MINIMUM CLEAR ZONE IS 2.5 FEET FROM THE FACE OF THE
CURB (TYPE D OR F), OR 6 FEET FROM THE EDGE OF THE  TRAVEL LANE, BOTH
PUBLIC AND PRIVATE.

6. AS-BUILT IRRIGATION PLANS (SIGNED AND SEALED) REQUIRED FROM THE PROJECT
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

PROJECTED CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE:
COMMENCEMENT  JULY 2023
COMPLETION  JULY 2024

TRAFFIC NOTES
1. THERE SHALL BE NO EXCAVATIONS LEFT OPEN AFTER DARK.
2. ALL CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS SHALL BE STORED A MINIMUM OF 15 FEET FROM THE

EDGE OF PAVEMENT AND SHALL BE PROTECTED BY TYPE II BARRICADES.
3. CONSTRUCTION FENCING USED IN THE WORK AREA TO PROTECT EQUIPMENT OR EXCAVATIONS SHALL

NOT BLOCK SIGHT DISTANCE NEAR INTERSECTIONS OR DRIVEWAYS..
4. ALL IMPACTS TO THE RIGHT-OF-WAY SHALL BE SODDED WITHIN THREE (3) DAYS OF FINAL GRADING

FI
LE

:
D

AT
E:

TI
M

E:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
 B

Y
C

H
EC

KE
D

 B
Y

DATE

SHEET NO.

PROJ. NO.

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

TH
IS

 S
H

EE
T

C
:\U

se
rs

\w
de

pe
tri

s\
M

ills
, S

ho
rt 

& 
As

so
ci

at
es

\C
om

m
on

 - 
D

oc
um

en
ts

\C
AD

D
\2

3-
20

0 
57

 O
ld

 K
in

gs
 R

oa
d 

- N
im

bl
e\

C
iv

il\
23

-2
00

 C
-1

 S
ite

 P
la

n.
dw

g

D
AT

E
IS

SU
E

SEAL

1/
11

/2
02

4
11

:0
7:

55
 A

M

03-02-2023

SC
AL

E:

O
LD

 K
IN

G
S 

N
O

R
TH

 S
TO

R
AG

E 
FA

C
IL

IT
Y

57
 O

LD
 K

IN
G

S 
R

O
AD

 N
O

R
TH

PA
LM

 C
O

AS
T 

FL
 3

21
37

23-200

C
O

M
M

EN
TS

70
0 

22
nd

 P
la

ce
, S

ui
te

 2
C

/2
D

Ve
ro

 B
ea

ch
, F

lo
rid

a 
32

96
0

PH
O

N
E:

 7
72

.2
26

.7
28

2
C

.A
. #

: 3
06

98
W

EB
SI

TE
:

w
w

w
.M

ills
Sh

or
tA

ss
oc

ia
te

s.
co

m

SEAL

W
BD

100'

SCALE:1'' = 50'
0 50'25'

PROJECT LEGEND:
A. REQ'D 30" R1-1, HI-INTENSITY STOP SIGN
B. REQ'D 24" W SOLID WHITE THERMOPLASTIC STOP BAR PER FDOT INDEX #711-001,

CURRENT DESIGN STANDARDS.
C. FIRE TRUCK TURNING RADIUS (R55 OUT, R35 IN)
D. MONUMENT SIGN
E. KNOX/CALL BOX
F. 25' SLIDING GATE
G. REQ'D 5' CONCRETE SIDEWALK
H. DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE
I. TYPE "D" CURB
J. REQ'D FIRE HYDRANT
K. PROP. ADA HANDICAP SIGN (WALL MOUNTED)
L. 8' HT SCREEN WALL
M. REQ'D BIKE RACK
N. PROP. WROUGHT IRON FENCE / GATE
O. REQ'D 50', 6" SOLID YELLOW PAVEMENT MARKING (REQ'D THERMOPLASTIC

WITHIN R/W)
P. REQ'D 4" SOLID WHITE PAVEMENT MARKING
Q. REQ'D DROP CURB
R. ADA MAT (FDOT INDEX 522-02)

JURISDICTIONAL PERMITS:

CITY OF PALM COAST TECHNICAL SITE PLAN
CITY OF PALM COAST RIGHT OF WAY PERMIT
CITY OF PALM COAST UTILITY CONNECTION PERMIT
SJWMD ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE PERMIT
FDEP WASTWATER CONNECTION PERMIT
FDEP NOI

PROJECT DATA:
OWNER:
FIRST AFRICAN METHODIST
EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF PALM COAST
91 OLD KINGS RD N
PALM COAST, FL 32137

APPLICANT:
1784 CAPITAL HOLDINGS
8777 N GAINEY CENTER DR STE 191
SCOTTSDALE, AZ 85258
PHONE:

ENGINEER:
MILLS, SHORT & ASSOCIATES, LLC.
700 22ND PLACE. STE. 2C
VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 32960
PHONE: (772)-226-7282

ARCHITECT:
EAPC ARCHITECTS ENGINEERS
901 E. MADISON ST.
PHOENIX, ARIZONA 85034
PHONE: (602) 441-4505

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT
EVERGREEN DESIGN GROUP
2255 GLADES ROAD, SUITE 324A
BOCA RATON, FL 33431
PHONE: (800) 680-6630

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANT
ATLANTIC ECOLOGICAL SERVICES
217 GALLICIA AVE
ST. AUGUSTINE, FL 32086
PHONE: (904) 347-9133

PARCEL ID:
01-11-30-4921-00000-0010

SITE ADDRESS:
57 OLD KINGS ROAD NORTH
PALM COAST FL,  32137

ZONING:
COM-2: COMMERCIAL

LAND USE:
MIXED USE

VERTICAL DATUM:
NORTH AMERICAN VERTICAL DATUM
(NAVD) 88, AS REFERENCED TO LOCAL
PUBLISHED BENCHMARKS. FEMA FIRM
PANEL NUMBER 12035 C0128 E, DATE:
03/17/2014. BASE FLOOD ELEV. = 18.0,
OUTSIDE AND INSIDE SPECIAL FLOOD
HAZARD AREA.

FLOOD ZONE: ZONE  "X" & "AE EL. 18.0"

PHASING: SINGLE PHASE

SITE DATA:
SITE AREA = 11.87 ACRES (517,057 S.F.)

REQ'D PROPOSED

LOT SIZE: 20,000 S.F. 517,057 S.F.
LOT WIDTH: 100' 1060'

BUILDING SETBACKS: REQUIRED PROVIDED
FRONT (E) 25' 315.3'
SIDE (N) 10' 81.2'
SIDE (S) 10' 487.2'
REAR (W) 25' 67.9'

FAR (40% MAX.): 91,143 S.F.   (17.6%)
BUILDING COVERAGE (40% MAX.): 30,381 S.F.   (5.8%)
OPEN SPACE "PERVIOUS AREA" (30% MIN.): 303,893 S.F. (58.8%)
IMPERVIOUS AREA (70% MAX.): 213,164 S.F. (41.2%)
   -BUILDING: 110,714 S.F. (21.4%)

-ENCLOSED BUILDING = 30,381 S.F. (5.8%)
-COVERED RV PARKING = 80,333 S.F. (15.5%)

   -SIDEWALK: 2,866 S.F. (0.55%)
   -ASPHALT PAVEMENT: 99,584 S.F. (19.3%)
BUILDING HEIGHT (100' MAX.): 40'-0"

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:
PROPOSED THREE-STORY INDOOR SELF STORAGE FACILITY (91,143 S.F.) WITH COVERED RV STORAGE.

EXISTING USE:
VACANT LAND

PARKING CALCULATION:
MINI-WAREHOUSE OR SELF-STORAGE FACILITIES.
-2 SPACES PER 100 STORAGE UNITS:
REQUIRED PARKING:

619 UNITS / 100 UNITS PER TWO (2) SPACE = 6.19 x 2 SPACES = 12.38 SPACES
RV PARKING (OUTDOOR STORAGE):

146 UNITS / 100 UNITS PER TWO (2) SPACES = 1.46 x 2 = 2.92 SPACES
TOTAL REQUIRED = 15.3 = 16 SPACES

ADA: REQUIRED = 162 SPACES < 200 (PER FBC TABLE 208.2) SPACES = 6 ADA SPACE

PROVIDED PARKING:
STANDARD = 15 SPACES
STANDARD ADA HANDICAP = 1 SPACE
RV ADA HANDICAP = 5 SPACES
TOTAL = 16 SPACES

BICYCLE      REQURED = 16 SPACES < 40 SPACES (TABLE 5-5 FBC 7TH ED. 2020) = 2 SPACES
PROVIDED = 2 SPACES

NOTE:
1. UTILITIES SHALL BE LOCATED UNDERGROUND

2. CONTRACTOR TO ATTEND A MANDATORY PRE-CONSTRUCTION MEETING

WITH CITY STAFF PRIOR TO ANY DISTURBANCE OF THE PROPERTY.

3. A FLORIDA REGISTERED LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT WILL PROVIDE AND SIGN

LANDSCAPE AND IRRIGATION PLAN AS-BUILTS.

LEGEND:

PROPOSED ASPHALT

WETLAND BUFFER

PROPOSED BUILDING

COVERED RV PARKING NOTE:
BOAT AND RV STORAGE FACILITIES SHALL ONLY BE STORED ON PAVEMENT LOCATED
BEHIND BUILDINGS OR PRESERVED WOODED AREAS SO THEY ARE GENERALLY HIDDEN
FROM THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY. THE AREA BETWEEN THE COVERED RV PARKING AND
OLD KINGS ROAD MUST REMAIN NATURAL.

1
07

-0
6-

23
R

ES
U

BM
IT

TA
L 

N
O

.1

2
09

-2
9-

23
R

ES
U

BM
IT

TA
L 

N
O

.2

3
11

-1
3-

23
SJ

W
M

D
 R

ES
U

BM
IT

TA
LN

O
.1

4
12

-4
-2

3
TS

P 
TI

ER
 2

 R
ES

U
BM

IT
TA

L 
N

O
. 1

NOTES
1. THIS SITE PLAN IS SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION APPLICATION NUMBER

5439, APPROVED BY THE PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD ON OCTOBER 18, 2023.
2. OUTDOOR VEHICLE STORAGE SERVICES ARE LIMITED TO OPERABLE BOATS, AUTOMOBILES, PICKUPS, VANS,

TRAILER, AND RECREATIONAL VEHICLES. STORAGE SERVICES SHALL NOT BE PROVIDED FOR ANY HEAVY-DUTY
TRUCKS, SEMI-TRACTOR TRAILERS, DUMP TRUCKS, FULL-SIZE BUSES, SHIPPING CONTAINERS, OR LARGE
CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT.

3. ONSITE BOAT AND VEHICLE REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE IS LIMITED TO WASHING, CLEANING, DETAILING, TIRE
CHANGING, BATTERY REPLACEMENT, AND OTHER MINOR SERVICING AND REPAIRS. RECREATIONAL VEHICLES
SHALL NOT BE USED FOR ON-SITE RESIDENTIAL USE.

4. AN ONSITE BUSINESS FOR THE SALE, LEASING OR RENTAL OF BOATS, RECREATIONAL VEHICLES, TRUCKS,
TRAILERS, OR CONSTRUCTION RELATED EQUIPMENT IS PROHIBITED.

5. ALL VEHICLES AND BOATS BEING STORED SHALL BE LIMITED TO THE DESIGNATED BOAT/RECREATIONAL STORAGE
SPACES AND SHALL NOT EXTEND INTO OR OCCUR WITHIN DRIVING LANES OR OTHER NON-DESIGNATED STORAGE
AREAS.

6. A BUSINESS SHALL NOT USE STORAGE UNITS FOR RETAIL DISPLAY AND/OR SALE OF MERCHANDISE.
7. NO INDIVIDUAL BUSINESS SIGNAGE SHALL BE VISIBLE FROM THE EXTERIOR OF ANY STORAGE UNIT EXCEPT FOR

THE STORAGE BUSINESS ITSELF.

5
01

-0
9-

24
TS

P 
TI

ER
 2

 R
ES

U
BM

IT
TA

L 
N

O
. 2

115

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
IR

AutoCAD SHX Text
IR

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLD KINGS ROAD NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
(104' PUBLIC R/W) 24'± ASPHALT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C2

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERSTATE 95 (300' R/W) (LIMITED ACCESS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 18

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL ID:  12-11-30-0000-01010-0010 PALM COAST ELKS LODGE #2709, INC. 53 OLD KINGS RD N PALM COAST, FL 32137

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIRC 1/2" LB 8006 BM#3 EL=19.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
PC FIRC 1/2" LB 2379 BM#1 EL=22.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIR 5/8" POB (BY SURVEYOR) SW CORNER LOT 18, MAP BOOK 28, PAGE 67

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRC 5/8" RLS 2234 SW CORNER OF LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
POB FIRC 5/8" RLS 2234 SE CORNER OF LOT 1 PER PLAT ENTITLED OLD KINGS ROAD PROFESSIONAL PARK NORTH MAP BOOK 28, PAGE 67

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIRC 1/2" LB 8006 BM#2 EL=20.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOLLARDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
D-CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PT FIRC 5/8" LB 2648 ALSO FND 4"X4" CONC MONUMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE 0.5'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE 1.2'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE 0.2'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE 0.2'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE 0.2'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELEPHONE PULL BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISCELLANEOUS TELEPHONE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHERLY LINE OF LOT 1 ALSO SOUTHERLY OUTLINE OF SAID PLAT ORB 2100, PAGE 67

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASTERLY R/W OF INTERSTATE 95 WESTERLY OUTLINE OF SAID PLAT ALSO THE WESTERLY LINE OF LOTS 1-21

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 19

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 20

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASTERLY OUTLINE OF SAID PLAT ALSO THE WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY OF OLD KINGS ROAD NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
300.62'(C)

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.49'(C)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LESS AND EXCEPT AS RECORDED IN ORB 472, PAGE 735

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-8

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-9

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-12

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-13

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-14

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-15

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-16

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-17

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-18

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-20

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-21

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-23

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-24

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-25

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-28

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-31

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-30

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-29

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-32

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-33

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-34

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-35

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-36

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-36

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-37

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-38

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-39

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-40

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-41

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-42

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-43

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-44

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-45

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-46

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-47

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-48

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-49

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-50

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-51

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-52

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-53

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-54

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-55

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-56

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-57

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-58

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-59

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-60

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-61

AutoCAD SHX Text
L1

AutoCAD SHX Text
L2

AutoCAD SHX Text
L3

AutoCAD SHX Text
L4

AutoCAD SHX Text
L5

AutoCAD SHX Text
L6

AutoCAD SHX Text
L7

AutoCAD SHX Text
L8

AutoCAD SHX Text
L9

AutoCAD SHX Text
L10

AutoCAD SHX Text
L11

AutoCAD SHX Text
L12

AutoCAD SHX Text
L13

AutoCAD SHX Text
L14

AutoCAD SHX Text
L15

AutoCAD SHX Text
L16

AutoCAD SHX Text
L17

AutoCAD SHX Text
L18

AutoCAD SHX Text
L19

AutoCAD SHX Text
L20

AutoCAD SHX Text
L21

AutoCAD SHX Text
L22

AutoCAD SHX Text
L23

AutoCAD SHX Text
L24

AutoCAD SHX Text
L25

AutoCAD SHX Text
L26

AutoCAD SHX Text
L27

AutoCAD SHX Text
L28

AutoCAD SHX Text
L29

AutoCAD SHX Text
L30

AutoCAD SHX Text
L31

AutoCAD SHX Text
L32

AutoCAD SHX Text
L33

AutoCAD SHX Text
L34

AutoCAD SHX Text
L35

AutoCAD SHX Text
L36

AutoCAD SHX Text
L37

AutoCAD SHX Text
L38

AutoCAD SHX Text
L39

AutoCAD SHX Text
L40

AutoCAD SHX Text
L41

AutoCAD SHX Text
L42

AutoCAD SHX Text
L43

AutoCAD SHX Text
L44

AutoCAD SHX Text
L45

AutoCAD SHX Text
L46

AutoCAD SHX Text
L47

AutoCAD SHX Text
L48

AutoCAD SHX Text
L49

AutoCAD SHX Text
L50

AutoCAD SHX Text
L51

AutoCAD SHX Text
L52

AutoCAD SHX Text
L53

AutoCAD SHX Text
L54

AutoCAD SHX Text
L55

AutoCAD SHX Text
L56

AutoCAD SHX Text
L57

AutoCAD SHX Text
L58

AutoCAD SHX Text
L59

AutoCAD SHX Text
L60

AutoCAD SHX Text
L61

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL ID: 01-11-30-4921-00000-0180 FIRST AFRICAN METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF PALM COAST 91 OLD KINGS RD N PALM COAST, FL 32137

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHERLY LINE OF LOT 18

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD LINE PER FEMA MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD LINE PER FEMA MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
IR

AutoCAD SHX Text
15" RCP INVERT=20.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
15" RCP INVERT=20.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

wesley
Snapshot



EXTERIOR FINISHES:

EIFS COLOR 1
MEDIUM FINISH INTEGRAL COLOR TO MATCH
DUNN EDWARDS COLOR DEC791 CLOUD (LRV: 63)

CMU BLOCK 1
SPLIT FACE BLOCK VENEER, 4X8X16, ECHELON MASONRY
COLOR RUST

CMU BLOCK 2
SPLIT FACE BLOCK VENEER, 4X8X16, ECHELON MASONRY
COLOR CHARCOAL

BRICK VENEER
SUMMIT BRICK COLOR IRON MOUNTAIN GRAIN

EIFS COLOR 2
INTEGRAL COLOR TO MATCH AEP SPAN METAL COLOR
'VINTAGE' (LRV: 20)

-

- -

231'-8 3/8"

31'-6"

MECH. UNITS

T
.O

. 
S

T
O

R
E

F
R

O
N

T

9
'-

0
"

T
.O

. 
S

T
O

R
E

F
R

O
N

T

9
'-

0
"

T
.O

. 
S

T
O

R
E

F
R

O
N

T

9
'-

0
"

T
.O

. 
S

T
O

R
E

F
R

O
N

T

9
'-

0
"

T
.O

. 
S

T
O

R
E

F
R

O
N

T

9
'-

0
"

FIRST FLOOR

SECOND FLOOR

THIRD FLOOR

ROOF LINE

1
4

'-
0

"
1

1
'-

4
"

1
1

'-
4

"

T
.O

. 
P

A
R

A
P

E
T

4
1

'-
1

0
"

MECH. UNITSEIFS COLOR 1, TYP.

EIFS COLOR 2, TYP.

EIFS COLOR 2, TYP. EIFS COLOR 1, TYP.

CLEAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT SYSTEM

CLEAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT SYSTEM

SPANDREL GLAZING UNIT

SPANDREL GLAZING UNIT
MECH. UNITSBRICK VENEER

CMU BLOCK VENEER 1, TYP. CMU BLOCK VENEER 2, TYP.

WINDOW AWNING, TYP.

WINDOW AWNING, TYP.

WINDOW AWNING, TYP.

PARPET CAP PAINTED

BLOCK CAP PAINTED, TYP.

54'-0"

SPANDREL GLAZING UNIT

1
5

'-
0

"

1
5

'-
0

"

MECH. UNITS

FIRST FLOOR

SECOND FLOOR

THIRD FLOOR

ROOF LINE

1
4

'-
0

"
1

1
'-

4
"

1
1

'-
4

"

T
.O

. 
P

A
R

A
P

E
T

4
1

'-
4

"

T
.O

. 
S

T
O

R
E

F
R

O
N

T

9
'-

0
"

T
.O

. 
S

T
O

R
E

F
R

O
N

T

9
'-

0
"

T
.O

. 
S

T
O

R
E

F
R

O
N

T

9
'-

0
"

54'-0"

1
5

'-
0

"

1
5

'-
0

"

EIFS COLOR 2, TYP.

WINDOW AWNING, TYP.

CLEAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT SYSTEM

SPANDREL GLAZING UNIT

SPANDREL GLAZING UNIT

WINDOW AWNING, TYP.

BRICK VENEER
EIFS COLOR 1, TYP.

CMU BLOCK VENEER 1, TYP. CMU BLOCK VENEER 2, TYP.

PARAPET CAP PAINTED

BLOCK CAP PAINTED

P
lo

t 
D

a
te

:

DRAWING TITLE

COPYRIGHT:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

STATE

CITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

DESCRIPTION DATE

ISSUE DATES

CLIENT

MARK

All plans, specifications, computer files, field data, notes 
and other documents and instruments prepared by EAPC 
as instruments of service shall remain the property of 
EAPC. EAPC shall retain all common lay, statutory and 
other reserved rights, including the copyright there to.

SE SPECIAL EXCEPTION
SUBMITTAL

02-21-2023

PR
EL

IM
IN

A
RY

 -

N
O

T 
FO

R

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

STAMP

CONSULTANTS

www.eapc.net

SE SPECIAL EXCEPTION
2ND SUBMITTAL

07-07-2023

7
/1

4
/2

0
2

3
 3

:2
9

:5
6

 P
M

A.403

20223510

AAB

MAB

FLORIDA

PALM COAST

PROPOSED
SELF-STORAGE &
COVERED RV STORAGE

COLOR BUILDING
ELEVATIONS

07.1_A.403-COLOR BUILDING ELEVATIONS

TELE FAX

901  E  Madison  St,  Phoenix,  AZ  85034

602.441.4505

3/32" = 1'-0"A.403

1 FRONT COLOR ELEVATION (OLD KINGS ROAD) - EAST

3/32" = 1'-0"A.403

2 RIGHT COLOR ELEVATION - NORTH

116



EXTERIOR FINISHES:

EIFS COLOR 1
MEDIUM FINISH INTEGRAL COLOR TO MATCH
DUNN EDWARDS COLOR DEC791 CLOUD (LRV: 63)

CMU BLOCK 1
SPLIT FACE BLOCK VENEER, 4X8X16, ECHELON MASONRY 
COLOR RUST

CMU BLOCK 2
SPLIT FACE BLOCK VENEER, 4X8X16, ECHELON MASONRY
COLOR CHARCOAL

BRICK VENEER
SUMMIT BRICK COLOR IRON MOUNTAIN GRAIN

EIFS COLOR 2
INTEGRAL COLOR TO MATCH AEP SPAN METAL COLOR
'VINTAGE' (LRV: 20)

-

- -

231'-8 3/8"

31'-6 3/16"

MECH. UNITS

FIRST FLOOR

SECOND FLOOR

THIRD FLOOR

ROOF LINE

1
4

'-
0

"
1

1
'-

4
"

1
1

'-
4

"

T
.O

. 
P

A
R

P
E

T

4
1

'-
1

0
"

MECH. UNITS

MECH. UNITS

T
.O

. 
S

T
O

R
E

F
R

O
N

T

9
'-

0
"

T
.O

. 
S

T
O

R
E

F
R

O
N

T

9
'-

0
"

T
.O

. 
S

T
O

R
E

F
R

O
N

T

9
'-

0
"

33'-0" 54'-0"

EIFS COLOR 2, TYP.

WINDOW AWNING, TYP.

CLEAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT SYSTEM SPANDREL GLAZING UNIT

SPANDREL GLAZING UNIT

WINDOW AWNING, TYP.

EIFS COLOR 1, TYP.
BRICK VENEER

SPANDREL GLAZING UNIT

CMU BLOCK VENEER 1, TYP. CMU BLOCK VENEER 2, TYP.

PARAPET CAP PAINTED

BLOCK CAP PAINTED, TYP.

VISION GLASS
ROLL UP DOOR

1
5

'-
0

"

1
5

'-
0

"

31'-8 1/2"

MECH. UNITS

FIRST FLOOR

SECOND FLOOR

THIRD FLOOR

ROOF LINE

1
4

'-
0

"
1

1
'-

4
"

1
1

'-
4

"

T
.O

. 
P

A
R

A
P

E
T

4
1

'-
4

"

54'-0"

1
5

'-
0

"

1
5

'-
0

"

EIFS COLOR 2, TYP.

CLEAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM
STOREFRONT SYSTEM

WINDOW AWNING, TYP.

SPANDREL GLAZING UNIT

SPANDREL GLAZING UNIT
EIFS COLOR 1, TYP.

BRICK VENEER

CMU BLOCK VENEER 1, TYP.
CMU BLOCK VENEER 2, TYP.

PARAPET CAP PAINTED

BLOCK CAP PAINTED

P
lo

t 
D

a
te

:

DRAWING TITLE

COPYRIGHT:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

STATE

CITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

DESCRIPTION DATE

ISSUE DATES

CLIENT

MARK

All plans, specifications, computer files, field data, notes 
and other documents and instruments prepared by EAPC 
as instruments of service shall remain the property of 
EAPC. EAPC shall retain all common lay, statutory and 
other reserved rights, including the copyright there to.

SE SPECIAL EXCEPTION
SUBMITTAL

02-21-2023

PR
EL

IM
IN

A
RY

 -

N
O

T 
FO

R

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

STAMP

CONSULTANTS

www.eapc.net

SE SPECIAL EXCEPTION
2ND SUBMITTAL

07-07-2023

7
/1

4
/2

0
2

3
 3

:2
9

:5
8

 P
M

A.404

20223510

AAB

MAB

FLORIDA

PALM COAST

PROPOSED
SELF-STORAGE &
COVERED RV STORAGE

COLOR BUILDING
ELEVATIONS

07.1_A.404-COLOR BUILDING ELEVATIONS

TELE FAX

901  E  Madison  St,  Phoenix,  AZ  85034

602.441.4505

3/32" = 1'-0"A.404

1 REAR COLOR ELEVATION (I-95) - WEST

3/32" = 1'-0"A.404

2 LEFT COLOR ELEVATION - SOUTH

117



P
lo

t 
D

a
te

:

DRAWING TITLE

COPYRIGHT:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

STATE

CITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

DESCRIPTION DATE

ISSUE DATES

CLIENT

MARK

All plans, specifications, computer files, field data, notes 
and other documents and instruments prepared by EAPC 
as instruments of service shall remain the property of 
EAPC. EAPC shall retain all common lay, statutory and 
other reserved rights, including the copyright there to.

SE SPECIAL EXCEPTION
SUBMITTAL

02-21-2023

PR
EL

IM
IN

A
RY

 -

N
O

T 
FO

R

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

STAMP

CONSULTANTS

www.eapc.net

SE SPECIAL EXCEPTION
2ND SUBMITTAL

07-07-2023

7
/6

/2
0

2
3

 1
1

:4
6

:0
7

 A
M

A.405

20223510

AAB

MAB

FLORIDA

PALM COAST

PROPOSED
SELF-STORAGE &
COVERED RV STORAGE

RENDER VIEWS

07.1_A.405-RENDER VIEWS

TELE FAX

901  E  Madison  St,  Phoenix,  AZ  85034

602.441.4505

NORTH WEST PERSPECTIVE

NORTH EAST PERSPECTIVESOUTH EAST PERSPECTIVE

SOUTH WEST PERSPECTIVE

118



RENDER PERSPECTIVE FROM OLD KINGS ROAD RENDER PERSPECTIVE FROM INTERSTATE 95

119



S 25°37'42" E  1060.20'

S
 64°22'18" W

  479.85'

N 29°43'07" W  1579.02'

W

W

W

W W

W

W

W

W W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W W

W

W

W

W W

10' DRAINAGE & UTILITY EASEMENT
(ORB 686 PG. 272 & ORB 2098, PG. 516)

FLOOD LINE PER FEMA MAP

EX.36" CMP (INVERT EL. = 16.03)

EX. FIRE HYDRANT
(No. 1)

EX.36" CMP (INVERT EL. = 15.67)

W

W

W

W W

W

W

W

W W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W W

W

W

W

W W

S

S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S

SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S
S

PROPOSED 3-STORY
STORAGE FACILITY
91,147 S.F. GROSS

30,381 S.F. PER FLOOR
F.F.E. = 23.50

PROP. COVERED
RV PARKING

PROP. COVERED
RV PARKING

PROP. COVERED
RV PARKING

PROP. COVERED
RV PARKING

ZONE X

ZONE AE

ZONE AE

EDGE OF PAVEMENT

CENTERLINE IN FIELD

P
R

O
P

. C
O

V
E

R
E

D
R

V
 P

A
R

K
IN

G

P
R

O
P

. C
O

V
E

R
E

D
R

V
 P

A
R

K
IN

G

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W

W
W

W W W

WW

W W W WW

W

W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W W

W
W

W

W

W

W

W

WW

W

W

W

W W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

25-FT TYPE 'G' BUFFER

25-FT TYPE 'G' BUFFER

10-FT TYPE
'C' BUFFER

10-FT TYPE
'C' BUFFER

8-FT HEIGHT SCREEN WALL,
BY OTHERS

8-FT HEIGHT SCREEN
WALL, BY OTHERS

8-FT HEIGHT SCREEN WALL,
BY OTHERS

DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE,
BY OTHERS

COVERED RV PARKING

COVERED RV PARKING

COVERED RV PARKING

COVERED RV PARKING

C
O

V
E

R
E

D
 R

V
 P

A
R

K
IN

G

C
O

V
E

R
E

D
 R

V
 P

A
R

K
IN

G

EXISTING TREES AND
UNDERSTORY VEGETATION

TO REMAIN.

EXISTING TREES AND
UNDERSTORY

VEGETATION TO REMAIN.

25-FT TYPE 'G' BUFFEROVERHEAD UTILITIES

OVERHEAD UTILITIES

EXISTING TREES AND
UNDERSTORY VEGETATION

TO REMAIN.

EXISTING TREES AND
UNDERSTORY VEGETATION

TO REMAIN.

15 x 15 SIGHT
VISIBILITY

TRIANGLES

15 x 15 SIGHT
VISIBILITY
TRIANGLES

FIRE
HYDRANT

FDC

LIFT
STATION

LIGHT POLE
(TYP.)

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-A

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-B

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-F

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-C

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-D

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-E

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-G

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-H

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-I

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-J

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-K

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-L

VUA
ISLAND
AREA-M

TURF

TURF

TURFTURF

TURF

MULCH

MULCH

MULCH

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF TURF

TURFTURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

QV
1

QV
1

QV
1

QV
1

QS
1

QS
1

JS
7

SP
5

14' c.t.

18' c.t.

22' c.t.

20' c.t.
16' c.t.

PA
1

QV
1

SP
3

16' c.t.

20' c.t.
14' c.t.

18' c.t.

SP
4

22' c.t.

18' c.t.

14' c.t.

PA
1

QV
4 IC

4

IF
63 TF

13

ZF
15

TF
13

ZF
15

QV
3 JS

3

JS
3

TD
5

SB
85 SB

52

IF
34

SR
20

LI
1

MC
30

JP
32

LI
1

MC
17

LI
1

MC
15

LI
1

ZF
18

JP
7

RI
44

JP
7

MONUMENT SIGN,
BY OTHERS

TF
33

ZF
29

TF
33

ZF
29

TF
33

ZF
29

TURF TURF

TURF

IC
1

PE
4

PA
2PA

2

SR
3

VO
10

IF
23

SR
4

SR
4

IF
23

VO
10

IF
43

SR
19

SR
3

ZF
39

JP
32

JP
21

ZF
17

JP
19

MC
21

ZF
11 RI

15
RI
16

ZF
11

MC
17

RI
12

ZF
15

RI
12

MC
39

CV
6

CV
5

ZF
33

KB/RM
KB

02/20/2023Date

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

57
 O

ld
 K

in
gs

 R
oa

d
P

al
m

 C
oa

st
, F

lo
rid

a

O
ld

 K
in

gs
 N

or
th

 S
to

ra
ge

 F
ac

ili
ty

Date Comment

P
ro

je
ct

 N
am

e
O

w
ne

r 87
77

 N
. G

ai
ne

y 
C

en
te

r D
r.,

 S
te

. 1
91

S
co

tts
da

le
, A

Z 
85

25
8

17
84

 C
ap

ita
l H

ol
di

ng
s,

 L
LC

(800) 680-6630
2255 Glades Road, Suite 324A

Boca Raton, FL  33431
www.EvergreenDesignGroup.com

LA #6666710

EVERGREEN
D E S I G N    G R O U P

LP-1
Scale 1" = 30'

15' 60'30'0'

NOTE:  PRINTED DRAWING SIZE
MAY HAVE CHANGED FROM
ORIGINAL.  VERIFY SCALE USING
BAR SCALE ABOVE.

N
O

RTH

LANDSCAPE
PLANTING PLANM

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

 - 
S

E
E

 S
H

E
E

T 
LP

-2

SEE SHEET LP-2 FOR
LANDSCAPE CALCULATIONS

AND PLANTING LEGEND.

ALL DISTURBED AREAS OF
RIGHT-OF-WAY SHALL BE
SODDED WITH BAHIA SOD

120

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.59

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.16

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.34

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.09

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.58

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.69

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.97

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.25

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.15

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.72

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.76

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.24

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.44

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.65

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.27

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.79

AutoCAD SHX Text
29.06

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.96

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.49

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.34

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.83

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.90

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.43

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.13

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.34

AutoCAD SHX Text
18.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.99

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.90

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.52

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.79

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.16

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.49

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
23.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.47

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.73

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.55

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.24

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.27

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.86

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.45

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.76

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.56

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.59

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.59

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
18.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.57

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.43

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
18.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
18.24

AutoCAD SHX Text
18.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
18.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLD KINGS ROAD NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
(104' PUBLIC R/W)24'± ASPHALT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
538.84'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERSTATE 95 (300' R/W)(LIMITED ACCESS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL ID: 12-11-30-0000-01010-0010PALM COAST ELKS LODGE#2709, INC.53 OLD KINGS RD NPALM COAST, FL 32137

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIRC 1/2"LB 8006BM#3EL=19.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRC 5/8"RLS 2234SW CORNER OF LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
POB FIRC 5/8" RLS 2234SE CORNER OF LOT 1 PER PLAT ENTITLED OLD KINGS ROAD PROFESSIONAL PARK NORTHMAP BOOK 28, PAGE 67

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIRC 1/2"LB 8006BM#2EL=20.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE0.5'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE1.2'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE0.2'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE0.2'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHERLY LINE OF LOT 1ALSO SOUTHERLY OUTLINE OF SAID PLATORB 2100, PAGE 67

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASTERLY R/W OF INTERSTATE 95WESTERLY OUTLINE OF SAID PLAT ALSO THE WESTERLY LINE OF LOTS 1-21

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-8

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-9

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-12

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-13

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-14

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-15

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-16

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-17

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-18

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-20

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-21

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-23

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-24

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-25

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-28

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-31

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-30

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-29

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-32

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-33

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-34

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-35

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-36

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-36

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-37

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-38

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-39

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-40

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-41

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-42

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-43

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-44

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-45

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-46

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-47

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-48

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-49

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-50

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-51

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-52

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-53

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-54

AutoCAD SHX Text
L1

AutoCAD SHX Text
L2

AutoCAD SHX Text
L3

AutoCAD SHX Text
L4

AutoCAD SHX Text
L5

AutoCAD SHX Text
L6

AutoCAD SHX Text
L7

AutoCAD SHX Text
L8

AutoCAD SHX Text
L9

AutoCAD SHX Text
L10

AutoCAD SHX Text
L11

AutoCAD SHX Text
L12

AutoCAD SHX Text
L13

AutoCAD SHX Text
L14

AutoCAD SHX Text
L15

AutoCAD SHX Text
L16

AutoCAD SHX Text
L17

AutoCAD SHX Text
L18

AutoCAD SHX Text
L19

AutoCAD SHX Text
L20

AutoCAD SHX Text
L21

AutoCAD SHX Text
L22

AutoCAD SHX Text
L23

AutoCAD SHX Text
L24

AutoCAD SHX Text
L25

AutoCAD SHX Text
L26

AutoCAD SHX Text
L27

AutoCAD SHX Text
L28

AutoCAD SHX Text
L29

AutoCAD SHX Text
L30

AutoCAD SHX Text
L31

AutoCAD SHX Text
L32

AutoCAD SHX Text
L33

AutoCAD SHX Text
L34

AutoCAD SHX Text
L35

AutoCAD SHX Text
L36

AutoCAD SHX Text
L37

AutoCAD SHX Text
L38

AutoCAD SHX Text
L39

AutoCAD SHX Text
L40

AutoCAD SHX Text
L41

AutoCAD SHX Text
L42

AutoCAD SHX Text
L43

AutoCAD SHX Text
L44

AutoCAD SHX Text
L45

AutoCAD SHX Text
L46

AutoCAD SHX Text
L47

AutoCAD SHX Text
L48

AutoCAD SHX Text
L49

AutoCAD SHX Text
L50

AutoCAD SHX Text
L51

AutoCAD SHX Text
L52

AutoCAD SHX Text
L60

AutoCAD SHX Text
L61

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
IR

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
485.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
490.57'

AutoCAD SHX Text
495.94'

AutoCAD SHX Text
501.30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
506.66'

AutoCAD SHX Text
512.03'

AutoCAD SHX Text
517.39'

AutoCAD SHX Text
522.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
528.12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
533.48'

AutoCAD SHX Text
538.84'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERSTATE 95 (300' R/W)(LIMITED ACCESS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL ID: 12-11-30-0000-01010-0010PALM COAST ELKS LODGE#2709, INC.53 OLD KINGS RD NPALM COAST, FL 32137

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIRC 1/2"LB 8006BM#2EL=20.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIRC 1/2"LB 8006BM#3EL=19.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRC 5/8"RLS 2234SW CORNER OF LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
POB FIRC 5/8" RLS 2234SE CORNER OF LOT 1 PER PLAT ENTITLED OLD KINGS ROAD PROFESSIONAL PARK NORTHMAP BOOK 28, PAGE 67

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTERLINE IN FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" CMPINVERT=15.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" CMPINVERT=16.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIREHYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BILLBOARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE0.5'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE1.2'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE0.2'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE0.2'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
100' FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT EASEMENTORB 145 PAGE 699

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' DRAINAGE & UTILITY EASEMENTORB 686 PAGE 272AND ORB 2098, PAGE 516

AutoCAD SHX Text
52.0'(P)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD LINE PER FEMA MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHERLY LINE OF LOT 1ALSO SOUTHERLY OUTLINE OF SAID PLATORB 2100, PAGE 67

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASTERLY R/W OF INTERSTATE 95WESTERLY OUTLINE OF SAID PLAT ALSO THE WESTERLY LINE OF LOTS 1-21

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-8

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-9

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-12

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-13

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-14

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-15

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-16

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-17

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-18

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-20

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-21

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-23

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-24

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-25

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-28

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-31

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-30

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-29

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-32

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-33

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-34

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-35

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-36

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-36

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-37

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-38

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-39

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-40

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-41

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-42

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-43

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-44

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-45

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-46

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-47

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-48

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-49

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-50

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-51

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-52

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-53

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-54

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND AREA2.57 ACRES

kennbates
FL Seal



N
 64°22'15" E

      584.56'

10' DRAINAGE & UTILITY EASEMENT
(ORB 686 PG. 272 & ORB 2098, PG. 516)

FLOOD LINE PER FEMA MAP

EX. FIRE HYDRANT (No. 3)

RETENTION AREA
±77,609 S.F.

ZONE X

25-FT TYPE 'G' BUFFER

10-FT TYPE 'C' BUFFER

10-FT TYPE 'C' BUFFER

OVERHEAD UTILITIES

EXISTING TREES AND
UNDERSTORY VEGETATION

TO REMAIN.

TURF

TURF

TURF

TURF

SB
47

SB
52

SB
84

AR
4

AR
1

IC
2

PE
2

TF
33

ZF
29

TF
33

ZF
29

TURF
TURF

TURF

TURF

IC
2

PE
4

PA
2

KB/RM
KB

02/20/2023Date

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

57
 O

ld
 K

in
gs

 R
oa

d
P

al
m

 C
oa

st
, F

lo
rid

a

O
ld

 K
in

gs
 N

or
th

 S
to

ra
ge

 F
ac

ili
ty

Date Comment

P
ro

je
ct

 N
am

e
O

w
ne

r 87
77

 N
. G

ai
ne

y 
C

en
te

r D
r.,

 S
te

. 1
91

S
co

tts
da

le
, A

Z 
85

25
8

17
84

 C
ap

ita
l H

ol
di

ng
s,

 L
LC

(800) 680-6630
2255 Glades Road, Suite 324A

Boca Raton, FL  33431
www.EvergreenDesignGroup.com

LA #6666710

EVERGREEN
D E S I G N    G R O U P

LP-2

Scale 1" = 30'

15' 60'30'0'

NOTE:  PRINTED DRAWING SIZE
MAY HAVE CHANGED FROM
ORIGINAL.  VERIFY SCALE USING
BAR SCALE ABOVE.

N
O
RTH

LANDSCAPE
PLANTING PLAN

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
 - 

S
E

E
 S

H
E

E
T 

LP
-1

IRRIGATION CONCEPT
1. AN AUTOMATIC IRRIGATION SYSTEM SHALL BE INSTALLED AND OPERATIONAL BY THE TIME OF

FINAL INSPECTION.  THE ENTIRE IRRIGATION SYSTEM SHALL BE INSTALLED BY A LICENSED AND
QUALIFIED IRRIGATION CONTRACTOR.

2. THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM WILL OPERATE ON POTABLE WATER, AND THE SYSTEM WILL HAVE
APPROPRIATE BACKFLOW PREVENTION DEVICES INSTALLED TO PREVENT CONTAMINATION OF
THE POTABLE SOURCE.

3. ALL NON-TURF PLANTED AREAS SHALL BE DRIP IRRIGATED.  SODDED AND SEEDED AREAS
SHALL BE IRRIGATED WITH SPRAY OR ROTOR HEADS AT 100% HEAD-TO-HEAD COVERAGE.

4. ALL PLANTS SHARING SIMILAR HYDROZONE CHARACTERISTICS SHALL BE PLACED ON A VALVE
DEDICATED TO PROVIDE THE NECESSARY WATER REQUIREMENTS SPECIFIC TO THAT
HYDROZONE.

5. THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM SHALL BE DESIGNED AND INSTALLED, TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT
POSSIBLE, TO CONSERVE WATER BY USING THE FOLLOWING DEVICES AND SYSTEMS:
MATCHED PRECIPITATION RATE TECHNOLOGY ON ROTOR AND SPRAY HEADS (WHEREVER
POSSIBLE), RAIN SENSORS, AND MULTI-PROGRAM COMPUTERIZED IRRIGATION CONTROLLERS
FEATURING SENSORY INPUT CAPABILITIES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL ROOT BARRIERS NEAR ALL
NEWLY-PLANTED TREES THAT ARE LOCATED WITHIN FIVE (5) FEET OF
PAVING OR CURBS.  ROOT BARRIERS SHALL BE "CENTURY" OR "DEEP-ROOT"
24" DEEP PANELS (OR EQUAL).  BARRIERS SHALL BE LOCATED IMMEDIATELY
ADJACENT TO HARDSCAPE.  INSTALL PANELS PER MANUFACTURER'S
RECOMMENDATIONS.  UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE
CONTRACTOR USE ROOT BARRIERS OF A TYPE THAT COMPLETELY
ENCIRCLE THE ROOTBALL.

ROOT BARRIERS

MULCHES
AFTER ALL PLANTING IS COMPLETE, CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL 3" THICK
LAYER OF 1-1/2" SHREDDED WOOD MULCH, NATURAL (UNDYED), OVER
LANDSCAPE FABRIC IN ALL PLANTING AREAS (EXCEPT FOR TURF AND
SEEDED AREAS).  CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT SAMPLES OF ALL MULCHES
TO LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND OWNER FOR APPROVAL PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.  ABSOLUTELY NO EXPOSED GROUND SHALL BE LEFT
SHOWING ANYWHERE ON THE PROJECT AFTER MULCH HAS BEEN INSTALLED
(SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE "GENERAL
GRADING AND PLANTING NOTES" AND SPECIFICATIONS).

NO CYPRESS MULCH SHALL BE USED.

GENERAL GRADING AND PLANTING NOTES
1. BY SUBMITTING A PROPOSAL FOR THE LANDSCAPE PLANTING SCOPE OF WORK, THE CONTRACTOR CONFIRMS THAT HE

HAS READ, AND WILL COMPLY WITH, THE ASSOCIATED NOTES, SPECIFICATIONS, AND DETAILS WITH THIS PROJECT.
2. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL EXISTING VEGETATION (EXCEPT WHERE NOTED TO

REMAIN).
3. IN THE CONTEXT OF THESE PLANS, NOTES, AND SPECIFICATIONS, "FINISH GRADE" REFERS TO THE FINAL ELEVATION OF

THE SOIL SURFACE (NOT TOP OF MULCH) AS INDICATED ON THE GRADING PLANS.
a. BEFORE STARTING WORK, THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THAT THE ROUGH GRADES OF ALL

LANDSCAPE AREAS ARE WITHIN +/-0.1' OF FINISH GRADE.  SEE SPECIFICATIONS FOR MORE DETAILED INSTRUCTION
ON TURF AREA AND PLANTING BED PREPARATION.

b. CONSTRUCT AND MAINTAIN FINISH GRADES AS SHOWN ON GRADING PLANS, AND CONSTRUCT AND MAINTAIN
SLOPES AS RECOMMENDED BY THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT.  ALL LANDSCAPE AREAS SHALL HAVE POSITIVE
DRAINAGE AWAY FROM STRUCTURES AT THE MINIMUM SLOPE SPECIFIED IN THE REPORT AND ON THE GRADING
PLANS, AND AREAS OF POTENTIAL PONDING SHALL BE REGRADED TO BLEND IN WITH THE SURROUNDING GRADES
AND ELIMINATE PONDING POTENTIAL.

c. THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL DETERMINE WHETHER OR NOT THE EXPORT OF ANY SOIL WILL BE NEEDED,
TAKING INTO ACCOUNT THE ROUGH GRADE PROVIDED, THE AMOUNT OF SOIL AMENDMENTS TO BE ADDED (BASED
ON A SOIL TEST, PER SPECIFICATIONS), AND THE FINISH GRADES TO BE ESTABLISHED.

d. ENSURE THAT THE FINISH GRADE IN SHRUB AREAS IMMEDIATELY ADJACENT TO WALKS AND OTHER WALKING
SURFACES, AFTER INSTALLING SOIL AMENDMENTS, IS 3" BELOW THE ADJACENT FINISH SURFACE, IN ORDER TO
ALLOW FOR PROPER MULCH DEPTH.  TAPER THE SOIL SURFACE TO MEET FINISH GRADE, AS SPECIFIED ON THE
GRADING PLANS, AT APPROXIMATELY 18" AWAY FROM THE WALKS.

e. ENSURE THAT THE FINISH GRADE IN TURF AREAS IMMEDIATELY ADJACENT TO WALKS AND OTHER WALKING
SURFACES, AFTER INSTALLING SOIL AMENDMENTS,  IS 1" BELOW THE FINISH SURFACE OF THE WALKS.  TAPER THE
SOIL SURFACE TO MEET FINISH GRADE, AS SPECIFIED ON THE GRADING PLANS, AT APPROXIMATELY 18" AWAY
FROM THE WALKS.

f. SHOULD ANY CONFLICTS AND/OR DISCREPANCIES ARISE BETWEEN THE GRADING PLANS, GEOTECHNICAL REPORT,
THESE NOTES AND PLANS, AND ACTUAL CONDITIONS, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL IMMEDIATELY BRING SUCH ITEMS
TO THE ATTENTION OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT, GENERAL CONTRACTOR, AND OWNER.

4. ALL PLANT LOCATIONS ARE DIAGRAMMATIC.  ACTUAL LOCATIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED WITH THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT
OR DESIGNER PRIOR TO PLANTING.  THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE THAT ALL REQUIREMENTS OF THE
PERMITTING AUTHORITY ARE MET (I.E., MINIMUM PLANT QUANTITIES, PLANTING METHODS, TREE PROTECTION METHODS,
ETC.).
a. THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR DETERMINING PLANT QUANTITIES; PLANT QUANTITIES SHOWN

ON LEGENDS AND CALLOUTS ARE FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY.  IN THE EVENT OF A DISCREPANCY BETWEEN
THE PLAN AND THE PLANT LEGEND, THE PLANT QUANTITY AS SHOWN ON THE PLAN (FOR INDIVIDUAL SYMBOLS) OR
CALLOUT (FOR GROUNDCOVER  PATTERNS) SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE.

b. NO SUBSTITUTIONS OF PLANT MATERIALS SHALL BE ALLOWED WITHOUT THE WRITTEN PERMISSION OF THE
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.  IF SOME OF THE PLANTS ARE NOT AVAILABLE, THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL
NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT IN WRITING (VIA PROPER CHANNELS).

c. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL, AT A MINIMUM, PROVIDE REPRESENTATIVE PHOTOS OF ALL PLANTS PROPOSED FOR THE
PROJECT.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ALLOW  THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND THE OWNER/OWNER'S
REPRESENTATIVE TO INSPECT, AND APPROVE OR REJECT, ALL PLANTS DELIVERED TO THE JOBSITE.  REFER TO
SPECIFICATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS FOR SUBMITTALS.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN THE LANDSCAPE IN A HEALTHY CONDITION FOR 90 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE BY THE
OWNER.  REFER TO SPECIFICATIONS FOR CONDITIONS OF ACCEPTANCE FOR THE START OF THE MAINTENANCE PERIOD,
AND FOR  FINAL ACCEPTANCE AT THE END OF THE MAINTENANCE PERIOD.

6. SEE SPECIFICATIONS AND DETAILS FOR FURTHER REQUIREMENTS.

LANDSCAPE CALCULATIONS
TOTAL SITE AREA: 517,091 SF / 11.87 AC
STORMWATER POND AREA: 77,608 SF
WETLAND & BUFFER AREA: 67,600 SF
NET SITE AREA: 371,883 SF / 8.54 AC

TREE DENSITY REQUIRED: 149 TREES (1 / 2500 SF OF NET SITE AREA)
PRESERVED + NEW TREES MEET DENSITY

RETENTION POND PLANTING REQUIRED: 2,072 SF (1,841 LF x 15% x 7.5 ft)
RETENTION PONG PLANTING PROVIDED: 2,075 SF; 5 ft x 415 LF

TOTAL SITE PERVIOUS AREA: 298,289 SF
NET SITE PERVIOUS AREA: 153,081 SF (EXCLUDES POND & WETLAND)

PRESERVED TREE AREAS: 54,349 SF (35%)
DROUGHT TOLERANT TURF: 93,170 SF (60%)
NATIVE PLANTINGS: 4,162 SF (3%)

TOTAL % 98%

PARKING LOT LANDSCAPING
VEHICULAR USE AREA: 99,153 SF
LANDSCAPE AREA REQUIRED: 9,915 SF (10% OF VUA)
LANDSCAPE AREA PROVIDED: 23,824 SF

AREA-A = 2,305 SF
AREA-B = 8,384 SF
AREA-C = 428 SF
AREA-D = 91 SF
AREA-E = 105 SF
AREA-F = 123 SF
AREA-G = 262 SF
AREA-H = 599 SF
AREA-I = 382 SF
AREA-J = 1,381 SF
AREA-K = 8,622 SF
AREA-L = 649 SF
AREA-M = 493 SF

TREES REQUIRED: 60 TREES (1 TREE / 165 SF OF REQUIRED LSA)
TREES PROVIDED: 61 TREE CREDITS

5 UNDERSTORY TREES (5 TREE CREDITS)
12 PALM TREES (18 TREE CREDITS)
19 SHADE TREES (38 TREE CREDITS)

BUFFER LANDSCAPING
EAST - OLD KINGS ROAD: 25-FT TYPE 'G'

±615 LF OPEN, BALANCE IS PRESERVE AREA
LANDSCAPE REQUIRED: 12 SHADE TREES (1 / 50 LF)

12 UNDERSTORY TREES (1 / 50 LF)
SHORT SCREEN
185 ACCENTS (30 / 100 LF)

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED: 12 SHADE TREES / 12 UNDERSTORY TREES
SHORT SCREEN SATISFIED BY PRESERVE AREA
186 ACCENTS

SOUTH - ADJACENT COMMERCIAL: 10-FT TYPE 'C'
±356 LF IS OPEN, BALANCE IS PRESERVE AREA

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED: 7 SHADE TREES (1 / 50 LF)
SHORT SCREEN

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED: 7 SHADE TREES
SHORT SCREEN SATISFIED BY PRESERVE AREA

WEST - I-95: 25-FT TYPE 'G'
±187 LF OPEN, BALANCE IS PRESERVE AREA

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED: 4 SHADE TREES (1 / 50 LF)
4 UNDERSTORY TREES (1 / 50 LF)
SHORT SCREEN
56 ACCENTS (30 / 100 LF)

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED: 4 SHADE TREES / 4 UNDERSTORY TREES
SHORT SCREEN WHERE NECESSARY
56 ACCENTS

NORTH - ADJACENT COMMERCIAL: 10-FT TYPE 'C'
± 233 LF IS OPEN, BALANCE IS PRESERVE AREA

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED: 5 SHADE TREES (1 / 50 LF)
SHORT SCREEN

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED: 5 SHADE TREES
SHORT SCREEN SATISFIED BY PRESERVE AREA

Argentine Bahiagrass - - -- - -Solid SodPaspalum notatum

TURF

PLANTING LEGEND

BOTANIC NAMESYMBOL COMMON NAME MIN. SIZE SPACING QUANTITY NATIVE

TREES

DROUGHT TOLERANT

- - - - - -

5per plan3-1/2" min cal., 16'-18' ht. YES YESFlorida MapleAcer floridanumAR

NOTES:
1. ALL TREES SHALL BE CONTAINER-GROWN, CONTAINER SIZE AS APPROPRIATE FOR THE SIZE SPECIFIED.  SEE SPECIFICATIONS FOR PROPER ROOT QUALITY.
2. PLANT MATERIAL SHALL CONFORM TO THE STANDARDS FOR GRADE #1 OR BETTER AS GIVEN IN THE LATEST EDITION OF "GRADES AND STANDARDS FOR NURSERY

PLANTS, PARTS I AND II," FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES

SHRUBS / HEDGES

5348" o.c.Saw Palmetto 30"-32" ht. x 20"-24" spr.Serenoa repensSR YES YES

2048" o.c.Awabuki Viburnum 30"-32" ht. x 20"-24" spr.Viburnum odoratissimumVO NO YES

13per plan3-1/2" min cal., 16'-18' ht. YES YESSouthern Red CedarJuniperus silicicolaJS

12per plan3" DBH, 10'-12' ht. YES YESLive OakQuercus virginianaQV

10per plan3-1/2" min cal., 16'-18' ht. YES YESSlash PinePinus elliottiiPE

2per plan3-1/2" min cal., 16'-18' ht. YES YESShumard OakQuercus shumardiiQS

5per plan2" min DBH, 10'-12' ht. YES YESBald CypressTaxodium distichumTD

18636" o.c.Florida Anise 24"-28" ht. x 18"-24" spr.Illicium floridanumIF YES YES

4per plan1-1/2" cal., 12'-14' ht., 3 canes min. NO YESDark Pink Crape MyrtleLagerstroemia indica 'Tuskegee'LI

9per plan1-1/2" min cal., 12'-14' ht. YES YESDahoon HollyIlex cassineIC

8per plan1-1/2" min cal., 12'-14' ht. YES YESChicksaw PlumPrunus angustifoliaPA

PALMS
12per plansee plan for c.t. heights YES YESCabbage PalmSabal palmettoSP

GROUNDCOVERS / ORNAMENTAL GRASSES

13930" o.c.Muhly Grass 3 gallon, 12" ht. min.Muhlenbergia capillarisMC YES YES

9924" o.c.Indian Hawthorn 3 gallon, 12" ht. min.Rhaphiolepsis indicaRI NO YES

11824" o.c.Parsons Juniper 3 gallon, 12" ht. min.Juniperus chinensis ‘Parsonii’JP NO YES

12536" o.c.Fakahatchee grass 3 gallon, 12" ht. min.Tripsacum dactyloidesTF YES YES

26130" o.c.Coontie 3 gallon, 12" ht. min.Zamia floridanaZF YES YES

26836" o.c.Sand Cordgrass 3 gallon, 12" ht. min.Spartina bakeriSB YES YES

ALL DISTURBED AREAS OF
RIGHT-OF-WAY SHALL BE
SODDED WITH BAHIA SOD

11per plan1-1/2" min cal., 8'-10' ht. YES YESWhite FringetreeChionanthus viginicusCV

121

AutoCAD SHX Text
IR

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.34

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.25

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.02

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.79

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.25

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.11

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.71

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.11

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.45

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.99

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.65

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.59

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.52

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.06

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.90

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.14

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.65

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.37

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.83

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.49

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.31

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.87

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.45

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.25

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.37

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.87

AutoCAD SHX Text
17.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.38

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.90

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLD KINGS ROAD NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
C2

AutoCAD SHX Text
544.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 14

AutoCAD SHX Text
PCFIRC 1/2"LB 2379 BM#1EL=22.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOLLARDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
D-CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PTFIRC 5/8"LB 2648ALSO FND4"X4" CONCMONUMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELEPHONE PULL BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISCELLANEOUSTELEPHONE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-51

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-52

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-53

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-54

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-55

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-56

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-57

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-58

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-59

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-60

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-61

AutoCAD SHX Text
L50

AutoCAD SHX Text
L51

AutoCAD SHX Text
L52

AutoCAD SHX Text
L53

AutoCAD SHX Text
L54

AutoCAD SHX Text
L55

AutoCAD SHX Text
L56

AutoCAD SHX Text
L57

AutoCAD SHX Text
L58

AutoCAD SHX Text
L59

AutoCAD SHX Text
L60

AutoCAD SHX Text
L61

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
15" RCPINVERT=20.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
544.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
PCFIRC 1/2"LB 2379 BM#1EL=22.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
15" RCPINVERT=20.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOLLARDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
D-CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIREHYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PTFIRC 5/8"LB 2648ALSO FND4"X4" CONCMONUMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELEPHONE PULL BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISCELLANEOUSTELEPHONE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
100' FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT EASEMENTORB 145 PAGE 699

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' DRAINAGE & UTILITY EASEMENTORB 686 PAGE 272AND ORB 2098, PAGE 516

AutoCAD SHX Text
52.0'(P)

AutoCAD SHX Text
52.0'(P)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD LINE PER FEMA MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-51

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-52

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-53

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-54

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-55

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-56

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-57

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-58

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-59

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-60

AutoCAD SHX Text
W1-61

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTERLY R/W LINE

kennbates
FL Seal



1784 CAPITAL HOLDINGS – PALM COAST STORAGE    
57 OLD KINGS ROAD, CITY OF PALM COAST FLORIDA  
TRAFFIC STATEMENT   

  1 
 

 

 

I. INTRODUCTION  

The total site/development area is approximately 11.87 acres, located at 57 Old Kings Road North, within 
the City of Palm Coast.  The proposed site plan includes construction of a two story self-storage facility 
with covered RV parking.  The gross floor area is 91,143 square feet for self-storage and 80,333 square feet 
for covered RV parking.  Please see proposed trip generation rates below.   

TRIP GENERATION   

USE Quantity ADT Unit of 
Measurement 

Total 
ADT 

Peak PM 
(Rate) 

Peak PM 

Proposed        
Mini-warehouse (151) 171,476  1.51 Per 1,000 s.f. 258.9 0.20 34.29 

       
Total Generated    258.9  34.29 

 
* ITE Trip Generation Rates: ITE 10th Edition 
 

J. Wesley Mills, P.E. 

 

 

Florida Registration No. 74145 

 

 

 

700 22nd Place, Suite 2C 
Vero Beach, Florida 32960 
772.226.7282 
 

10/13/2023 03:07 pm IP:[10.10.250.10] Packet No: 91396

122

wesley
Snapshot



  

 

 

 

Environmental Assessment 
 

For the 

 

57 Old Kings Road Property 
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida 

 
 

 

 

 

Prepared By: 

Atlantic Ecological Services, LLC 

Attention: Jody Sisk 

201 Basque Road 

St. Augustine, FL 32080 

jody@atlanticeco.com 

(904) 347-9133 

 

 

 

 

Prepared For: 

1784 Capital Holdings, LLC 

c/o Kelly McKone 

877 N Gainey Center Dr #191 

Scottsdale, AZ 85258 

 

 

 

 

 

March 2023 

10/13/2023 03:06 pm IP:[10.10.250.10] Packet No: 91396

123



Table of Contents 

            Page 

            
1.0 PROJECT INTRODUCTION        1 

 
2.0 EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS       1 

 
 2.1 Uplands          1 

 2.2 Wetlands          2 

    

3.0 SOILS           2 

 

4.0 WETLANDS AND SURFACE WATERS      3 

 

4.1 Methods and Jurisdiction       3 

4.2 Wetland Impacts & Mitigation       3 

 

5.0 WILDLIFE OBSERVATIONS        3 

 

6.0 PROTECTED SPECIES        4 

 

6.1 Protected Wildlife Species       4 

6.2 Protected Plant Species        5 

  

7.0 CULTURAL RESOURCES        6 

 

8.0 SUMMARY          6 

 

Technical Literature References        7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

i. 

 
124



 

 

 

Appendices 

 
 

 

Appendix I - Figures 
 

• Location Map 

• Aerial Map 

• Topographic Map 

• Soils Map 

• Habitat Map 

• Wetland Map 

• Wetland Impact Map 

 

Appendix II – UMAM  

 

• UMAM Worksheets 

 

Appendix III – Cultural Resource  

 

• DHR Letter 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ii. 125



 

57 Old Kings Road North  
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida 
March 2023 Page 1 
  

1.0 PROJECT INTRODUCTION 

 

The 57 Old Kinds Road property is located within the City of Palm Coast, Flagler County, 

Florida, in Sections 12 Township 11 South, Range 30 East. The project area is 

approximately 11.88 acres in total size and consists of Flagler County Parcel ID # 01-11-

30-4921-00000-0010. The subject property is located north of the Palm Coast Elks Lodge, 

east of Interstate 95, south of the First A.M.E. Church of Palm Coast, and west of Old 

Kings Road North. Please see the attached Location Map and Aerial Map within Appendix 

I for details.  The latitude and longitude coordinates for the approximate center of the 

project are 29° 34' 5.49" North and 81° 13' 36.04” West.  

 

The owner/applicant for the project is: 

 Kelly McKone 

1784 Capital Holdings, LLC 

87778 N Gainey Center Dr #191 

Scottsdale, AZ 85258 

 

Atlantic Ecological Services (AES) conducted an Environmental Assessment (EA) on the 

57 Old Kings Road property (herein referred to as the subject property). The subject 

property was reviewed to determine habitat type’s present, boundaries of habitat types, 

presence of or the potential for protected species, wildlife utilization of the site and other 

environmental constraints noted during the site visits.  The site visits were completed on 

September 27, 2022 and January 13, 2023. This EA report discusses the methods used to 

conduct the EA, the results thereof and includes several supplementary figures.  

 

Mr. Jody Sisk of AES performed the wetland and protected species review on the subject 

property.  Mr. Sisk currently holds certifications from the City of Palm Coast as a Qualified 

Environmental Professional, including Gopher Tortoise Agent (#19567), Wetlands 

(#19568), and Listed Species (#19569). 

 

2.0 EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS 

 

The subject property consists of forested upland and wetlands. The communities and land 

use areas were categorized according to the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) 

(1991) Florida Land Use, Cover and Forms Classification System (FLUCFCS). The 

communities and land uses observed and delineated on the subject property are described 

in detail below and are shown on the attached Habitat Map.  

 

2.1 Uplands 

 

Pine Mesic Oak (FLUCCS 414) – Forested uplands within the subject property consist of 

a closed canopy pine-mesic oak habitat. The dominate tree species found include longleaf 

pine (Pinus palustris), slash pine (Pinus elliottii), sand pine (Pinus clausa), live oak 

(Quercus virginiana), laurel oak (Quercus laurifolia), water oak (Quercus nigra), and 

126



 

57 Old Kings Road North  
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida 
March 2023 Page 2 
  

loblolly bay (Gordonia lasianthus).  The sub-canopy is comprised of species such as saw 

palmetto (Serona repens), myrtle oak (Quercus myrtifolia), gallberry (Ilex glabra), and 

fetterbush (Lynonia lucida), highbush blueberry (Vaccinium corymbosum), bracken fern 

(Pteridium aquilinum). 

 

2.2 Wetlands 

 

Wetland Mixed Forest (FLUCCS 630) – A forested wetland is located through the central 

portion of the property and extends offsite to the north and south, and eventually connects 

to the north into Mulberry Branch. Vegetation within the wetland consists of red maple 

(Acer rubrum), slash pine, laurel oak, bald cypress (Taxodium distichum), loblolly bay, 

swamp tupelo (Nyssa sylvatica var. biflora) and Virginia chain fern (Woodwardia 

virginica).  

 

3.0 SOILS 

 

A discussion of each soil type present on the subject property is documented below.  Please 

see the attached Soils Map within Appendix I for the location of each soil type. 

 

Immokalee fine sand (13) – This is a poorly drained, nearly level soil on broad flats and 

low knolls in the flatwoods.  Areas in this soil range from 5 to 400 acres.  The seasonal 

high-water table is at a depth of less than 10 inches for 2 months of the year.  It is at a depth 

of 10 to 40 inches for more than 8 months of the year, and it recedes to a depth of more 

than 40 inches during extended dry periods.   

 

Pomello Fine Sand (15) – This very deep, nearly level to gently sloping, moderately well 

drained soil is on low ridges and knolls on the flatwoods and coastal ridge.  They range 

from 5 to 400 acres in size. The seasonal high-water table is at a depth of 24 to 42 inches 

for 1 to 4 months, then deeper the remainder of the year. 

 

Samsula and Placid soils, frequently flooded (24) – This is a very poorly drained, nearly 

level soil on flood plains and in broad, shallow drainage ways. Areas of this soil range from 

5 to 60 acres. This soil is subject to flooding for 1 to 3months during the rainy season. The 

water table is at a depth of less than 10 inches for more than 6 months during most years. 

 

Cassia fine sand (27) – This very deep, nearly level, somewhat poorly drained soil is on 

low ridges and knolls on the flatwoods. They range from 4 to 150 acres. The seasonal high-

water table is at a depth of 18 to 42 inches for about 6 months. It can recede to depth more 

than 42 inches during prolonged dry periods. 

 

 

 

 

 

127



 

57 Old Kings Road North  
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida 
March 2023 Page 3 
  

4.0 WETLANDS AND SURFACE WATERS 

 

4.1 Methods and Jurisdiction 

 

Criteria used to determine the presence of the boundaries of wetlands and surface waters 

were in accordance with Chapter 62-340 F.A.C. Wetlands boundaries were delineated in 

the field on January 13, 2023.  Approximately 2.57 acres of wetlands are located on the 

subject property. 

 

Wetlands within the subject property are jurisdictional to the St. Johns River Water 

Management District (SJRWMD), Florida Department of Environmental Protection 

(FDEP) State 404, and City of Palm Coast.   

 

Based on preliminary desktop and field review, the wetland areas maintain a direct 

connection to Mulberry Branch north of the property. Since the wetland maintains a direct 

hydrologic connection to navigable waters it is likely to be considered a Jurisdictional 

Water of the U.S. An Approved Jurisdictional Determination with the FDEP 404 will be 

required to confirm jurisdiction.  

 

4.2 Wetland Impacts and Mitigation 

 

Wetlands within the subject property consisted of forested areas associated directly 

connected to Mulberry Branch. The project as currently proposed will cause approximately 

1.40 acres of direct wetland impacts and 1.10 acres of secondary wetland impacts.  An 

initial UMAM assessment was completed for wetland quality. UMAM Worksheets 1 and 

2 are attached within Appendix II. Based on the acreage of wetland impact, the project as 

proposed will cause a functional loss of 1.05. 

 

The subject property is located within the Matanzas River & Pellicer Creek Basin – Basin 

9.  The applicant proposes to purchase 1.05 UMAM freshwater forested credits from the 

Fish Tail Swamp Mitigation Bank to offset the functional loss of wetlands. 

 

5.0 WILDLIFE OBSERVATIONS 

 

Wildlife observations, both direct and indirect, were made throughout the course of the site 

investigation.  A list of species observed is provided in the following table:  

 

128



 

57 Old Kings Road North  
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida 
March 2023 Page 4 
  

Table 5.1 Wildlife species observed on the subject project area in Palm Coast, Flagler County, 

Florida. 

Taxon Common Name Scientific Name Protected*  

 

Birds 

 

 

 

Mourning dove 

Northern mockingbird 

Northern cardinal 

 

 

Zenaida macroura 

Mimus polyglottos 

Cardinalis cardinalis 

 

 

No 

No 

No 

 

Mammals 

 

 

Nine-banded armadillo 

 

 

Dasypus novemcinctus 

 

 

 

No 

 

    

  

6.0  PROTECTED SPECIES 

 

Prior to visiting the site, a background literature search was conducted to compile a list of 

state and federally protected animal and plant species that could occur on the subject 

property. The primary sources of literature reviewed include the Florida Natural Areas 

Inventory Biodiversity Matrix and the United States Fish and Wildlife Service Information, 

Planning, and Consultation System (IPAC). During the site reconnaissance, observations 

or evidence of protected species and the likelihood of occurrence of each protected species 

were noted.  Further review was completed following the habitat mapping and descriptions. 

 

6.1 Protected Wildlife Species 

 

The protected animal species with at least some likelihood of occurrence are listed in Table 

6.1.1, below. The likelihood of occurrence of each species is noted in the table and those 

species with at least a moderate likelihood of occurrence are discussed following the table.  

 
Table 6.1.1: Protected wildlife species with the potential to occur on the subject property, in Palm Coast, 

Flagler County, Florida. 

 
Common 

Name 

Agency Listing Likelihood 

of 

Occurrence 

 

Species Name 
FWC FWS/NMFS 

Habitat 

Drymarchon corais 

couperi 

Eastern 

indigo snake 

T T Low Wide variety of habitats 

Gopherus 

Polyphemus 

Gopher 

tortoise 

T 

 

CS Low 

 

 

Sandhills, scrub, 

hammocks, dry prairies, 

flatwoods, & ruderal 

 

A preliminary gopher tortoise (Gopherus polyphemus) burrow survey was conducted on 

the subject property on September 27, 2022 and January 13, 2023. The gopher tortoise 

survey was conducted in accordance with the techniques outlined in the publication, 

Ecology and Habitat Protection Needs of Gopher Tortoise (Gopherus polyphemus) 

Populations Found on Lands Slated for Development in Florida.  The gopher tortoise, 

listed as Threatened by the FWC, is a key component in the determination of habitat 

suitability for other protected species because of the large number of other animals that 

129



 

57 Old Kings Road North  
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida 
March 2023 Page 5 
  

will use tortoise burrows for one or more of their life requisites.  The survey covering ~50% 

of the upland habitat found no potentially occupied gopher tortoise burrows. Prior to 

construction an updated 100% gopher tortoise survey of upland areas onsite will be 

required.  If potentially occupied gopher tortoise burrows are identified then FWC 

permitting and relocation of gopher tortoises to a permitted recipient site will be required. 

 

The presence of the eastern indigo snake is unlikely due to the proximity to lack of high-

quality upland or wetland habitats, and the lack of gopher tortoise burrows within the 

property.  

 

The FWC’s Eagle Nest Locator website was queried for data regarding documented 

southern bald eagle (Haliaeetus l. leucocephalus) nests in the project vicinity. The southern 

bald eagle is protected under the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA). 

Development guidelines are required for any proposed projects with 330 feet for urban 

areas and 660 feet for non-urban areas.  Two known bald eagle nests are both located 

approximately 2.8 miles southeast of the subject property.  Therefore, this project is not 

likely to adversely affect the southern bald eagle.   

 

No other protected species are anticipated to utilize the subject property. 

 

6.2 Protected Plant Species 

 

The protected plant species with some potential to occur on the subject property are listed 

in Table 6.2.1, below.  

 
Table 6.2.1: Protected plant species with the potential to occur on the subject property, in Palm Coast, 

Flagler County, Florida. 

Species Name Common Name Agency Listing 

Likelihood 

of Habitat 

  FDACS FWS Occurrence  

Calopogon 

multiflorus 

Many-flowered 

grass pink 

E  Low Pine flatwoods, esp. recently 

burned 

Centrosema 

arenicola 

Sand butterfly pea E  Low pine flatwoods, sandhills, 

coastal strands and interdunal 

swales 

Helianthus 

carnosus 

Lakeside sunflower E  Low Wet flatwoods 

Lechea cernua Nodding pineweed E  Low dry sandy areas, sand pine 

scrub, scrub, dunes and sandy 

ridges 

Nemastylis 

floridana 

Fall-flowering ixia; 

celestial lily 

E  Low Swamps, marshes and wet 

pine flatwoods 

Nolina 

atopocarpa 

Florida beargrass T  Low grassy areas of mesic and wet 

flatwoods 

Pteroglossaspis 

ecristata 

Giant orchid T  Low Sandhill, scrub, pine 

flatwoods, pine rocklands 

      

E= Endangered; T= Threatened; CE= Commercially Exploited 

130



 

57 Old Kings Road North  
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida 
March 2023 Page 6 
  

 

No federally protected plant species are expected to occur on the subject property. 

 

7.0 CULTURAL RESOURCES  

 

The subject property was reviewed in the past by the Florida State Historic Preservation 

Office for potential of cultural resources onsite as part of a SJRWMD permit application 

by the First A.M.E. Church of Palm Coast. No known archaeological sites or resource 

groups were identified on or adjacent to the property by DHR. No impacts to cultural 

resources are anticipated due to development of the property.  Please see the attached 

correspondence found within Appendix III. 

 

8.0 SUMMARY 

 

The 57 Old Kings Road North property is located within the City of Palm Coast, Flagler 

County, Florida.  The parcel is approximately 11.88 acres in size and includes 

approximately 2.57 acres of wetlands. The project as currently proposed will cause 

approximately 1.40 acres of direct wetland impacts and 1.10 acres of secondary wetland 

impacts.  The applicant proposes to purchase 1.05 UMAM freshwater forested credits from 

the Fish Tail Swamp Mitigation Bank to offset the functional loss of wetlands. 

 

The subject property contains potential suitable habitat for the gopher tortoise. A 

preliminary gopher tortoise burrow was completed on September 27, 2022 and January 13, 

2023, and no potentially occupied gopher tortoise burrows were identified. Prior to 

construction an updated 100% gopher tortoise survey of upland areas onsite will be 

required.  If potentially occupied gopher tortoise burrows are identified then FWC 

permitting and relocation of gopher tortoises to a permitted recipient site will be required. 

 

No other protected fauna species are anticipated within the project area.  No federally 

protected flora species are anticipated on the subject property.   

 

No impacts to cultural resources are anticipated due to development of the property. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

131



 

57 Old Kings Road North  
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida 
March 2023 Page 7 
  

Technical Literature References 

 

Chafin, L.G. 2000. Field Guide to the Rare Animals of Florida. Florida Natural 

Areas Inventory, Tallahassee, Florida. 

 

Coile, Nancy C. 1998. Notes of Florida’s Endangered and Threatened Plants. 

(Rule 5B-40 Florida’s Regulated Plant Index), Botany Contribution 38, 2nd Ed. Florida 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, Division of Plant Industry, Gaineville, 

Florida. 119 pp.  

 

Cox, Jeffrey. A. 1987 Status and Distribution of the Florida Scrub-Jay. Florida 

Ornithological Society. Special Publication No. 3, Gainesville, Florida 110 pp. 

 

Cox, James, D. Inkley, R. Kautz. 1987. Ecology and Habitat Protection Needs of 

Gopher Tortoise (Gopherus polyphemus) Populations Found on Lands Slated for Large-

Scale Development in Florida. Florida Game and Freshwater Fish Commission, Nongame 

Wildlife Program. Technical Report No. 4. Tallahassee, Florida. 69 pp. 

 

Deyrup, Mark, Franz, Richard 1994.  Rare and Endangered Biota of Florida, 

Volume IV Invertebrates.  Special Committee on Invertebrates, Florida Committee on Rare 

and Endangered Plants and Animals. 

 

Division of Endangered Species. Threatened and Endangered Species System. Web 

Page Address: http://ecos.fws.gov/tess_public/TESSWebpage.  United States Fish and 

Wildlife Service, Denver, Colorado.  

 

Environmental Laboratory, Wetlands Research Program. 1987. Corps of Engineers 

Wetlands Delineation Manual. Technical Report Y-87-1. Department of the Army, 

Vicksburg, Mississippi.  

 

Florida Exotic Pest Plant Council.  2005.  List of Florida’s Invasive Species.  

Internet: http://www.fleppc.org/05list.htm.  Florida Exotic Pest Plant Council. 

 

Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission. 2004. Florida’s Endangered 

Species, Threatened Species, and Species of Special Concern. Web Page Address: 

http://www.wildflorida.org/imperiled/pdf/Endangered-Threatened-Special-Concern-

2004.pdf.  Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission. 

 

Gilbert, Carter R., 1992.  Rare and Endangered Biota of Florida, Volume II Fishes.  

Special Committee on Fishes, Florida Committee on Rare and Endangered Plants and 

Animals. 

 

Gilbert, K.M., J.D. Tobe, R.W. Cantrell, M.E. Sweeley, J.R. Cooper. 1995. The 

Florida Wetlands Delineation Manual. Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 

132



 

57 Old Kings Road North  
Palm Coast, Flagler County, Florida 
March 2023 Page 8 
  

South Florida Water Management District, St. Johns River Water Management District, 

Suwannee River Water Management District, Southwest Florida Water Management 

District, and Northwest Florida Water Management District. 198 pp. 

 

Hipes, D. D.R. Jackson, K. NeSmith, D. Printiss, K. Brandt. 2001. Field Guide to 

the Rare Animals of Florida. Florida Natural Areas Inventory, Tallahassee, Florida.  

 

Humphrey, Stephen R., 1992.  Rare and Endangered Biota of Florida, Volume I. 

Mammals.  Special Committee on Mammals, Florida Committee on Rare and Endangered 

Plants and Animals. 

 

Moler, Paul E., 1992.  Rare and Endangered Biota of Florida, Volume III 

Amphibians and Reptiles.  Special Committee on Amphibians and Reptiles Florida 

Committee on Rare and Endangered Plants and Animals. 

 

Natural Resource Conservation Service (Soil Conservation Service at time of 

publication). Circa 1977. Soil Survey of Flagler County, Florida. United States Department 

of Agriculture. 

 

Rogers, James A. Jr., Kale, Herbert W. III, Smith, Henry T. 1996.  Rare and 

Endangered Biota of Florida Volume V. Birds.  Special Committee on Birds Florida 

Committee on Rare and Endangered Plants and Animals. 

 

Surveying and Mapping Office, Thematic Mapping Section. Department of 

Transportation. 1999. Florida Land Use, Cover and Forms Classification System 3rd ed. 

State of Florida, Department of Administration. 81 pp. 

 

Wunderlin, Richard P. 1998. Guide to the Vascular Plants of Florida. University 

Press of Florida. 804 pp. 

 

Wunderlin, R. P., and B. F. Hansen. 2004. Atlas of Florida Vascular Plants 

(http://www.plantatlas.usf.edu/). [S. M. Landry and K. N. Campbell (application 

development), Florida Center for Community Design and Research.] Institute for 

Systematic Botany, University of South Florida, Tampa. 

 

 

133



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX I 

 

Figures 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

134



Location Map
57 Old Kings Rd Property

Flagler County, Florida0 3,0001,500
Feet E

Image Source: ESRI 2020
Date: 9-28-22

WWW.ATLANTICECO.COM
904-347-9133 | jody@atlanticeco.com

201 Basque Rd | St. Augustine, FL 32080

_̂

_̂

Latitude: 29° 34' 5.49"N
Longitude: 81° 13' 36.04"W
Section 12
Township 11 South
Range 30 East

135



Aerial Map
57 Old Kings Rd Property

Flagler County, Florida
Image Source: ESRI 2020
Date: 3-1-23

0 200100
Feet E

Project Boundary

WWW.ATLANTICECO.COM
904-347-9133 | jody@atlanticeco.com

201 Basque Rd | St. Augustine, FL 32080

Document Path: C:\Users\jorav\Desktop\GIS\Erdman-Palm Coast\mxd\aerial.mxd

136



Topographic Map
57 Old Kings Rd Property

Flagler County, Florida
Image Source: ESRI 2020
Date: 3-1-23

0 1,000500
Feet E

Project Boundary

WWW.ATLANTICECO.COM
904-347-9133 | jody@atlanticeco.com

201 Basque Rd | St. Augustine, FL 32080

Document Path: C:\Users\jorav\Desktop\GIS\Erdman-Palm Coast\mxd\topo.mxd

137



27

24
13

15

Soil Map
57 Old Kings Rd Property

Flagler County, Florida
Image Source: ESRI 2020
Date: 3-1-23

0 200100
Feet E

Project Boundary
Soil

13-Immokalee fine sand
15-Pomello fine sand, 0 to 5 percent slopes
24-Samsula and Placid soils, frequently flooded
27-Cassia fine sand

WWW.ATLANTICECO.COM
904-347-9133 | jody@atlanticeco.com

201 Basque Rd | St. Augustine, FL 32080

Document Path: C:\Users\jorav\Desktop\GIS\Erdman-Palm Coast\mxd\soil.mxd

138



Habitat Map
57 Old Kings Rd Property

Flagler County, Florida
Image Source: ESRI 2020
Date: 3-1-23

0 200100
Feet E

Project Boundary
Wetland - 2.57 ac.
414 - Pine Mesic Oak - 9.31 ac.

WWW.ATLANTICECO.COM
904-347-9133 | jody@atlanticeco.com

201 Basque Rd | St. Augustine, FL 32080

Document Path: C:\Users\jorav\Desktop\GIS\Erdman-Palm Coast\mxd\habitat.mxd

139



Wetland Map
57 Old Kings Rd Property

Flagler County, Florida
Image Source: ESRI 2020
Date: 1-15-23

0 200100
Feet E

Project Boundary
Wetland - 2.57 ac.

WWW.ATLANTICECO.COM
904-347-9133 | jody@atlanticeco.com

201 Basque Rd | St. Augustine, FL 32080

Document Path: C:\Users\jorav\Desktop\GIS\Erdman-Palm Coast\mxd\wetland gps.mxd

140



Conceptual Wetland Impact Map 
57 Old Kings Rd Property

Flagler County, Florida
Date: 3-2-23

0 200100
Feet E

Site Plan
Project Boundary
Direct Impact - 1.40 ac.
Secondary Impacts - 1.10 ac.
Wetland to Remain

WWW.ATLANTICECO.COM
904-347-9133 | jody@atlanticeco.com

201 Basque Rd | St. Augustine, FL 32080

Document Path: C:\Users\jorav\Desktop\GIS\Erdman-Palm Coast\mxd\wet GPS concept impact 3.2.23.mxd

141



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX II 

 

UMAM 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

142



Project: 57 Old Kings date onsite:
 Location and Water Community  Total Total Total Upland

Habitat Landscape Support Environment Structure Functional Impact Creation Enhancement Acres
Impacts type before after before after before after loss Acres Acres Provided Provided

2.5 0 0 0
W1 630 5 0 7 0 8 0 1.4 0.9333
Sec 630 5 4 7 6 8 7 1.1 0.1100 Total 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0000 Total Functional
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0000 Functional Gain
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0000 Loss Units
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0000 1.043 0.000

Mitigation Habitat Type Location and Water Community   Preservation Relative Functional
Landscape Support Environment Structure time risk Adjustment Functional Acres Gain

wetland w/o CE w/ CE w/o CE w/ CE w/o CE w/ CE lag factor Factor Gain Provided Units
preservation

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000

1 1.00 0.0000 0.0000
enhancement before after before after before after

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000

1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
uplands w/o CE w/ CE w/o CE w/ CE w/o CE w/ CE

0 0 x x x 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000
0 0 x x x 0 0 1 1.00 1 0.0000 0.0000

x x x 1 1.00 0.0000 0.0000
x x x 1 1.00 0.0000 0.0000

Acres

143



Site/Project Name Application Number Assessment Area Name or Number

Impact or Mitigation Site? Assessment Area Size

Assessment conducted by: Assessment date(s):

 PART I – Qualitative Description

Form 62-345.900(1), F.A.C.   [ effective date 02-04-2004 ]

J. Sisk 8/27/2022

not unique 

Additional relevant factors:

frogs, snakes, mosquito fish, raccoon, song birds none

mulberry branch 

Refugia for wildlife, water filtration and storage, nutrient cycling, water 
recharge 

none

Observed Evidence of Wildlife Utilization (List species directly observed, or other signs such as tracks, droppings, casings, nests, etc.): 

Anticipated Utilization by Listed Species (List species, their legal 
classification (E, T, SSC), type of use, and intensity of use of the 
assessment area)

Anticipated Wildlife Utilization Based on Literature Review (List of species 
that are representative of the assessment area and reasonably expected to 
be found )

(See Section 62-345.400, F.A.C.)

Pellicer Creek & Matanzas River Class III

Special Classification (i.e.OFW, AP, other local/state/federal designation of importance)Affected Waterbody (Class)Basin/Watershed Name/Number

57 Old Kings Rd

 FLUCCs code

630

630 Impact  

Further classification (optional)

Geographic relationship to and hydrologic connection with wetlands, other surface water, uplands

Functions Mitigation for previous permit/other historic use

Significant nearby features

Assessment area description

This system resembles deep slough wetlands with cypress and tupelo. 

 Uniqueness  (considering the relative rarity in relation to the regional 
landscape.)

This system has a direct connection to mulberry branch to the north. 

144



w/o pres or
current

w/o pres or
current

w/o pres or
current

current
or w/o pres

Time lag (t-factor) = 

Risk factor = 

If mitigation

For impact assessment areas

For mitigation assessment areas

RFG = delta/(t-factor x risk) = 

If preservation as mitigation, 

FL = delta x acres = 0.67

8

Score = sum of above scores/30   (if 
uplands, divide by 20)

with

with

 .500(6)(c)Community structure

7

.500(6)(b)Water Environment         
(n/a for uplands)

1.  Vegetation and/or                                 
2. Benthic Community

.500(6)(a) Location and 
Landscape Support

with

This system is surrounded on all sides by heavy development. There is I-95 to the west, N Old Kings Rd to the east 
and commercial development to the north and south. There is only a small connection to mulberry branch to the 

north. 

Condition is insufficient to 
provide wetland/surface 

water functions

Condition is optimal and 
fully supports 

wetland/surface water 
functions

Condition is less than 
optimal, but sufficient to 

maintain most 
wetland/surface 
waterfunctions

Although the system is surrounded on all sides, there is still a connection to mulberry branch to the north.

The vegetation in this community still shows strong resesmblance of appropriate community. 

(See Sections 62-345.500 and .600, F.A.C.)

57 Old Kings Rd

Impact  J. Sisk

Site/Project Name Application Number Assessment Area Name or Number

Impact or Mitigation Assessment date:Assessment conducted by:

PART II  – Quantification of Assessment Area (impact or mitigation)

Form 62-345.900(2), F.A.C.  [effective date 02-04-2004]

0.666666667

Preservation adjustment factor = 

Adjusted mitigation delta = 

Delta = [with-current]

20

with

Minimal level of support of 
wetland/surface water 

functions

Optimal (10)

14

Not Present  (0)

8/27/2022

Moderate(7) Minimal (4)

630

Scoring Guidance
The scoring of each 

indicator is based on what 
would be suitable for the 

type of wetland or surface 
water assessed

5

145



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX III 

 

Cultural Resource 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

146



gu 
SJ RV 

_______________44E%4 

4v1AILC 
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT Of STATE 

RICK SCOTT 
Governor 

Mr. Victor Castro 
St. Johns River Water Management District 
P.O. Box 1429 
Palatka, Florida 32 178-1429 

Re: Projects Reviewed by the Florida State Historic Preservation Office 
No Historic Properties Likely Affected - See Page 2 

Dear Mr. Castro: 

VMD 

o 2012 

ENTER 

KEN DETZNER 
Secretary of State 

December 4, 2012 

Our office received and reviewed the referenced projects in accordance with Chapters 267 and 
373, Florida Statutes, Florida's Coastal Management Program, and implementing state 
regulations, for possible impact to historic properties listed, or eligible for listing, in the National 
Register of Historic Places, or otherwise of historical, architectural, or archaeological value. The 
State Historic Preservation Officer is to advise and assist state and federal agencies when 
identifying historic properties, assessing effects upon them, and considering alternatives to avoid 
or minimize adverse effects. 

Our review of the Florida Master Site File indicates that no significant archaeological or 
historical resources are recorded within the project areas. Furthermore, because of the location 
andlor nature of the projects it is unlikely that any such sites will be affected. 

For any questions concerning our comments, please contact Robin Jackson, Historic Sites 
Specialist, at 850.245.6333, or by electronic mail at robin.jackson@dos.myflorida.com. We 
appreciate your continued interest in protecting Florida's historic properties. 

Sincerely, 

Roendus,Direcr0 
Division of Historical Resources 
and State Historic Preservation Officer 

I 

DIVISION OF HISTORICAL RESOURCES 
R. A. Gray Building . 500 South Bronough Street  Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250 

Telephone: 850.245.6300  www.flheritage.com 

VIVA FLORIDA 500. 
Commemorating 500 years of Florida history www.fla500.com A 

VIVA FLORIDA 500. 147



Mr. Castro 
SJRWMD 
December 4, 2012 
Page 2 

DHR No. App. No. Project Name County 
2012-5380 40-127-68391-40 ERAU North Parking Lot Volusia 
2012-5382 40-109-87432-120 Greenleaf Village (fka Downs Creek at 

Nocatee 
St. Johns 

2012-5384 42-127-1322771 Keyes Lane Stormwater Drainage Volusia 
20 12-5386 42-031-132289-1 Freshfields Farm Meat & Produce Market, 

Phase I 
Duval 

2012-5389 4-009-80012-2 Lake Pointe Subdivision Brevard 
2012-539 1 4-031-132286-1 New Berlin Commercial Duval 
20 12-5392 40-035-39855-4 First A.M.E. Church of Palm Coast Flagler 

148


	0 AGENDA
	1 MEETING MINUTES OF THE JANUARY 17, 2024 PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD MEETING
	2 ORDINANCE 2024-XX RELATING TO SIGNS AND ADVERTISING BY AMENDING SECTION 3.01.06 USES NOT PERMITTED IN THE CITY, AMENDING CHAPTER 12 SIGNS AND ADVERISING AND AMENDING SECTION 14.02 GLOSSARY, OF THE UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE.
	3 THE PROMENADE AT TOWN CENTER TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 3 – APPLICATION # 5565
	4 OLD KINGS NORTH STORAGE FACILITY, TECHNICAL SITE PLAN - TIER 2, APPLICATION # 5566

		2024-01-17T10:24:32-0500
	James Mills
	I am approving this document




